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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests

of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published

audited financial statements is set out below:

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFBEHE

AEEBEZDBAVRFENRERE
= AEKIFERESME(EXEET
BZREGIHEHRREIIWT

RESULTS ES
For the year ended 3| December
BZNA3ALEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
HK$000  HK$000  HK$0O00  HK$000  HK$000
FHET T T T FHETT
Revenue WA 169,653 62,388 68,571 218,721 120,877
Loss for the year FANEE (35295)  (65,102)  (88319)  (41,566)  (34,534)
Loss attributable to: AT ZIBELEE -
Owners of the Company RARERA A (22,847)  (49.023)  (66,628)  (38804)  (11,862)
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR (12,448)  (16079)  (21,691) (2762)  (22672)
(35295)  (65,102)  (88319)  (41,566)  (34,534)
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS BE  SERFERER
As at 31 December
®I2A318
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
HK$000  HK$000  HKF0O00  HK$000  HK$000
FHET FHTT T T T
Total assets mEE 421,689 335,205 386,524 557,610 653,854
Total liabilities maE (269,845)  (145891)  (130917)  (194.877)  (244,608)
Net assets BERE 151,844 189314 255607 362733 409246
Attributable to: AT 2 IEE(L
Owners of the Company ZAN/NEIE PN 111,285 134,975 198,378 281,128 324,184
Non-controlling interests FEFE = 40,559 54,339 57,229 81,605 85,062
151,844 189,314 255607 362733 409246
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEERWR DT

The board of directors (the “Board” and the “Directors”) of Beijing Sports and
Entertainment Industry Group Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to present
the 2024 annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred as the “Group”) for the year

ended 31 December 2024 (“Current Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

During the Current Year, the Group recorded revenue of HK$169.7 million
as compared with HK$62.4 million for the year ended 3| December 2023
("Corresponding Year”), gross profit of HK$30.0 million as compared with
HK$13.1 million in Corresponding Year and net loss of HK$35.3 million as

compared with HK$65. | million in Corresponding Year.

Sports and Entertainment Business

The Group is principally engaged in the Sports and Entertainment Business.
MetaSpace (Beijing) Air Dome Corp.* (*MetaSpace”), a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, is a leading integrated service provider in the PRC
focusing on construction, operation and management of air-dome facilities. These
air domes can be widely applied in five major scopes: (i) sports, (i) commercial
and cultural tourism, (i) industrial and environmental protection, (iv) agricultural

warehousing, and (v) highland oxygen enrichment.

The Group has set up a world-leading dome manufacturing centre in Huzhou,
Zhejiang Province, with an annual processing capacity of over 5 million square
metres. The production team formulates customised manufacturing processes
according to customers’ demands and individual circumstances, factoring in
sophisticated control throughout the entire production in order to create an
efficient and safe environment for delivering dome with high stability and superb
quality while enabling swift installation without hampering the standard. On one
hand, through competitive negotiations and tenders, MetaSpace actively utilises
its own technical advantages and professional competences to provide customers

with comprehensive solutions. While establishing nationwide sales channels and

*  For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

diversifying its success cases, the company manages to increase market share, and
convinces customers to recognise and accept its products and services. On the
other hand, MetaSpace pursues market expansion through various professional
exhibitions such as sports expos and logistics expos, establishes the MetaSpace
brand within the industry, and enhances the market awareness of the dome
structure technology. Besides promoting MetaSpace'’s technical advantages
through professional exhibitions, forums, and other forms, the company enters
into collaboration with various partners on promoting the application of the
dome structure technology in target industries. Meanwhile, MetaSpace will

actively seek opportunities for its business expansion to other Asian countries.

In response to the five major areas mentioned above, in 2024 the PRC
government introduced a series of policies for the industry, which are highlighted

below:

(i)  Sports — In February 2024, the General Administration of Sport of China
issued the “Key Points of Mass Sports Work in 2024”, which aims to
solve the problem of “where for fitness”, and to improve the accessibility
and degree of balance of public services. In November 2024, the State
Council issued the "Guidelines to Promote Development of Ice, Snow
Economy through the High-Quality Development of Ice and Snow Sports”,
proposing that by 2027, ice and snow sports venues and facilities will be
more complete and winter sports will be more popular, and by 2030,
the role of the ice and snow economy in expanding employment and
promoting high-quality development will become more prominent, and
ice and snow consumption will become an important growth point for

expanding domestic demand.

At present, air dome structures have been widely used in badminton, table
tennis, basketball, tennis, swimming, ice and snow facilities. The air dome
structure can make full use of the scattered land in towns and villages,
replenishing the shortage of public fitness facilities in towns and villages.
This could also supplement the national fitness strategy in depth, and boost

people’s consumption in the field of sports.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWmRON

(ii)

Commercial and Cultural Tourism — In February 2024, the Ministry of
Culture and Tourism and other departments fixed the first batch of pilot
projects for the cultivation of smart and immersive touristic experience.
This pilot work is conducive to guiding the innovative development of
immersive touristic experience as well as unveiling new hotspots with
enriched content. Air domes are well suited to the needs of immersive
venues. The large span of net space makes it no longer difficult to create a
visual beauty full of aesthetics and light sensitivity, allowing visitors to have a

more all-rounded and technologically advanced amusement experience.

Industrial and Environmental Protection — In March 2024, the Ministry of
Industry and Information Technology and other departments issued the
first “Guiding Opinions on Accelerating the Promotion of Greening of the
Manufacturing Sector”” to guide the overall leap in green development in
the coming decade. In May 2024, the State Council issued the “Action
Programme on Energy Conservation and Carbon Reduction for 2024—
2025", which requires improving the regulation of the total amount and
intensity of energy consumption, focusing on controlling the consumption
of fossil energy, strengthening the management of carbon emission
intensity, doing a good job of energy conservation and carbon reduction,
and giving full play to the economic, social and ecological benefits of
energy conservation and carbon reduction to lay a solid foundation for the
realisation of the goal of carbon peak and carbon neutrality. The strong
self-adaptive ability of the air domes enables it to easily cope with complex
terrain without the need for a large amount of earthwork, reducing
construction costs and the carbon footprint of the construction process.
The characteristics of air domes such as low cost, high sealing, large span
and high altitude perfectly solve the problem of a confined dump (such as
coal mine material), on the one hand, avoiding the spread of pollutants at
source, and on the other hand, avoiding the waste of resources brought

about by open stacking.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Agricultural Warehousing — In January 2024, the State Council issued the
“Opinions on Learning and Applying the Experience of the “Thousand
Villages Demonstration and Ten Thousand Villages Improvement” Project
to Powerfully and Effectively Promote the Comprehensive Revitalisation
of Rural Areas”, with a view to ensuring national food security, strictly
implementing the protection system for important agricultural products
and arable land, and strengthening the construction of agricultural
infrastructures and enhancing the ability to adjust and regulate food and
important agricultural products. Air domes in the field of agriculture is
widely used, both as a smart planting base for agricultural products, and
as a storage for food preservation, and a transit station for the transport
of fresh and live agricultural products. MetaSpace had constructed air-
dome facilities for mushrooms and grain products; these energy-saving and
efficient domes could help revitalisation of the countryside, assisting farmers

to get rid of poverty.

Highland Oxygen Enrichment — “The Work Report of the People's
Government of the Tibet Autonomous Region for the Year 2024”
proposes support for grassroots heating operation, high-altitude oxygen
supply, optimisation of the dietary structure of the masses, and forest
insurance pilots. Air dome is good in heat preservation, and its high
tightness minimises air loss and maximises oxygen utilisation. By supplying
oxygen in a large-space by means of diffusion, the inner altitude equivalence
in air-dome could be reduced, and when supplemented by systems in
controlling temperature and humidity, a non-destructive work can be

achieved on the highland.

(iv)

\0)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEERWR DT

During the Current Year, MetaSpace recorded a great increase in revenue as the
construction and delivery of projects were gradually resuming to a standard level
post pandemic-period. With its technical competence advanced, the functionality
of air-dome was improving and its diversified application substantially matched
the changing market needs. Consequently MetaSpace had secured new contracts
amounting to approximately RMB206 million. With substantial new contracts in
the pipeline, the management is cautiously optimistic about the performance in

coming years.

Money Lending Business

The Group runs the Money Lending Business and provides lending to third party
customers through an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary. During the Current
Year, the Group's lending business contributed interest income of HK$3.|
million (Corresponding Year: HK$2.2 million). As at 31 December 2024, there
were four (2023: four) active loan accounts, gross loan balances of which were
HK$27.0 million (2023: HK$26.0 million). The tenors of the loans were |2
months (2023: ranged from |2 to 24 months). The weighted average interest
rate of the outstanding loans as of 31 December 2024 was 10.9% (2023: 12.0%).

Adhering to a robust risk management and control policies and balancing the
liquidity needs of the Group, the Group will remain diligent to allocate internal

capital to potential credible projects to generate a stable retumn.

Other Businesses

On top of the businesses above-mentioned, the management always strive to
look for potential ventures in the market, with a hope to maximise shareholders’
interest while optimising the Group’s resources. One of the ventures the Group
had undertaken was a business engaged in manufacturing and sale of white
pigment powder (“WPP Business™) in 2022. Yet since establishment and up
to the Current Year, its performance had not been as flourishing as expected.
Besides, the Group has been exploring and attempting potential projects but
as of 31 December 2024 the scale and profitability of those were relatively

insignificant and uncertain.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and Gross Profit

In Current Year, the Group's revenue, predominately contributed from the
Sports and Entertainment Business, was HK$169.7 million, strongly improved
from that of HK$62.4 million in the Corresponding Year. Gross margin was

17.7%, dropped from 21.0% of last year.

Other Income and Gains or Losses
In Current Year, the Group had other income of HK$10.0 million (Corresponding
Year: HK$8.6 million). Other income mainly included interest income, investment

income and rental income.

Meanwhile, the Group recorded other gains of HK$5.8 million (Corresponding
Year: HK$4.5 million). Other gains or losses represented incidental gains or
losses arising upon derecognition of assets (including financial assets, investments
in subsidiaries or associate, property, plant and equipment) as well as fair value
changes in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Please refer to Note

5 to the financial statements.

Selling and Distribution Expenses
Selling and distribution expenses were largely the employee benefit expenses
incurred by marketing department, and the miscellaneous expenditures involved

in exhibitions or public events for the Sports and Entertainment Business.

Administrative Expenses
Administrative expenses in the Current Year mainly composed of employee
benefit expenses of HK$18.3 million, research and development cost of HK$12.6

million, as well as depreciation and amortisation charge of HK$5.9 million.

The increase in administrative expenses was driven by the larger research and

development cost incurred.

Impairment of Financial and Contract Assets
Impairment losses on financial and contract assets represented the net changes
in the provision for expected credit loss made for debt investments, trade

receivables and contract assets. Please refer to Note 6 to the financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEERWR DT

Other Expenses and Losses

Other expenses and losses of Current Year were mainly impairment losses on
inventories in the ordinary course of business, while that of Corresponding Year
were mainly impairment losses recognised on the WPP Business, whereas the
assets, categorised by property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and

inventories, were written down to the estimated recoverable amounts.

Finance Costs
Finance costs were HK$ 1.7 million in Current Year (Corresponding Year: HK$ 1.7

million), being interest on borrowings and interest on lease liabilities.

Net Loss after Taxation

The Group recorded a net loss of HK$35.3 million in the Current Year, which
was HK$29.8 million reduced from last year. The reduction in the extent of
loss in Current Year was driven by the business growth in the Sports and

Entertainment Business as well as the smaller impairment losses provided.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND
DISPOSAL

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material

acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

FINANCIAL POSITION

Debt Investments at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income represents
corporate bonds purchased by the Group. These corporate bonds are measured
at fair value as determined by reference to the quoted bid prices at the reporting

date in the over-the-counter markets.

The Group’s strategy is to hold these corporate bonds for long term purpose
to earn an attractive yield. Nevertheless, the Group does not preclude the
possibility of disposing some corporate bonds before maturity if such disposal
will be in the best interest of the Company in light of various factors such as the
prospect of bond issuers and their industries, any favorable perks to early redeem

and immediate liquidity needs for operations or better investments.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENmE DN

In Current Year, investment income from bonds was HK$1.5 million REEEHFREBARISBEEBT(E
(Corresponding Year: HK$1.5 million). Besides, a fair-value gain of HK$0.4 million 4 : | SE&EIT) © o » ARERZR04
(Corresponding Year: fair-value loss of HK$6.8 million) was recognised in the BEBT(EF  AAEEBEEEB
equity, while an impairment loss of HK$0.2 million (Corresponding Year: HK$9.3 TO) R ERER - MEVERIE2BEBTT
million) was recognised in the profit or loss. (EF : 93BEBIT)NIBRER -

As at 3|1 December 2024
72024128318

Percentage of
market value

Face value of to the Group’s
Stock code Bond issuer bonds held Market value total assets
mEGEREE
AN HEEN
R BEHBTA ESEE miE BOL
Usb'000 HK$'000
TET TBTT
3333 China Evergrande Group
PEEXEE
(a) 8.25%, due 2022 500
(a) 8.25% * 2022 EI| 3
(b) 7.5%, due 2023 500
(b) 7.5% * 2023 EI|HA
1,000 133 0.03%
618 Nuoxi Capital Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of 375 209 0.03%
Peking University Founder Group Co., Ltd.
(5.35%, due 2023)
HRERNBRAF AT EEEERAGZEE
PR (5.35% » 2023 F/H))
2777 Easy Tactic Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of 453 133 0.03%

Guangzhou R&F Properties Co., Ltd.
(6.5% in cash/7.5% with payment-in-kind,
due 2025)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

=424
BEEWNR DM
As at 31 December 2024
R20245F12A31H
Percentage of
market value
Face value of to the Group’s
Stock code Bond issuer bonds held Market value total assets
mEAFEE
FEH HEEMN
BRAD SR BHBITA ESEE WA Bt
UusD'000 HK$'000
TET FET
107 Modern Land (China) Co., Ltd.
EREX(PE)ARAT
(@) 7% in cash/9% with payment-in-kind, due 2024 403
@UURIRE7%, AEMIIFRI% 20245 5| H7
(b) 9% in cash/| 19% with payment-in-kind, due 2027 228
(0)AIRE 9%, ABWIIIFK 1% » 20275 5 Ef
631 |7 0.00%
3383 Agile Group Holdings Ltd. (8.375%, perpetual) 500 156 0.04%
AR SR BB BR A 7] (8.375% » 5KA)
1777 Fantasia Holdings Group Co., Ltd. (1 1.75%, due 2022) 340 66 0.02%
TEREFEREBAR AR (11.75% » 20225 5157)
1638 Kaisa Group Holdings Ltd. (1 1.25%, due 2022) 348 159 0.04%
EREEEEBRER AT (11.25% » 2022F 5 H)
1668 China South City Holdings Ltd.
ERBIERAR QA
(a) 9%, due 2024 408
(a) 9% * 2024 FI|HA
(b) 9%, due 2024 413
(b) 9% * 20244F EI| HA
(c) 9%, due 2024 415
(c) 9% + 2024F 5| Hf
1,236 2,650 0.63%

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENmE DN

As at 3|1 December 2024

20245128318

Face value of

Percentage of
market value
to the Group’s

Stock code Bond issuer bonds held Market value total assets
mEAFEE
AN HEEMN
BRAD SR BEHEBTA ESEE miE Bk
usD’000 HK$'000
TET THBTT
600606 Greenland Global Investment Ltd,, a wholly-owned 190 279 0.07%
subsidiary of Greenland Holdings Corp. Ltd.
(5.9%, due 2029)
U EHRIRERRAR] - SHEREBROEBRA
Az 2ENBRE(5.9%  2029FFH)
17 New World Development Co. Ltd. (5.25%, perpetual) 800 2,736 0.65%
it RERER AT (525% » KA)
N/A Qinghai Provincial Investment Group Co., Ltd. 371 29 0.01%
(6.4%, due 2021)
TER BEREREEBEBR AR (64% » 2021 F5|H)
N/A Tianjin State-owned Capital Investment and Management 504 2,955 0.70%
Co,, Ltd. (0.15%, due 2026)
il REEFERREBBLBRAF(0.15% - 20265FEIH)
6,748 9,522 2.26%

EtREEXEXEEGRAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEERWR DT

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss held by the Group included

both listed equity investment and unlisted equity investment.

The listed equity investments represented securities listed in Hong Kong
Stock Exchange and Shenzhen Stock Exchange, while the unlisted equity
investment represented an equity interest in a private company engaged in the

pharmaceutical industry in the PRC.

During the Current Year, investment income from financial assets at FVPL
recognised in profit or loss amounted to HK$0.4 million (Corresponding Year:
HK$0.6 million).

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2024, the Group is in a net cash position of HK$25.3 million
(2023: HK$62.9 million), with cash and bank balances of HK$75.5 million (2023:
HK$87.0 million) and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of HK$50.2
million (2023: HK$24.1 million).

The Group’s net cash outflow from operating activities for the Current Year

amounted to HK$27.8 million (Corresponding Year: HK$3.4 million).

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENmE DN

The following table sets forth certain of the key financial ratios:

TEREFIETEEMHHE -

3| December 2024

31 December 2023

2024%F 128318 202312 A31 B
Liquidity ratios REBESL=E
Current ratio®” MBYLEL RO .18 | 55
Quick ratio® RELEL RO 0.97 .40
Capital adequacy ratios EXFZER
Gearing ratio® BERBELLLEO 0.33 0.13
Debt to total assets ratio® B EELL RO 0.12 0.07
Notes: 5T

(1) Current assets divided by current liabilities
(2)  Current assets less inventories divided by current liabilities
3) Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings divided by total equity

(4)  Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings divided by total assets

Capital Expenditure

The Group's capital expenditure was HK$2.4 million (Corresponding Year:
HK$2.1 million), representing additions to property, plant and equipment of the
Group.

Capital Commitments
As at 3| December 2024, the Group did not have significant capital

commitments (2023 nil).

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liability (2023: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEERWR DT

Charges on Assets

As at 31 December 2024, except for the charge over the buildings and right-
of-use assets with the carrying value of HK$47.8 million and HK$18.8 million
respectively for securing the Group's interest-bearing bank borrowings (2023:
the charge over the buildings and right-of-use assets with the carrying value of
HK$50.5 million and HK$19.7 million respectively), the Group did not have any

charges on assets.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere on this report, the Group did not have any significant

events after the reporting period.

POSSIBLE RISK EXPOSURE
Credit Risk

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk with exposure spread
over a large number of counterparties and customers. The carrying amounts
of bank balances, trade receivables, contract assets, debt investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income and other receivables represent
the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets. The
Group will adhere to a robust credit approval procedure when granting credits to
new customers of Sports and Entertainment Business. The Group also regularly
reviews and monitors the level of exposure and credibility of counterparties
to ensure that prompt follow-up actions are taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, at the end of each reporting year, the recoverability of each trade
debt is evaluated so as to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the Directors are of the view that the

Group's credit risk is properly addressed.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks

with high credit-ratings.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Liquidity Risk

The Group is exposed to minimal liquidity risk as a substantial portion of its
financial assets and financial liabilities are due within one year. With sufficient
excess of current assets over current liabilities, it can finance its operations from

existing shareholders’ funds and internally generated cash flows.

For the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of bank balances
and cash deemed adequate to finance the Group'’s operations and mitigate the
effect of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group monitors current and expected

liquidity requirements on a regular basis.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk, primarily with respect to
Renminbi and United States dollar. Foreign exchange risk arises from future
commercial transactions, as well as recognised assets and liabilities. The Group's
exposure to foreign exchange risks also related to bank balances denominated
in and debt investments denominated in United States Dollars (USD) in Hong
Kong. Given the fact that the Hong Kong Dollar is pegged to the USD under
the Linked Exchange Rate System, the fluctuation of the exchange rate of this
pair is not significant. The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of the
transactions settled in RMB and certain transactions with other Asian countries
denominated in USD. The Group may enter foreign currency forward contracts
which are aligned with the terms of receivables to mitigate the exposure. Overall,
management considers that the Group's businesses are not exposed to significant
foreign exchange risk as there are no significant financial assets or liabilities of the
Group are denominated in the currencies other than the respective functional

currencies of the Group’s entities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWmRON

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 128 (2023: 127) full-time employees

in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group reviews remuneration and benefits of
its employees annually according to the relevant market practice and individual

performance of the employees.

The emolument of each of the Directors and the employees of the Group
is determined on the basis of their merit, qualification, competence and
experience in the industry, the profitability of the Group as well as remuneration
benchmarks from other local and international companies and prevailing market
conditions. Directors and employees also participate in bonus arrangements
which are determined in accordance with the performance of the Group and the
individual's performance. In addition, the Company has adopted a share option

scheme as incentives to directors and eligible persons.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend to
shareholders for Current Year. The declaration, payment, and amount of future
dividends will be decided by the Board and will depend upon, among other
things, the Group's result of operations, capital requirements, cash flows, general

financial conditions, and such other factors as the Board may consider important.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors present the report and the audited consolidated financial

statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in the sports and entertainment related industry in the PRC with focus
in air dome construction, operation and management. Details of the Company'’s

principal subsidiaries are set out in Note | to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of these activities as required by Schedule 5 to the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) can be found
in the sections with headings of “Management Discussion and Analysis”, and
“Five-Year Financial Summary” set out on pages 6 to 20 and page 5 of this
Annual Report respectively. Description of the risks and uncertainties facing the

Company can be found throughout this Annual Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group believes that sustainable development is an integral part of our
business. We aim at creating long-term values for our stakeholders and
contributing to the society by carrying out our business in a socially responsible
way. The Group is committed to supporting the environmental sustainability and
comply with PRC national, provincial and municipal governments’ environmental
protection laws and regulations. The Company is also dedicated to promoting
energy conservation and responding proactively to climatic changes, so as to
facilitate efficient use of energy by taking several measures including constantly
carries out internal recycling measures in terms of its consumables (e.g. toner
cartridge and paper) and implementing energy-saving policies to reduce electricity
consumption, in order to lessen the impact on environment from operating

activities to achieve the target of sustainable development.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in
the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

on pages 70 to 71 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend to the

shareholders for the year 31 December 2024.

CLOSURES OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members will be closed from 6 June 2025 to |3 June 2025 (both
days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares will be registered.
In order to qualify for attending and voting at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to be held on I3 June 2025, all properly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, |7/F, Far East Finance Centre, |6 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 5 June 2025.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board of Directors and management are aware, the Group has
complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, there was no material breach of, or noncompliance,

with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and equipment during the

year are set out in Note |2 to the financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out on page 5 of this Annual Report. This summary does not

form part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share options during

the year are set out in Notes 27 and 28 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the year are set out in
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity on pages 74 to 75 of this Annual
Report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the accumulated loss of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$559.3 million (2023: HK$534.6 million). Under section 34
of the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium is
available for distribution to the shareholders subject to the provisions of the
articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”), and
no distribution may be paid to the shareholders out of the Company’s share
premium unless the Company shall be able to pay its debt as they fall due in the

ordinary course of business.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group's five largest customers accounted
for 43% of the total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer included
therein amounted to 12%. Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers

accounted for 43% of the total purchases for the year.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own more than 5%
of the Company's issued shares) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five

largest customers and suppliers.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer

new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SHARES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed shares,
including sale of treasury shares (the “Treasury Shares”) within the meaning
under the Listing Rules. As at 31 December 2024, the Company did not hold any

Treasury Shares.

Other than the share option schemes of the Company as disclosed below,
neither the Company nor its subsidiaries had issued or granted any convertible
securities, options, warrants or similar rights or exercised any rights in relation to
convertible securities, options, warrants or similar rights during the year ended 3|

December 2024.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had bank and other borrowings of amount
HK$50.2 million maturing within | to 2 years (2023: HK$24.1 million maturing

within | year).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any finance lease liability (2023:
nil).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Xue Heng (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lam Ka Tak

Mr. Hou Gongda

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Hu Yebi
Ms. Hu Yi Na (appointed on | July 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lok Lawrence Yuen Ming

Mr. Xin Luo Lin

Mr. Pan Lihui

Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith

In accordance with articles 86(3), 87(1) and 87(2) of the Articles of Association
and code provision B.2.2 of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix CI to the Listing Rules, Mr. Hu Yebi, Mr. Lok Lawrence
Yuen Ming and Mr. Xin Luo Lin shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual
general meeting ("AGM") of the Company. All of the above retiring Directors
are eligible and will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM of
the Company.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and considers all the Independent Non-executive Directors to be
independent.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Biographies of Directors of the Group are set out on pages 57 to 60 of this
Annual Report.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Changes in the information of the Directors required to be disclosed under
Rule 13.51B(I) of the Listing Rules since the publication of the 2023 annual
report of the Company up to the date of this annual report are as follows:

Mr. Hu Yebi was retired from the board of Gemdale Corporation as an
independent director after the term ended on 22 April 2024.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith was redesignated from the position of chief financial officer
to chief executive officer of China Technology Industry Group Limited (Stock
code: 81 11) on 30 December 2024.

Mr. Lam Ka Tak was appointed an independent non-executive director, the
chairman of the audit committee, and members of the remuneration committee
and the nomination committee of Jiangsu Horizon Chain Supermarket Company
Limited (Stock code: 2625) on 31 March 2025.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the Company’s
forthcoming annual general meeting has service contracts with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not terminable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general meetings;
other emoluments of the Directors are determined by the Board with reference
to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group as well as the recommendation of the remuneration committee.

Details of the Directors and chief executive's remuneration and the five highest
paid individuals in the Group are set out on Notes 8 and 9 to the financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, which subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year ended 3| December 2024.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart from the
Group's business, which competes or competed or is or was likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business at any time during the
year ended 31 December 2024 and up to and including the date of this Annual
Report.
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EEEHE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND SHORT EEBRIETHRAERKRS - HERKRS
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND REEZRP 2 EERAR
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests of the Directors and chief executive in R2024F 124318 EFEREFETHA
the shares of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning ERARANEEREE(EERIBHFL
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ™)), as recorded in HE GO #F REEMRE ) EXVED) 2
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the IR0 Hp B R SR AR R RIR IR 38 75 I HA
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange pursuant B &HIZE 3526 BFE < B iR b

to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as MR BIMTERCIFTE EThEIT AZEEHTT
set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”), are as follows: BHRRGZFETA(BEFA]AES
TG ARBI MBI P2 BRI
INTEREST IN THE SHARES OF THE COMPANY RAER TR G R
Number of

Number of  underlying shares

ordinary shares  held pursuant to Percentage of
Name of Directors Capacity and nature (Note (i) share options issued shares
RIBRE AR
ERREE FRZ HEBRTRG
EENS B RMEE (FRE(D)) HER G E B
Mr. Liu Xue Heng (Note (ii)) Beneficial owner - 9,680,000 0.69%
B 2218 S A (B RE(i)) BEmEA A
Mr. Hu Yebi Beneficial owner - 968,000 0.07%
EREFE EaEAA
Controlled corporation (note (iii)) 258,707,500 - 18.37%
SOV ) B (B 3 Gi))
Controlled corporation (note (iv)) 922,500 - 0.07%
AR (HEEWV)
Mr. Lam Ka Tak Beneficial owner - 290,500 0.02%
MEfBELE BEmEAA
Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith Beneficial owner - 968,000 0.07%
WXL HEmEAA
Mr. Lok Lawrence Yuen Ming Beneficial owner 295,000 - 0.02%
LERxEE HEmEA A

LRME T ERENERAT
“z-magry 21



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEERE

Number of

ordinary shares

Number of
underlying shares

held pursuant to Percentage of

Name of Directors Capacity and nature (Note (i) share options issued shares
RSB E

HERHE KEZ HERITRG
EEHE SHORMHE (B EE()) HERDEE Bott
Mr. Xin Luo Lin Beneficial owner - 968,000 0.07%
FRMELE EREAA
Mr. Pan Lihui Beneficial owner 347,600 - 0.02%
BB EREAA
Ms. Hu Yi Na Controlled corporation (note (iv)) 922,500 - 0.07%
AR+ SEHEE (FRE@V))
Notes: Mz -
(i) Interests in shares of the Company stated above represent long positions. 0} ERAARBEAD KRR R o

(ii) Mr. Liu Xue Heng is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and the Chairman of (in
the Board.

(i) 258,707,500 shares are held by Hollyview International Limited, which is wholly-owned (iii
by Mr. Hu Yebi. Mr. Hu is therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held by this
controlled company under the SFO.

(iv) 922,500 shares are held by Power Ace Investments Limited, which is equally held by Mr. (iv)
Hu Yebi and Ms. Hu Yi Na. Mr. Hu and Ms. Hu are therefore deemed to be interested in
the shares held by this controlled company under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors and chief executive had registered
an interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the

Company or any of its associated corporations that was required to be recorded

pursuant to section 352 of the SFO as at 31 December 2024 and up to the date -
7 M E 161 5 352 1R L SR E M B B AT

of this report.

BIPEAEER/RRFATRAHRESTSE
o

Hollyview International Limited # 4 258,707,500
Pty - Mz AARBAEEEE2EH
B o REBEEFRAE GG - B LR
BRIRZZEGRRSENBRO P AR

Eo

Power Ace Investments Limited ¥ & 922,500
A&AZ A - ek )R AR S 38 5t A I FA R A0
RERFRE—FIRE - BRIBESFRHEK
Bl - B A MR L UL R R RRIE
HIATRFAORND P EAER °

Br EXCRTIREREE SN - PA2024F 128318
FEEAREAE  EFENFTETHRA
B ENAR R K E AR EE K

MR D B RERE T A AR IEE

AR RAA o
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading "Directors and Chief Executive’s Interests
and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares and Debentures”, at no
time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debenture of the Company granted to any director or their
respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them;
or was the Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries and fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors of the Company

to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the "‘Share Option Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Further details of the

Scheme are disclosed in Note 28 to the financial statements.

Pursuant to the ordinary resolutions passed at an extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 18 June 2021, the Company approved the termination
of existing share option scheme (“Old Scheme”) and adoption of new share

option scheme (“New Scheme”).

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Board to grant
options to selected eligible persons including employee(s) and Directors as
incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential contribution to the
Group. The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not exceed 10% of the Shares in

issue on the date of approving the Share Option Scheme.

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of share
options granted and to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company to any employee(s) (including
cancelled, exercised and outstanding options), in any |2-month period up to the

date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue from time to time.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, the maximum number of ordinary shares in the
capital of the Company which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
share options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the total number of ordinary shares in the capital of the Company

in issue from time to time.

A share option granted under the Share Option Scheme is personal to the
grantee and shall not be assignable or transferable. Share options do not counter
rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings of the

Company.

As at 31 December 2024, there are 12,874,500 outstanding share options,
representing approximately 0.9% of the total number of shares in issue. On the
basis of 1,408,019,000 shares in issue as at 31 December 2024, and taking into
account the outstanding 12,874,500 share options granted under the Share
Option Scheme to subscribe for up to a total of 12,874,500 shares, the Company
may grant share options to eligible participants conferring on them right to
subscribe for a total of up to 127,927,400 shares representing approximately
9.09% of the total number of shares in issue as at 31 December 2024. Coupled
with the outstanding share options granted, the total is within the said limit of
30% of the total number of shares in issue from time to time as required under

the Share Option Scheme.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine but in any
event shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant. Save as determined by
the Board and provided in the offer of the grant of the relevant options, there is

no minimum holding period before an option is exercisable.
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An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within twenty-one days
inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The amount payable to our
Company on acceptance of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00. The
exercise price is to be determined by the Board provided always that it shall
be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of offer for the grant
of the option, which must be a trading day; and (i) the average closing price of
the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant, provided
that the exercise price shall in no event be less than the nominal amount of one

share.

The New Scheme will be expired on |7 June 2031 if not be terminated by
any general meeting earlier. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is

approximately 6 years at the report date.

The following table disclosures movements in the Company's share options

outstanding during the year:

EEERE

REBRENEZZVEANREE@RE
ZB(BEER) BT —HREMN-
REMRLBRENRZZR - ARARQ
AN EREI00BT - (TEEKRESE
BE  BR—UERTIEER TSR
=E ()R E A RERABRONIE
HEREERENEZER(ARRSH)
B TTE ¢ RGBT B RE KRR
BN EZEE L AR AEEEBNT
HIRTE - HITEREER DA AEFER
— R B EE °

T8I 2031 F6 A 178 Em(RRE
BEMKRRERAGRELIL) - RE@EH
Hy - BERIEET S 2 FISRFHIL ReF -

NRWBEARRRIF R H AT T B RE

Number of share options Exercise
RREHA price of
At Granted Exercised Forfeited At Date of grant of share options
Name or category of | January during the during the during the 31 December share options Exercise period of HK$ per share
participant 2024 year year year 2024 (Note (i)) share options (Note (ii))
RHBRE RRETHER
ROME  REFER  REFER REFER RAME  AH BRE BT
pHEASEEER |AIR R 11t R nA3E () TEHm (P& (i)
Directors:
S
Mr. Liu Xue Heng 9,680,000 - - - 9680000 8 Apni2016 8 Apri 2016 to 7 Aprl 2026 0.764
E]EEp 0I6F4A8R  0I6F4A8RE
02654A7H
Mr. Hu Yebi 968,000 - - - 968000 8 Apri2016 8 April 2016 to 7 April 2026 0.764
HHELE 0I6F4A8H  0I6F4AEE
2026F4A7H
Mr. Lam Ka Tak 290500 - - - 290500 8 Apri2016 8 April 2016 to 7 April 2026 0.764
MEREE 0I6F4A8R  0I6F4ABRE

20264 A7H
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Number of share options Exercise
RREHA price of
At Granted Exercised Forfeited At Date of grant of share options
Name or category of | January during the during the during the 31 December share options Exercise period of HK$ per share
participant 2024 year year year 2024 (Note (1)) share options (Note (ii))
RiBRRE BRETHEE
R04E  REFER  RAFER  RAFER  R0uF  BH BiRE BRAT
IS REER EIL:! R T R AR () TR (B (i)
Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith 968,000 - - - 968000 8 Apri2016 8 Apnil 2016 to 7 April 2026 0.764
AR WI6F4A8E  20I6F4AHE
2006F4A7H
Mr. Xin Luo Lin 968,000 - - - 968000 8 Apri 2016 8 Apnl 2016 to 7 April 2026 0.764
¥R WIEF4ABE  2I6F4AEE
0265F4A78
12,874,500 - - - 12874500
Other employees: 22,267500 - - (2267500) - B Apil2016 8 April 2016 to 7 April 2026 0764
RfbfER DI6F4ABE  I6F4AEE
02654478
35,142,000 - - (22267500) 12,874,500
Notes: BiE
() The vesting period of the share options granted on 8 April 2016 is: first 30% was vested 0} 201654 A8 H 1%t 2 AR HE /) 55 8 1
in one year after 8 April 2016, second 40% was vested in two years after 8 April 2016 & BBL30%R2016F4H8RE—FNE
and remaining 30% was vested in three years after 8 April 2016. The share options are i - S BL40%502016F4 A8 REME A
exercisable from the vesting date until 7 April 2026. FE R T30%RN2016F4A8BR=FRA
RIE o BIRET BB E R E 220264
A7 B EIREATE
(i) The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or (i) AR 2 T B s S AR S B AT AT AR S
bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital. ARFIRAZ H AR B T R
(i) The closing prices of the Company’s shares immediately before the date on which the (i) ADBIRRAD R R EARF AR L B

options were granted during the year on 8 April 2016 was HK$0.764 per share.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No other contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a

material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of

the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS

IN THE SHARES OR UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, the register of substantial shareholders maintained
under Section 336 of the SFO shows that the Company had been notified of the
following substantial shareholders’ interests and short positions, representing 5%

or more of the Company'’s issued shares:

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

EEHEASHES
£ SN A A T A A A R
ST MR S A A RS T
EMAEEEBN LM EAANTEE
A EAME -

FERRRAQARRGHEERG 2%
mRRE

2024 12 A31 B - REFH LBEK
FIEBEFEZ T EWRRELMAER -
RARAREEMNE T EERR 2 ERR
KRR R F 2 BEITID 5% A L

Percentage

Number of Number of the

ordinary of share Company’s

Name Notes  Capacity and nature of interest shares held options held issued shares

(RSN

FrigEBR  FARBRE CRORG

o Wik BOREEME #E #A B

Beijing Health (Holdings) Limited Directly beneficially owned 353,000,000 - 25.07%
EREFEER)BRAT ERELER

Hollyview International Limited (i) Directly beneficially owned 259,680,000 - 18.44%
Hollyview Intemational Limited BERERHA

Mr. Hu Yebi (i) Through controlled corporations 261,570,500 - 18.58%
HEBEEL BRI RAHE

Directly beneficially owned - 968,000 0.07%
BRERHER

Pieta Investment Limited (ii) Directly beneficially owned 123,507,500 - 8.77%
Pieta Investment Limited ERBRER

Ms. Han Jun (ii) Through a controlled corporation 123,507,500 - 8.77%
BEZL BRI RAHE

LA EERBERAT
—e—mEsE O3
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Percentage

Number of Number of the

ordinary of share Company’s

Name Notes  Capacity and nature of interest shares held options held issued shares

(CESNG

FrisEER  FEERE ERORG

£ Wi BORERME #E L B

Mass Talent Financial Limited (iif) Directly beneficially owned 76,200,000 - 541%
Mass Talent Financial Limited EREBRER

Mr. Niu Zhongjie (i) Through a controlled corporation 76,200,000 - 541%
FEZEL BBXLE

Directly beneficially owned 290,500 - 0.02%

BERERHR
Notes:
0) Mr. Hu Yebi is the sole beneficial shareholder of Hollyview International Limited.
(ii) Ms. Han Jun is the sole beneficial shareholder of Pieta Investment Limited.

(i) Mr. Niu Zhongjie is the sole beneficial shareholder of Mass Talent Financial Limited.

(iv)  The letter L denotes a long position.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, no person, other than
the directors and chief executive of the Company, whose interests are set out
in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executive's Interests and Short Positions in
Shares and Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, had registered an interest
or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company that was

required to be recorded pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the related party and connected transactions entered into by the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 is contained in Note 33 to the

financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

In the PRC, the Group contributes to social insurance on a monthly basis for its
employees. The Group has no further obligation for payment of post-retirement

benefits to employees beyond the aforesaid contributions made by the Group.

The Group also participates in mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group and are under the control of an independent trustee. Both
the Group and its employees are required to contribute 5% of the employees’
monthly salaries, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Members are entitled to 100% of the employers’ mandatory contributions as
soon as they are paid to the MPF Scheme but all benefits derived from the
mandatory contributions must be preserved until an employee reaches the

retirement age of 65 or in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director of the Company shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has
arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in
respect of legal actions against its Directors and officers arising out of corporate
activities. The level of the coverage is reviewed annually. The permitted indemnity
provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) when
the Directors’ report prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance with

section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme of the Company as disclosed above, no
equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or
that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in
the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the year

or subsisted at year ended 31 December 2024.

DONATION

There were no charitable donations made by the Group for the years ended 3|

December 2024 and 2023.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to the shareholders
by reason of their holdings of the shares. If shareholders are unsure about the
taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or exercising

of any rights in relation to the shares, they are advised to consult an expert.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float of not less than 25% of the issued shares
as required under the Listing Rules since the listing of the shares on 16 January

2012.

LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION

As at 31 December 2024 and as at the date of this report, the Group had no

significant pending litigation or arbitration.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 3| December 2024, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liability (2023: nil).

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED

36 ANNUAL REPORT 2024

R #8015 o

bR LA FTHE ER 2 AR R AREET IS -
REZE204F A3 BILEFEXFEL
RE - ARABE LK FEEAEE
KA EHAR N R EITROD K ERKAR QT
R gk AT EBUR A R BEITRG BIE

] 15h a8 B0 AR SR N R 2k

B
HZE2024F K2023F 12831 HIEFE -
AEBEWEEHEESEIR -

BIER %

AR B I A FEA E 0 EBERFF A KD
MEELES 2 HIBER R - ERNERE
B ®E HE BEEAXRROHIT
156 £ 1] 5 BB Ak 0 B0 (R AT I P 51 B e T
SR EAEMERR - B AEREARN -

REABERE
RAREBE - BEBEAAGZ ARG
BRARIBEERA - B2012F 1 A16H
BRfD EMLAZR - ARG —EHAER LR
BIFTRTBA D RR25%E BTN 2 AR FF
B2 -

FEAARMEEIE

FR2024F 12 B3I H RAAIREBE - K
LB B ERRRFANEEE -

FREE

R2024F 128318 REBETELME
KRB E(20234F - M) o



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024 the Group did not have any capital commitments (2023:
nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No significant event has taken place subsequent to 3| December 2024 and up

to the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to adopting corporate governance practices. The
Company's corporate governance principles and practices are set out in the

corporate governance report on pages 38 to 56 of this Annual Report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been audited by
Moore CPA Limited who shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the for the coming AGM. Having approved by the Board upon
the recommendation of the Audit Committee, a resolution to re-appoint Moore
CPA Limited as the independent auditor of the Company and to authorise the

Board to fix its remuneration will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Liu Xue Heng
Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
25 March 2025
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The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate governance standard
and safeguarding the interests of all shareholders and to enhance accountability
and transparency. The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
CG Code under Appendix CI of the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate

governance.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company had complied with all the code provisions as set out in the CG
Code throughout the year ended 3| December 2024 and up to the date of this

annual report, except the following deviations:

Code provision C.2.1

According to the code provision C.2.1, the roles of the chairman and the
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. During the year ended 31 December 2024, Mr. Liu Xue Heng has
been both the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the
Company. The Board considered that Mr. Liu Xue Heng has in-depth knowledge
and experience in the sports and entertainment related business in the PRC; and
he is the most appropriate person. Notwithstanding the above, the Board will
review the current structure from time to time. When at the appropriate time
and if candidate with suitable leadership, knowledge, skills and experience can
be identified within or outside the Group, the Company may make necessary

arrangements.
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Code provision B.2.4(b)

According to the code provision B.2.4(b), an issuer shall appoint a new
independent non-executive director at the next annual general meeting if all
independent non-executive directors on the board of the issuer have been in
office for more than nine years. As at the date of this report, all independent

non-executive Directors have been in office for more than nine years.

The Company is in the course of identifying a suitable candidate to be appointed as
an additional independent non-executive Director to comply with code provision
B.2.4(b) of the CG Code and will make further announcement as and when

appropriate.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises three Executive Directors, two Non-executive
Directors and four Independent Non-executive Directors (“INEDs”). The brief
biographic details of and the relationship among Board members is set out in
the Directors Profiles section on pages 57 to 60. The Board has established
three Board committees, namely Audit Committee, Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee. Attendance of the Board meetings, the meetings
of the Board committees and the annual general meetings for the year ended
31 December 2024 held on 4 June 2024 is set out below. The respective
responsibilities of the Board and Board committees are discussed later in this

report.
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The composition of the Board and the attendance of individual members of the HZE204FNAIBLEFE EF20
Board and Board committees meetings during the year ended 31 December HRERIKERESFENESTEZES

2024 are set out in the table below: BRILEEREN TR
Attendance
HERR

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

BIFEEE® FMZEEE REEET
8= E=ge2 23 22 22 BRERAE

Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. Liu Xue Heng 5/5 - - - I/1
2B L4

Mr. Lam Ka Tak 5/5 - - - [/1
MEIELE

Mr. Hou Gongda 5/5 - - - I/
BEIEESE

Non-executive Directors

FUTES
Mr. Hu Yebi 5/5 - - - 11
B RLE
Ms. Hu Yi Na (appointed on | July 2024) 11 - - - -

AR 21 (7A20245E7 B | BESRT)

Independent Non-executive Directors

BAFHITES

Mr. Lok Lawrence Yuen Ming 5/5 3/3 212 2/2 11
ZERLEE

Mr. Xin Luo Lin 5/5 3/3 2/2 2/2 11
FRMEL

Mr. Pan Lihui 5/5 3/3 2/2 2/2 0/1
B IER L

Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith 5/5 - - - 11
mil XS
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All Directors are regularly updated on governance and regulatory matters. There is
an established procedure for Directors to obtain independent professional advice

at the expense of the Company in discharge of their duties.

The Board held meetings from time to time whenever necessary. Notice of
at least 14 days has been given to all Directors for all regular board meetings
and the Directors can include matters for discussion in the agenda if necessary.
Agenda and accompanying board papers in respect of regular board meetings are
sent out in full to all directors within reasonable time before the meeting. Draft
minutes of all board meetings are circulated to Directors for comment within a

reasonable time prior to confirmation.

In addition to regular Board meetings, under code provision C.2.7 of the CG
Code, the chairman should at least annually hold meetings with the independent
non-executive directors without the presence of other directors (the "“Chairman
and Independent Non-executive Directors Meeting”). During the year and
up to the date of this report, one Chairman and Independent Non-executive

Directors Meeting was held.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of Board committees are kept by duly
appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all Directors have access to
board papers and related materials, and are provided with adequate information
on a timely manner, which enable the Board to make an informed decision on

matters placed before it.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
During 2024, Mr. Liu Xue Heng has been both chairman of the Board and

chief executive officer of the Company. The Chairman provides leadership to
management in respect of operational issues. The chief executive officer has
overall chief executive responsibility for the Group’s business development and
day-to-day management generally. Though it does not follow the code provision
C.2.1. whereby the roles of the chairman and the chief executive should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual, the Board
considered that Mr. Liu Xue Heng has in-depth knowledge and experience in the
sports and entertainment related business in the PRC. He is the most appropriate

person.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The non-executive Directors provide various expertise and experiences and
maintain balance of interest to safeguard the interests of the Group and the
shareholders. They participate in Board meetings and make independent
judgements on issues related to the Group’s strategies, performance, interest
conflicts and management process so as to ensure the interests of all

shareholders are properly considered.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board currently has four INEDs, one of the INEDs hold appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. All INEDs of the Company have
been appointed for a specific term and are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association. The
composition of the Board complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules that the
INEDs represented at least one-third of the Board.

Each of the INEDs has given the Company an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
that all INEDs are independent and meet the independence guidelines set out in

Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

Directors should participate in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution

into the Board remains informed and relevant.

The Directors are committed to complying with the code provision C.1.4 on
Directors’ training. All Directors have participated in continuous professional
development activities by reading regulatory updates, and/or attending seminars/
workshops relevant to the business/Directors’ duties in compliance with code

provision C.| 4.
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A record of training they received for the year ended 31 December 2024 was
provided to the Company. All eight directors received training through reading
regulatory updates and attending seminars/workshops relevant to the business/

directors’ duties for the year.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board sets the Group’s objectives and strategies and monitors its
performance. The Board also decides on matters such as annual and interim
results, appointments of company secretary, and dividend and accounting policies
and monitors the internal controls of the Group's business operation. The Board
has delegated the authority and responsibility of overseeing the Group'’s day to

day operations to management executives.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, in accordance with code provision
D.1.2 of the CG Code, all Directors are provided with monthly updates on the
Company's performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole

and each Director to discharge their duties.

When the Board delegates aspect of its management and administration
functions to management, clear directions would be given as to the power of
management, in particular, the circumstances where management should report
back to the Board before making decision or entering into any commitments on

behalf of the Group.

Principal functions that are specifically delegated by the Board to the management
include (i) implementation of corporate strategy and policy initiatives;
(ii) provision of management reports to the Board in respect of Group's
performance, financial position and prospects; and (iii) day-to-day management of

the Group.

LIABILITY INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage in respect of legal
action against for Directors and officers in compliance with code provision C.|.8.
The insurance coverage is reviewed by the Company on an annual basis. During
the year under review, no claim was made against the Directors and officers of

the Company.
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BOARD DIVERSITY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy and discussed all measurable

objectives set for implementing the policy.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board
members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business. All Board appointments will be based on merit and the
candidates will be considered against measurable objectives, taking into account
the Company’s business and needs. Selection of candidates will be based on
a range of diversity criteria, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, knowledge, professional experience and skills in
support of good decision making process, business development, strategy of the
Group and succession planning of the Board. During the year the Company has
appointed one female Director. The Board will take opportunities to increase
the proportion of female members over time when selecting and making
recommendation on suitable candidates for board appointments. The Board
would ensure that appropriate balance of gender diversity is achieved with
reference to stakeholders’ expectation and international and local recommended
best practices, with the ultimate goal of bringing the Board to gender parity. The
Board also aspires to having an appropriate proportion of Directors who have
direct experience in the Group’s core markets, with different ethnic backgrounds,
and reflecting the Group's strategy. The Company will also take into account
factors based on its specific needs from time to time. The ultimate decision will
be based on merit and the contribution that the selected candidates may bring

to the Board.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a director nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”),
which set out the criteria and process in the appointment and nomination of
directors, in order to ensure the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company and ensure the Board
continuity and appropriate leadership, and the summary of which is set out

below:

Nomination criteria

Pursuant to the mandatory disclosure requirements effective in 2019, the
Company should disclose its policy for nomination of directors in the summary
of work performed by the Nomination Committee in its corporate governance
report. In evaluating and selecting any candidate for the directorship, the

following criteria should be considered:
(i)  character and integrity;
(i) qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and

experience, and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy that are

relevant to the Company's business and corporate strategy;

(i) any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the Board;

(iv)  for independent non-executive directors, whether the candidate would be
considered independent with reference to the independence guidelines set

out in the Listing Rules;

(v) any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms

of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender diversity;
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(vi)  willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a

member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the Company; and

(vii) such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s business
and succession plan and where applicable may be adopted and/or
amended by the Board and/or the Nomination Committee from time to

time for nomination of directors and succession planning.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs and to assist in the
execution of its responsibilities, the Board has established three Board
committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, and
the Nomination Committee. Independent Non-executive Directors play an
important role in these committees to ensure that independent and objective

views are expressed and to promote critical review and control.

Audit Committee

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee comprises three
INEDs, namely Mr. Lok Lawrence Yuen Ming, Mr. Xin Luo Lin and Mr. Pan Lihui.
The Audit Committee, chaired by Mr. Lok, is delegated with the authority from
the Board primarily to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditor, review the financial statements
and provide material advice in respect of financial reporting, oversee the financial
reporting process, internal control, risk management systems and audit process of
the Group and perform other duties and responsibilities assigned by the Board.
The composition of the Audit Committee meets the requirements of Rule 3.21
of Listing Rules. For the attendance of the Directors in the meetings of the Audit
Committee, please refer to the paragraph headed “Board of Directors” above in

this report.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED

46 ANNUAL REPORT 2024

)

T B HAR A T2 SR [

(vi) =
NREEGN /LESF

(i) BRRARD AR R BIAR
EFER, HREEESTRER
B IR B T A (T 5B TR
MR FAETH B B -

ExZET
RERARRSBB ZEBELBBET
BE EFECRY-_MEEFZEE -
DHIRESAERES  FMERESNIE
ZEE BUFNTEFEXSERE
hEEBERER  UHERBLLETHE

koo

BELIT o

EitEEg

HZE204F 2A3IBILEFE  FFrEE8
EH-EBUIFERNTES(AILERE
B FERMEEROEIIBRE)EK o 8
FEREBNAELEEGERE - BHAEEE

EEERBETIZEREREE BBELE
RINBZBAIMESSREHEBER -
HHMBRB RV ERRIBEERE
R EEXREENTBREBIEF - A
B AREERGLREZEFUAKRE
TEZGRERNEMBERET - F&t
ZEEMAKRME EMRANE321KREE
F - RBRETZESERREFT LR
BR - #2MAmE LN EEg Ko



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual
report:

(i)  reviewed and discussed the annual audited financial statements, results
announcement and report for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, the related accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group, the report from the management on the Company's review of the
risk management and intermnal control systems, and recommendation of the

re-appointment of the external auditor;

(i) reviewed the annual audit plan of the external auditor including the nature
and scope of the audit, the fee payable to them, their reporting obligations

and their work plan; and

(i) reviewed the effectiveness and performance of the Company’s financial
reporting system, risk management and internal control systems and

internal audit plan.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
regarding the appointment of external auditor. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee, a copy of which is posted on the Company's website, are

consistent with the terms set out in the relevant section of the CG Code.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has set up a Remuneration Committee to ensure that there are
formal and transparent procedures for setting policies on the remuneration of
Directors. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee
comprises three INEDs, namely Mr. Lok Lawrence Yuen Ming, Mr. Xin Luo Lin
and Mr. Pan Lihui. The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Lok. For
the attendance of each of the Director in the meetings of the Remuneration
Committee, please refer to the paragraph headed “Board of Directors” above in

this report.
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During the year, two Remuneration Committee meetings were held to
review the remuneration packages of the Directors and chief executives and
appointment of a new company secretary. The Remuneration Committee is
delegated with authority of the Board to review the remuneration package
of the Directors and ensures that no Director is involved in deciding his own
remuneration. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, a copy
of which is posted on the Company’s website, are consistent with the terms set

out in the relevant section of the CG Code.

Pursuant to code provision E.I.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of the
members of the Board and the senior management by band for the year ended
31 December 2024 is set out below:

AEERNARTRATFMEESSS -
WEFREBITBRABZHWFBUAR
REFARWEELRT c FTHERES
BEZeRRBENES ZHMT 8 LE
RU|EE2HETFHARG O - F
MEzEenBESEECXEATAA
BAEDFE 2GR - HFHEEEM
BESED TIEEARRAIMAULA -

BIECEEASTRISFRANEEE | 5E - &
EX4FNA3IBIEFE EE=EEKE
e ERENGHERESZI T

Number of
Individuals
Remuneration bands (HK$) FriNgEE (B T) A¥
0-1,000,000 0-1,000,000 8

Nomination Committee

The Company has set up a Nomination Committee to ensure fair and
transparent procedures for the appointment, re-election and removal of
Directors to the Board. For the year ended 3| December 2024, the Nomination
Committee comprises three INEDs, namely Mr. Lok Lawrence Yuen Ming,
Mr. Xin Luo Lin and Mr. Pan Lihui. The Remuneration Committee is chaired
by Mr. Pan. For the attendance of each of the Director in the meetings of
the Nomination Committee, please refer to the paragraph headed "Board of

Directors” above in this report.

During the year, two Nomination Committee meetings were held to review
the structure, size, composition of the Board, review the independence of the
INEDs, review the Board Diversity Policy, discuss re-election of Directors and
appointment of a new company secretary. In selecting and recommending
candidates for directorship, the Committee will consider the background,
experience, qualification and suitability of the candidates as well as the Board
Diversity Policy, as the Nomination Committee has been delegated with the
overall responsibility for implementation, monitoring and periodic review of the
Board Diversity Policy. The Board will approve the recommendations based on
the same criteria. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee, a copy
of which is posted on the Company's website, are consistent with the terms set

out in the relevant section of the CG Code.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED

48 ANNUAL REPORT 2024

REZES

ARBERUIREBEE S - UHEREE
EE2RT EERBEEFIFEAR
FRFBARIEF o BiE20245F 12431 H
IHFE REZESNEHR=-ZBIUIFE
WITEE(ALERLE FEMEER
EEBRAE)EK - BEERREREES
ZER BRAREEZEEERTESTL
LEER - BL2HARE EXESE]

—Be

AEERBRTRMARERZESESR
ENEFTENERE  RERAEK - FH
BIUFNTES 2B  FHEFS

ZIEHR SIREFEETEUNLE
EHRARIMWE - AR T E SR RE
2HEEER EELEHMEHNESS
ZIALIRE  HENEBEEHREA

K ZEEEZRREANES K
CEBFE BEREREFTEZ TR
- EREMRIEMERERIREHEEE
& RRRBEMBEREREMRER
AIBREDIEIRR— - RBZ
SenRREEC TEEARRMHERA -

4 ¥



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND
RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix C3 of
the Listing Rules as its code of conduct for dealings in securities of the Company
by the Directors. Having made specific enquiries, all directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

To comply with the code provision C.1.3 of the CG Code, the Company has
also adopted written guidelines on no exacting terms than the Model Code as
the code of conduct for securities transactions by relevant employees to regulate
the dealings in the securities of the Company by certain employees of the
Group who are considered to be likely in possession of inside information of the

Company or its securities.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting
The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensible

assessment of the Group'’s performance, position and prospects.

Management shall provide sufficient explanation and information to the Board as
will enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the financial and other

information presented before board meeting for approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the Group's
consolidated financial statements and ensuring that the preparation of the
Group’s consolidated financial statements is in accordance with the relevant

requirements and applicable standards.

A statement by the auditors about their reporting responsibilities is included in

the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 61 to 69 of this annual report.

The Board will present a balanced, clear and understandable assessment to
annual and interim reports, other price-sensitive announcements and other
financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules, and reports to regulators
as well as to information required to be disclosed pursuant to statutory

requirements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SREABE

Risk management and internal controls

The main features of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group are to provide a clear governance structure, policies and procedures,
as well as reporting mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage its risks
across business operations. The Group has established a risk management
framework, which consists of the Board, the Audit Committee and an internal
audit function which is carried out by the functional responsible management
of the Group (“Senior Management”). The Board determines the nature and
extent of risks that shall be taken in achieving the Group's strategic objectives,
and has the overall responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation and
the overall effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems. The
risk management and internal control systems of the Group are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. Its improvement is an ongoing process and the Board
maintains a continuing commitment to strengthen the Company’s control
environment and processes. The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducts
reviews of the effectiveness of such systems on an annual basis, covering all
material controls including financial, operational and compliance controls.
The Group has formulated and adopted risk management policy in providing
directions in identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks. During regular
review and on an annual basis, the Senior Management identifies risks that would
adversely affect the achievement of the Group’s objectives, and assesses
and prioritises the identified risks according to a set of standard criteria. Risk
mitigation plans and risk owners are then established for those risks considered
to be significant. In addition, the Group has engaged Morton Professional Services
Limited (“Morton”) to assist the Board and the Audit Committee in ongoing
monitoring of risk management and internal control systems of the Group and
in performing the internal audit functions for the Group. The annual review plan
of the Group covers major activities and material controls including operational,
financial and compliance of the Group's business units. It also covers the Group’s

ability to respond to changes in its business and the external environment.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

A report on the result of risk management and internal control review report
from Morton was provided to the Audit Committee and the Board in March
2024. The Board, through the Audit Committee, had performed annual
review on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems, including but not limited to (i) the general compliances with
the Appendix CI of the Listing Rules, (ii) corporate level controls (such as
the independence, experience, roles and responsibilities of the Board and
composition of each committee as well as management monitoring activities),
(iii) certain operational level controls, and (iv) financial reporting functions. In the
course of internal audit reviews, Morton did not identify high risk internal control
deficiencies while it found out few medium to low risk deficiencies with proposed
recommendations for improvements and corresponding remedial actions to be
taken by management and process owners. The management has taken/will take
certain remedial actions by specific dates. the Board concluded that there are no
material irregularities nor areas of concern that would have significant adverse
impact on the Group's state of affair, and that the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems were effective and adequate (including the resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions) and,
save as discussed in elsewhere in this report, have complied with the CG Code
provisions on risk management and internal control during the year. There was
also no material breach of procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information during the year. The Company regularly
reminds the directors and the relevant staff about due compliance and latest

regulatory updates with the insider information and other relevant regulations.

Further to promote transparency and accountability, the Group implements
a whistleblowing and anti-corruption systems and arrangements. Employees,
suppliers, customers and business partners of the Group can raise concerns, in
confidence and anonymity, about possible malpractice or improprieties in financial
reporting, risk management, internal control or other matters. Depending on the
then situations, whistleblowers may contact the management, the Chairman, the
CEO and/or the Independent Non-executive Directors, and suitable following-up

actions may be taken.
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SREABE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 3| December 2024, the remuneration paid/payable to
Moore CPA Limited, the independent auditors of the Company, is set as follows:

18 37 A% B4 £ 55 B
BE204F1N2A3IBLEEE - B &
NARBE I ZEMAEFEE LA
EBMBRARZHFMEIIT

2024

HK$’000

FET

Audit services EZRTS 1,500
Non-audit services IEEIZARTE 300
Total HRET 1,800

The non-audit services represent the engagement in connection with the
Group's 2024 interim financial report of the Company. The Audit Committee
had concluded that it is satisfied with the findings of its review of the audit and

non-audit services fees, process and effectiveness, independence and objectively.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary, Mr. Kwok Yu Fung (“Mr. Kwok’), is responsible to
the Board for ensuring that the Board procedures are followed and the Board
activities are efficiently and effectively conducted. He is also responsible for
ensuring that the Board is fully apprised of the relevant legislative, regulatory and
corporate governance developments relating to the Group and facilitating the

induction and professional development of Directors.

Mr. Kwok was appointed as the company secretary and an authorised
representative of the Company with effect from 27 July 2023. Mr. Kwok is a
member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. During the year,
Mr. Kwok undertook more than 15 hours of relevant professional training to

update his skills and knowledge.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for communication
between the Board and the shareholders. They provide an opportunity for
shareholders to better understand the Group’s operation, financial performance,
business strategies and outlook. The chairman of the Board as well as chairmen
of the nomination committee, remuneration committee and audit committee
or, in their absence, other members of the respective committees are
available to answer questions at shareholders meetings. To promote effective
communication, the Company maintains a website at www.bsehk.com, where
up-to-date information and updates on the Company’s financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are posted. The Board,
according to the Listing Rules, will conduct voting at the forthcoming AGM by
poll. The results of the Company voting will be announced on the Company's

website and the website of the Stock Exchange.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

As stipulated in Article 85 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require an EGM
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such

requisition.

The procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at an AGM or EGM
include a written notice of those proposals being submitted by shareholders,
addressed to the Board at the registered office. The detailed procedures vary
according to whether the proposal constitutes an ordinary resolution or a special
resolution, or whether the proposal relates to the election of a person other than
a Director of the Company as a director. The relevant procedures are set out in
the Notice of AGM which accompanies the despatch of this Annual Report to
shareholders and will be included with the notice to shareholders of any future

AGM.
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Article 88 of the Articles of Association provides that if a shareholder duly
qualified to attend and vote at the meeting wishes to propose a person other
than a Director of the Company for election as a Director at the general
meeting, he/she/it shall deposit a written notice to that effect at the principle
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the Board.
Such notice should also be signed by the nominated candidate indicating his/her
willingness to be elected. In order to ensure that shareholders have sufficient
time to receive and consider the information of the nominated candidate, such
notice should be given to the Company within seven days after the dispatch of
the notice of AGM of the Company. Details of the shareholders’ right to propose
a person for election as a Director and the related procedures are set out in the
constitutional documents of the Company published on the Stock Exchange’s

website (www.hkexnews.hk).

Shareholders may direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company's Registrar. Enquiries may be directly put to the Board by questions at
an AGM or EGM. Questions on the procedures for convening or putting forward
proposals and other enquiries may also be made to the Board by writing to the
company secretary at the Company's office in Hong Kong at Unit 703, 7/F, Pearl
Oriental House, 60 Stanley Street, Central, Hong Kong.

VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of shareholders at a

general meeting must be taken by poll.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy for striking a right balance between
rewarding its shareholders by sharing a portion of the profits and meeting
adequate cash reserves for its working capital requirements and future prospects
of the Company. With reasonable but not pre-determined dividend distribution
ratio, the proposed amount of dividends will be made at the discretion of the
Board and will depend on the Company’s operational results, cash flow situation,
financial conditions, capital expenditure requirements, general business conditions
and strategies, future economic environment, statutory and regulatory restrictions
and any other factors that the Board may deem relevant. The policy will be
reviewed from time to time so as to keep in line with the change of market

conditions and other factors as the Board may deem relevant.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

On | January 2022, the Listing Rules were amended by, among others, adopting
a uniform set of |4 core standards for shareholder protections for issuers
regardless of their place of incorporation set out in Appendix Al to the Listing
Rules. Before the AGM on 16 June 2023, the Board proposed to make certain
amendments to the Articles of Association for the purpose of, among others,
(i) conforming to the said core standards for shareholder protections; and
(i) incorporating certain other housekeeping changes. Accordingly, the Board
proposes to adopt the Second Amended and Restated Articles of Association in

substitution for, and to the exclusion of, the Articles of Association.

On 16 June 2023, a special resolution was passed at the AGM to approve the
proposed amendments and the adoption of the Second Amended and Restated
Articles of Association. The amended Avrticles of Association is available on the

respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

ERERRE

BB BR

RRNBRA—ERESER - ARBHED
Mo AN EHECRERE TR S RHE
Aim R EEEEHREARR R ARKA
RZERBEEYE HRELEXES
BEFBEEENERT  ZEBES
BEREFEWERE  LHRFAR
RIRERE BHeREBR  FHMNR
N BARFXBER - —REBRME &K
B RIREEIRE AR EERHIA
rEFEAEARBBEMNEAEMRER
ME o ZBRBTE T AR - UKFE
MIBER N EFE AR SERM EA
RZHEAE

BEXH

202025 1 A1 - EiRBIEREET(H
RREEE ) B T AR AR ERA I PRE—E 4T
—EARBITA(TREEMAI )
B 1 4T8 1% 0 B BR SR ARFEXE R © 72202356
AlI6BRRBFRER - EFTGEAY
MEEERRMBELE TER] - UW(HAE
B (VA6 Bz OB IRRREER] - &
(NVAAANE THMABER - Bt - £F
EEBRANE _MHEEITIRETHEBE
AR - B RFRASEIZME

2023F6 A 168 » —IEFRIRERNIR
RAFRE LERB - UHLERZRBET
RERAE BT R ERT A E R4
8l o KARIE D RIRAR R KB A AT 48
uh IS FT B E AR AR A -

EtREEXEXEEGRAR

—E-nEss DO



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SREAEE

INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

The Company discloses information in compliance with the Listing Rules, and
publishes periodic reports and announcements to the public in accordance with
the relevant laws and regulations. The primary focus of the Company is to ensure
information disclosure is timely, fair, accurate, truthful and complete, thereby
enabling shareholders, investors as well as the public to make rational and

informed decisions.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance could ensure an
effective distribution of the resources and shareholders' interests. The senior
management will continue endeavors in maintaining, enhancing and increasing the

Group's corporate governance level and quality.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board consists of nine Directors,
including three Executive Directors, two Non-executive Directors, and four

Independent Non-executive Directors.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Xue Heng, aged 51, was appointed as an Executive Director, the
chairman of the Board, and the chief executive officer with effect from 25
January 2016. Mr. Liu is currently an executive director, joint-chief executive
officer, an authorised representative and a member of Investment and Risk
Management Committee of Beijing Health (Holdings) Limited (stock code:
2389). Before joining the Company, he served as an executive director and the
chairman of Investment and Risk Management Committee of Beijing Properties
(Holdings) Limited (stock code: 925) during the period from | January 2011 to
23 December 2015. He was also an executive director and the chief executive
officer of Bestway International Holdings Limited (stock code: 718) during the
period from I'l July 2014 to 19 January 2016, as well as an independent non-
executive director of Guangshen Railway Co., Limited (stock code: 525) during
the period from 2 June 2011 to 29 May 2014 respectively. Mr. Liu obtained a
Master of Business Administration from Cambridge University in the United
Kingdom. He has extensive experience in equity investment, corporate finance,

initial public offer, and mergers and acquisitions.

Mr. Lam Ka Tak, aged 43, was appointed as an Executive Director with effect
from 24 December 2015. Mr. Lam has over 20 years of experience in accounting
and financial matters. Mr. Lam currently served as the chief financial officer, the
company secretary, the authorised representative and the member of investment
and risk management committee of Beijing Health (Holdings) Limited (stock
code: 2389) and is mainly responsible for overseeing the financial management,
regulatory compliance and investors related matters. Mr. Lam also serves as (i) an
independent non-executive director, the chairman of the audit committee, and
the member of the remuneration committee of Net-A-Go Technology Company
Limited (stock code: 1483); and (ii) an independent non-executive director, the
chairman of the audit committee, and members of the remuneration committee
and the nomination committee of Jiangsu Horizon Chain Supermarket Company
Limited (stock code: 2625). Mr. Lam worked as an audit manager at KPMG till
September 2010. He obtained a Bachelor degree in Accountancy from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 2003 and a Master in Business
Administration degree from The University of Hong Kong in November 201 3.
He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS
EEERE

Mr. Hou Gongda, aged 41, was appointed as an Executive Director with effect
from 25 February 202 1. Mr. Hou obtained a Bachelor degree in accounting from
Qingdao University in 2007 and a Master degree in Business Administration from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong in Hong Kong in 2021. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Hou worked as an audit manager at Emst & Young from 2007
to 2015. Mr. Hou joined the Group in January 2016 and currently serves as a
director of MetaSpace (Beijing) Air Dome Corporation, a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company which is listed on NEEQ in the People's Republic of
China (Stock code: 831527).

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hu Yebi, aged 61, was appointed as an executive director on 23 April 2015
before he was redesignated as a Non-executive Director of the Company on 7
November 2018. Mr. Hu is the founder and chairman of Vision Finance Group
Limited. Mr. Hu received his Master of Business Administration from Netherlands
International Institute for Management in the Netherlands and a Postgraduate
Diploma in Management Engineering from Beijing Institute of Technology in
Beijing, the PRC. Mr. Hu has more than 30 years of experience in securities
and financial services, merger and acquisition and corporate finance. Mr. Hu
is currently an independent non-executive director of (i) Blue Moon Group
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 6993); and (ii) Grand Pharmaceutical Group
Limited (Stock code: 512).
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Ms. Hu Yi Na, aged 36, was appointed as Non-executive Director of the
Company on | July 2024. She is currently a director and a responsible officer
of Vision Finance Asset Management Limited (“VFAM"), a licensed corporation
carrying out Types |, 4 and 9 regulated activities under the SFO in Hong Kong.
She has over 10 years of experience in the financial sector, where she provided
holistic financial solutions and comprehensive wealth management services
for clients. She is an alumna of Olin Business School at Washington University
in St. Louis, where she was awarded the Bachelor of Science in Business
Administration, specialising in finance and international business. Prior to joining
VFAM, Ms. Hu worked in Credit Suisse Hong Kong, Bank . Safra Sarasin AG and
Clariden Leu Asset Management (Hong Kong) Limited.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lok Lawrence Yuen Ming, aged 64, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director with effect from 23 April 2015. Mr. Lok has more than
33 years of experience in public accounting, finance and commercial working
experience in both Sydney and Hong Kong. Mr. Lok received his Master of
Economics — Professional Accounting from Macquarie University, New South
Wales Australia in 1988. He was qualified as an accountant in 1987, and is an
associate member of Hong Kong Society of Accountants and a fellow member of
Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia. He has been the chief executive
officer of CSI Investment Management Limited in Hong Kong since 2001.

Mr. Xin Luo Lin, aged 75, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director with effect from 23 April 2015. Mr. Xin was a postgraduate from the
Peking University in the PRC in 1980. He was a visiting scholar at the Waseda
University, Japan between 1980 and 1983, an honorary research associate at
the University of British Columbia, Canada during 1983 and 1984, and a visiting
fellow at the Australia National University, Australia from 1984 to 1985. He was
appointed as a Justice of the Peace in New South Wales of Australia in 1991.
He was appointed as an adviser to the chairman of Guangdong Capital Holdings
Limited from 1998 to 2000. He is an independent investor with over 24 years
of experience in investment banking in the PRC, Hong Kong and Australia. Mr.
Xin is currently an independent non-executive director of (i) Sinolink Worldwide
Holdings Limited (stock code: I168); and (ii) Central China Real Estate Limited
(stock code: 832).
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS
EEERE

Mr. Pan Lihui, aged 57, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director with effect from 23 April 2015. Mr. Pan obtained a bachelor degree in
International Economics from Beijing University of International Relations in the
PRC in 1989. He has over 28 years of experience in nonferrous metals industry.
Mr. Pan worked in Mind Honour Limited from 1994 to 1998 as a manager.
Mr. Pan founded Pentart Industrial Limited in 1998 and Able Plus International
Limited in 2001 and has since been a director and general manager of these
two companies. Mr. Pan is currently an executive director of Enviro Energy

International Holdings Limited (Stock code: |102).

Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith, aged 51, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director with effect from 25 January 2016. Mr. Tse is an executive
director and the chief executive officer of China Technology Industry
Group Limited (stock code: 8111). He also serves as an independent non-
executive director, the chairman of the audit committee and a member of
the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of Beijing Health
(Holdings) Limited (stock code: 2389). Mr. Tse has around 25 years of working
experience in accounting and financial management. He worked in a number of
international accountant firms and Fosun International Limited (stock code: 656)
as a qualified accountant. Mr. Tse is a fellow of CPA Australia and a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Tse obtained
a bachelor degree in commerce from University of Wollongong, New South

Wales, Australia in July 1997, majoring in accountancy and finance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBERE

MOORE Moore CPA Limited B X
1001-1010, North Tower, World Finance Centre, Eﬁj S
Harbour City, 19 Canton Road, =
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong % %
}jﬁ My
T +852 2375 3180 =)
F +852 2375 3828 PR ﬁﬁ
2 =
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Beijing Sports and
Entertainment Industry Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “"Group”) set out on pages 70 to 224, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 3|1 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including

material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 3| December 2024, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHARE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS FAREXEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were AREZFERNEFNEZHEH -
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the BERARRZREVBERERTREZY
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the £ c EERBERBEEREUBEHREB
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, BAEEBHEEBEMMEFEXESR M

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. et EEEEFRRER -
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
RREZER EENERNMELBEREREE

Revenue recognition on construction contracts

BEERIHA TR

(Refer to Notes 2.4, 3 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements)

(2R A MMM E24 ~ 3K5)

For the year ended 3| December 2024, the Group recognised  Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition on

revenue from the provision of construction services over time  construction contracts included:

amounting to HK$101,046,000. EEBHMRES NI ARERRIZF B

BE4FNANALEE - ESEEEEBERREHEZS

BRIEUWA 101,046,000 7T ° +  Obtained an understanding of and evaluated
management’s process in estimation of the budget

The Group has recognised revenue from the provision of cost and determination of the completion status of the

construction services over time, using an input method to construction contracts;

measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the service. . THREIHEEEN T EENRNREERESLD

ERECERERBIRMEERBOEA - KRB AL SEAERTT EERAR |

EXEERRGNEE -
. Checked key contracts of the Group for agreed

contract amount;

- ImENANEERE SEESENBERSH

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

Key audit matter

BEFXEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHAIRE

HRELEE(A)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENERNMELEREXEE

Revenue recognition on construction contracts (Cont'd)

BEEHIHIUATEZ (F)

The input method recognises revenue based on the proportion
of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs
for satisfaction of the construction services. This involves the use
of management judgements and estimation uncertainty, including
estimating the progress towards completion of the services,
scope of deliveries and services required and total contract costs
incurred, forecasting the costs to complete a contract.

B AOS R B B B R AR A PO A 3 100 22 A R 5 AR A O (i AT AR
PR B LE I RESRURA o b0 B2 M8 P 322 I8 1) M % Ak =t T
EE - BREMGEFERRBHEER - AHERXN LR E
AR BEENBEEQRA ~ FBRIZEK S AIRIRKA

We identified the revenue recognition on construction contracts
as a key audit matter due to its significance to the consolidated
financial statements and its involvement of management’s
significant accounting estimations and judgements.
BEHEESDNRAERB REREXSEE - HHR
HUGaMBHRAMEBER A RERENER S
(CEwSEl -

. Checked the contract costs incurred during the year
and examining the related supporting evidences on a
sample basis; and

- BREFAELENSAONAN  UHMEHEBNERAM
B R

0 Evaluated the reasonableness of the estimated total
contracts costs by assessing the status of completion of
the respective construction contracts, and comparing
the actual costs incurred against management'’s
estimation and the profit margin of other similar
projects, on a sample basis.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHARE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

Key audit matter

BEFXEE

HRELEE(A)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENERNMELEREXEE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract assets

ERFIRR &K EER B EFFL

(Refer to Notes 2.4, 3, 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements)

(2B E P RRMFE24 3~ 18%19)

As at 3| December 2024, the Group had trade receivables and
contract assets, net of allowance for credit loss of approximately
HK$25,910,000 and HK$58,904,000 as disclosed in Notes |19 and
I8 respectively. A provision for expected credit losses for trade
receivables and contract assets of approximately HK$2,752,000
and HK$7,049,000 were recognised respectively during the year as
disclosed in Note 6.

R2024F 12A318 - HOMFEIORISFADFIEKE - &
SEHREEERBEBNRUFELRENEED HIRK
25,910,000/ 7T }. 58,904,000/ 7T ° SANMIGE6PTIKER © £
HEW IR R AN EENTEIEEBIREE D 542,752,000
P 7T 57,049,000/ 7T °

For trade receivables and contract assets which are individually
significant and credit-impaired, management assesses credit losses
individually by estimating the contractual cash flows expected to
receive, based on the evidence of credit-impairment and forward-
looking information.
AENBEANEERECEBREFKBAREGHNEEMNS @ &1
EBREEERERELAEEER - BBMA AL
MENRESREEETHEEEA -
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Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of

trade receivables and contract assets included:

BEERRREFBERSNEERENENEFERE

. Obtained an understanding of management’s process
for credit risk assessment and impairment assessment
of allowance for ECL on trade receivables and contract
assets;

- THREEBETEERREEREFIEREL
BENRPEEBHREEETREN GNER

o For trade receivables and contract assets individually
assessed for the ECL, reviewed the impairment
assessment and assessed the reasonableness of the
allowance determined by the management based on
and the customer’s historical payment rate and the
estimated future cash flows on a sample basis;

« BERFHABRMEEBRNEUGAERAHNEEM
5 RETFPHNEL MR RAFRIELRE
WMERERG - LA HEREMETRENSRE

I



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHAIRE

HRELEE(A)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENERNMELEREXEE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

Key audit matter

BEFXEE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract assets (Cont'd)

FEWIR R & A B ER BT (&)

For trade receivables and contract assets which are not individually
significant and credit-impaired, management uses provision
matrix to assess the ECL, which is based on collective credit risk
characteristics. The provision rates are based on the Groups
historical credit loss rate and are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking factors. The impairment provision is subject to
the managements significant estimation.
RENTBEAREEREZEBRKERANEENS
EEEREBERAEERAREZERABRERENEENEER
BiE - BEXNRE SSREELESEFREXRE AL
B AR E AT R ATIEIEE = - REBRBBURANE TR E
PN

We identified the impairment assessment of trade receivables
and contract assets as a key audit matter due to its significance
to the consolidated financial statements and its involvement of
management's significant accounting estimations and judgements.
BEERBERFARANEENRENHBMNSBRERZSE
B THRESGAVMBRAMEBEZA S LEEREN
BAGFHEET R FIE -

For trade receivables and contract assets assessed
by a provision matrix based on collective credit risk
characteristics for ECL, assessed the reasonableness
of the provision rate by the management (including
historical credit loss rates and forward-looking factors)
and checked the appropriateness of classification in the
provision matrix on a sample basis; and

SRERHBEEERRSEERREERETEIERE
EEENRUFTERANEEMNS @ BFHEER
EmAREENERE(BRELEEBEEMA
MR W EERE R EEREPH SRR

BEE Rk

Assessed the disclosures to the financial statement
relating to the Group’s exposure to credit risks.
AEIBHRET AR EEEMEBREERRAEK
BmAK -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHARE

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other

than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to

report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Groups ability to continue as a going concemn,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic altternative but to

do so.
The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Groups financial reporting

process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of

this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of

these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Groups internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHARE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.

S Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Groups ability to continue as a going
concem. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or

conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concem.

S Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.

0 Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business units
within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review
of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including

any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh

the public interest benefits of such communication.

Moore CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chan King Keung
Practising Certificate Number: PO6057

Hong Kong, 25 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HREREREMEERER

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B FET TET
Revenue LN 4,5 169,653 62,388
Cost of sales and costs of construction SHES AR B s AR TS A AR
services (139,604) (49,271)
Gross profit EH 30,049 13,117
Other income and gains, net HAB WA R Wz F 58 5 15,859 13,068
Selling and distribution expenses SHE R R (14,541) (10,628)
Administrative expenses THRAX (52,134) (46,017)
Impairment of financial and TRRENEEREFHE
contract assets, net 6 (9,995) (17,353)
Other expenses and losses HapA R EE (3,633) (11,366)
Finance costs BhE A AR 7 (1,668) (1,729)
Share of loss of a joint venture MME—HEEREEE (60) =
Loss before tax BRI AT B 6 (36,123) (60,908)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrigfiEe, (FX) |0 828 (4,194)
Loss for the year FREE (35,295) (65,102)
Other comprehensive loss Hih2HEEE
Items that may be reclassified to profit or REETE BifE] Rl GEE %7 5 4F
loss in subsequent periods: EEmARE -
Debt investments at fair value through AAERBEREMEEIK
other comprehensive income: mZ BHRE -
Changes in fair value NREES 366 (6,782)
Reclassification adjustments for items Mt ABRIER 2 BB
included in profit or loss: BROBFE
Gain on disposal & e (233) 61
Impairment BB 194 9,317
327 2,474
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

REREREMEERER

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

2024 2023
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FETT
Reclassification of foreign currency R R S EINER &
translation reserve upon deregistrations B O BINEREFE
and disposals of foreign operations 2 450
Exchange differences on translation of MEBINEBEEZER
foreign operations =% (2,504) (4,115)
Net other comprehensive loss that may be  FARE1& HARI Al B E 10 48
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent ~ E1Ez < M ZHEEE
periods PR (2,175) (1,191
Other comprehensive loss for the year, FRAEMEEEE
net of tax (IMBRFLIE) (2,175) (1,191)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRAEHEBEAE (37,470) (66,293)
Loss attributable to: AT RIAE(RER
Owners of the Company RARHEEA (22,847) (49,023)
Non-controlling interests FEFERR (12,448) (16,079)
(35,295) (65,102)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to: A NS IHE(G 2 HEEE
HREE -
Owners of the Company PAN/NEIE ZS DN (23,821) (48,577)
Non-controlling interests JEFE AR RE 2 (13,649) (17,716)
(37,470) (66293)
Loss per share attributable to owners AABEEANELER
of the Company g I
Basic and diluted BERR#EE HK1.6 cents Bl  HK3.4 cents /&1l

LRRE X EEEEARAT
—g-negm /1



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e AR R R

3| December 2024

2024 12 A31H
2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B FET TET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB NERE 12 61,213 65,712
Investment properties KEWF I3 14,909 16,427
Right-of-use assets EREEE 14(a) 19,858 22,141
Other intangible assets Hiv Bz &E 15 270 169
Interest in a joint venture R—HE&EhE s #ERS |6 2,257 -
Prepayments, other receivables and other ~ TE{IEUR « B EUEIR
assets REAMEE |7 360 375
Contract assets BREE |8 1,660 823
Debt investments at fair value through NAERRPAEMZEK
other comprehensive income mZ BHERE 22 - 1,055
Financial assets at fair value through profit A ERMRIET 2 £ 5l
or loss BE 22 1,083 880
Deferred tax assets RIER IR A B 20 8,264 7,676
Total non-current assets JEMBNEEHERR 109,874 115,258
Current assets REBEE
Inventories VESSS 21 56,834 21,440
Contract assets BREE I8 57,244 28,881
Trade and bills receivables JE U IR N FE M SR 19 30,841 16,662
Prepayments, other receivables and TERTRUE - Hfb YR
other assets KHEAMEE 17 33,794 31,084
Debt investments at fair value through NAERBRAEMZEK
other comprehensive income mZ BEBRE 22 9,522 6,670
Financial assets at fair value through profit A ERMRIET 2 £ 5l
or loss BE 22 7,602 |,664
Restricted bank deposits ZIRHRITIER 23 40,528 26,523
Cash and bank balances & MRITAERR 23 75,450 87,023
Total current assets MENE EHETR 311,815 219,947
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and bills payables JERFRIB R ER R R 24 126,306 44,324
Other payables and accruals HAib R R IE R ETE A 25 86,183 66,838
Provisions & 25 2,028 1,100
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &8 8R1T & E S K 26 48,056 24,133
Lease liabilities HE&BR 14(b) 888 5113
Tax payable FE IR 29 17
Total current liabilities BB B 263,490 141,525
Net current assets REEERE 48,325 78,422
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAS 158,199 193,680
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mEMBMRRE

31 December 2024

20244 12 A31 H
2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
i FHET FAET
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &FER1T R EAL{E K 26 2,160 =
Lease liabilities HEAE 14(b) 4,035 3990
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHIBEE 20 160 376
Total non-current liabilities FERBBIERR 6,355 4366
Net assets EEEE 151,844 189,314
Equity Em
Equity attributable to owners of the RATEEAELES
Company
Share capital [N 27 7,040 7,040
Reserves Gl 29 104,245 127,935
111,285 134,975
Non-controlling interests SRR 40,559 54,339
Total equity R 151,844 189,314
Liu Xue Heng Hu Yebi
21218 HEE
Director Director
EF EF

LRME T ERENERAT
“z-maErs (O
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

S A Jll 3L 4
refaBER

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KLTEEARG
Foreign Share-
Share currency Statutory based Non-
Share premium Capital ~ transhation and legal payment Fair value  Accumulated controling Total
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
HBfA
bl L EER  BRMOAR
Bx BBk A%ER B AHER f#E DAERE  ZRER @i FEkEs Eh
(Note 27) (Note29(z)) ~ (Note29(b)) ~ (Note29(c))  (Note29(d))  (Note 29(e))
(W) (Wao)  (WEnp)  (KEvg) (RS9 (e
HK$1000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TEL TR TR TR TET TR TR TEL TR TR
At | January 204 R04E IR 1040 567437 (15977y¢ (25,056)¢ 3061% 16,686 % (A18.295) 134975 54339 189,314
Loss or the year EmER - - - - - - - nen  @s) (48 ()
Other comprehensive income/ £ EH2ERE/
(loss) for the year ()
Changes i far value of MBRERNH
debt investments atfar 2EkE B
value through other REZARERS:
comprefensive income, net MR
of tax - - - - - - 36 - 366 - 366
Reclassification adjustments RPN -t
of debt investments at RABREREL
far value through other 2EkE B
comprehensive income for REFENAR
lossesincuded i proft or 8% fRGE
loss, net of tax - - - - - - (%9) - (%) - )
Reclassification of foreign NERNERLE
currency translation reserve HARINGAER
upon deregstration of f
foreign operations - - - - - - - 2 2 - 2
Exchange differences on et v
translation of foreign EXZR
operations - - - (1,303) - - - - (1.303) (1.201) (2504
Tota comprehensiveloss forthe N EEEEE
year - - - (1.303) - - bl (22845) (23811) (13.649) (37410)
Transactions with owners BEEALRA
Disposal o a subsidary (Note) ~ tHE—FEHEAR
(Biz¥) - - B3l - - - - - k] (131) -
At 31 December 2024 R0MEA3IA 1040 567437 (15,846 (26,359)* 3061 16,686* 06F (11405 11,285 40559 151,844
K These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$104,245,000 (2023: * ZERBREERAMEIRNER ZEA
HK$127,935,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 1 )I 04,245,000/ 7T (20234F : 127,935,00078
IE) o
Note: During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company disposed of 40% equity MIFE - B Z= 20245 12 A3 HIEFE - RATRIAR

interests in a subsidiary to a third party at a cash consideration of HK$15.6. Such disposal
is accounted for as a partial disposal of subsidiary without loss of control and as an equity
transaction. The difference of HK$13 1,000 between the fair value of the consideration
and the increase in carrying amount of the non-controlling interests has been recognised

directly in equity under the capital reserve.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
MEERSBR

For the year ended 3| December 2024

BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RRTRENER
Foreign Share-
Share currency Statutory based Non-
Share premium Coptal ~ translation and legd payment Farvaue  Accumulated controling Total
capitd account reserve resenve resene reserve reserve [osses Total interests equy
WA
bl S AER  EROM
R KHEER  A4EE B AERE BE  DUERE  EBR it ERES o
(Note 27) (Note29@) ~ (Note290) ~ (Note ()  (Note9(d)) ~ (Note 29(e))
(R7) (Mo (HEse)  (HEn0)  (HEN0)  (HEE)
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$1000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000
TEL TEL TRL TEL TEL TRL TRL ThL AT TEL ThL
At | January 203 REIAIR 7040 567437 (7159 (B008* 3061* 16,686* 239 (363264 198378 51209 15607
Loss for the year EhER - - - - - - - ©m) @03 (M) (E510)
Other comprehensive income/ £ REH2TRE/
(loss)for the year (B8
Changes in farvalue of MBREM
debt investments at far ENE B
value through other REIDAERS:
comprehensive income, net M3
oftax - - - - - - (678)) - (6762) - (6782)
Reclassfication adjustments RPNy -t
of debt investments at RBRBREL
far value through other Ecpd
comprehensive income for RE(EENAR
losses included n proft or B8 REE
loss net of tax - - - - - - 925 - 9256 - 9256
Reclassification of foreign HERNEBEEN
currency transiation reserve ARNBRERE
upon disposdl of foreign
operations - - - 40 - - - - 40 - 40
Exchange differences on EBEEENREL
translation of foreign EXZE
operations = = = (2478) = = = = (2478) (1637) (4115)
Total comprehiensieincome/ ~~ EAZENE/ ()
(loss) for e year 4E = = = (2008) = = 2474 (H03) (48577) (I7716) (66293)
Transactions with owners BEEAZRS
Reclassification of capital R EEHEEN
reserve upon disposal or SBEENE
deregistration of foreign ARG
operations = = (8818) = = = = (6008) (14826) 14826 =
At 31 December 2023 ROBENA3IA 7040 567437 (15977 (25058 3061* 16,686* 9% (418295 134975 54339 189314

LRBE X ELEEERAR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AN ==
mERSRER

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

2024 2023
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 THER TAL
Cash flows from operating activities: REGEEH2RERE
Loss before tax: BRES RIS - (36,123) (60908)
Adjustments for: LATIEE #%
Finance costs RERA 7 1,668 1,729
Share of loss of a joint venture AE—RaEtEER 16 60 =
Interest income FBHA 5 (4,226 (3,690)
Investment income and return from financial assets ~~ ARERMNEZ SHEE
at FVPL ZBEBWA KRR 522 (447) (583)
Investment income and retum from debt AREREREEEE
investments at FVOCI Wegs 2 BIERE 2 REHA
4Bk 5,22 (1,525) (1,534)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment Hj%?% BB RRE
B8 5 6 -
Loss/(gain) on disposal/deregistration of subsidiaries HE/HHEHB AR
B/ () 5 2 (5051
Loss on deregistration of associate T iE — MR A R B 5 - 488
Gain on early termination of a lease contract RELREAON MR 5 (3,087) -
Gain on disposal of debt investments at FVOC HERAERER AR
PEBEEHRE NS 5 (563) ()
Covid-19-related rent concessions from lessors RELEANFERS
HEHeER 14 - (16)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment n¥ - BENRERE 6,12 5,554 7,240
Depreciation of investment properties REMENE 6,13 1218 1,079
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 6, 14(a) 1,872 3,350
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hitmy EEgiH 6, 15 4l 40
Impairment of property, plant and equipment W% - BB RRERE 6,12 - 147
Impairment of right-of-use assets EREEERE 6 - 2,768
Impairment of trade receivables, net FEYGIEREH 5 6,19 2,752 5905
Impairment of contract assets, net BRHEERETFR 6 18 7,049 153
Impairment of debt investments at FVOCI, net ARERRNEMEE
Wizt 2 BHRE 2 RE
ik 6 194 9317
Impairment of other receivables, net b FIE BB FER 6,17 - 978
Impairment of inventories FERE 6 3,621 8361
Fair value gain on financial assets at FVPL ARERENER EREE
DR EKE 5 (1,904) (548)
(23.838) (29836)
Increase in restricted bank deposits RRGIRI T LM (14,005) (15,628)
Increase in inventories FEEM (39,015) (1,224)
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets AREECEM)HD (36,249) 23353
(Increase)/decrease in trade and bills receivables IR RN R (32 ),/
P (16,932) 646
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, other receivables  TEfFUR « A EUGIR R E AL
and other assets BEGEM) /B (1,086) 2436
Increase/(decrease) in trade and bills payables ERRERENEEEM
) 82,929 (4599)
Increase in other payables and accruals HitENTIBE R ESER
)il 19,327 2416
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net MNEEXZHT EFE - (2,348)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AN LZE
RERERER
For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

2024 2023
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
st FEx THT
Cash used in operations REmBRE (28,869) (4784)
Interest received Eu& M2 1,094 1,475
Income taxes paid BFTEH - (51
Net cash flows used in operating activities METEMBR e RE TR (27,775) (3360)
Cash flows from investing activities 3}5 BREEH Zfﬁﬁmu;
Interest received from financial assets at FVPL and MAERBRER S
debt investments at FVOC BE &Qﬁ@&ﬁﬁﬁé/ﬁf Ea
ElE 2 BHREMN
2UFE 1,972 2117
Interest received from loans to third parties BES ;ﬂﬂ/ﬁg TR
ME 2,525 2215
Purchase of property, plant and equipment Eﬁﬁ%% e (2411) (1047)
Purchase of other intangible assets BEEMENEE (148) (56)
Purchase of debt investments at FVOCI BERAERBRAMZER
w2 BHRE (5,173) (8,697)
Proceeds from disposal of debt investments at VOCI &L EREREMZEEK
i R EPTEHA 4,074 7871
Increase in equity investments measured at FVPL ARERBERNER Zﬁﬂ’é&é‘f
o (4.968) -
Proceeds from disposal of wealth management HEFALAERBENERZ
products included in financial assets at FVPL, net PREE ENER
FREE NN 729 -
Repayment of a loan from a third party F=HEEEK 4,000 8,500
Loan advance to a third party RE=HREER (5,000 (16,000)
Purchase of shareholding in a joint venture BE-RAECERE 2317) -
Net cash flows used in investing activities RETBMERS e Fa (6,717) (5,097)
Cash flows from financing activities REMETBZRERE
Proceeds from bank loans RITEFA ?—Er/iﬂ 62,035 4977
New other loan AIBE M B 2,160 -
Repayment of bank loans EEHIT éﬁi{i (37,430) (4,065)
Repayment of other loans EEEMER - (3075)
Principal portion of lease payments MENRZAEEH (964) (4359)
Interest paid ERFE (1,668) (1.729)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities MEEDMG/ (A 25E
mEFE 24,133 (8251)
TREEXEEXEBBERAR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
IIV-\éiﬁlﬁiﬁii

For the year ended 3| December 2024

HE2024F 12731 BIEFE

2024 2023
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Bzt TERT FEIT
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH BERBLEEYURLFE
EQUIVALENTS (10,359) (16,708)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year E%ﬂ@%)}ﬂ%%ﬁ% 87,023 105,259
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net NEERZBTETE (1214) (1,528)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF EXBERBELSEEY
YEAR 75,450 87,023
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASHAND CASH B4R BSZEBYNEL I
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances B KR TR 23 75,450 87,023
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Beijing Sports and Entertainment Industry Group Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its
shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange™) since |6 January 2012. The address
of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KYI-11 11, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong has been changed to Unit 703, 7/F, Pearl
Oriental House, 60 Stanley Street, Central, Hong Kong effective from |
May 2024.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the sports
and entertainment related industry in the People’s Republic of China (the

“PRC") with focus on air dome construction, operation and management.

In the opinion of the directors, the major shareholder of the Company is
Beijing Health (Holdings) Limited which was incorporated in the Cayman

Islands, and the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange.

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

ARREEER
ItRBEXLEXEBRERAA
(IR A—RNHSFSTM
PRI ZERAT - HERHE H2012
FIAIAREBHARZMARA
BT AT ) R BT o E Gt
= & #b 3 & Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KYI-1111, Cayman Islands ° 28 2 A]
REENTIBERMHCENRE
BRI ET605% ATk 17712703
= B2024F5 8 | BB -
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B SERER -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR BT EE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

I. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows:

. REAREEERE
FRNMBELARZER
RRREEMBRRZFHBWT

Place of
incorporation/
registration Issued capital/ Percentage of equity attributable
Name and business registered capital to the Company Principal activities
AR,/ BRITRE/ AR
8 AfMRERLE  EREA EAERRADM IERH
2024 2023
Sino Sky Trend Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 100 Investment holding
(Indirect) (Indirect)
PEREERAT &b 1000077 (B) (Rk) REER
Xiang Tai Information and Science and the PRC RMB1,000,000 100" 100" Investment holding
Technology (Shenzhen) Limited* (Indirect) (indirect)
EARRRR(RIERA R G AR%1,0000007C (B) (Rk) REER
Zhong Hu Sports and Culture Development the PRC RMB30,000,000 100# 1007 Investment holding
(Beijing) Limited* (“Zhong Hu Sports) (Indirect) (indirect)
RRERULER(LR)ARAR G ARH300000007T (B) (Ak) REER
(hERE])
Zhong Hu Yueyong (Shanghai) Sports the PRC RMB5,000,000 100* 100" Investment holding
Development Limited* (Indirect) (indirect)
PEHK( LB BERRERAR: G ARH50000007T (B) (Rk) REER
Zhong Hu Dingfeng Sports Development the PRC RMB5,000,000 100@ 100¢  Sports stadium operation
(Beijing) Limited* (“Zhong Hu Dingfeng") (Indirect) (indirect)
PEREREUR(ER)ERAR G ARH50000007T (B) (RE) RE5EE
([hERE])
Shanxi Zhong Hu Dingfeng Sports Development  the PRC RMB5,000,000 100@ 1002 Air dome stadium operation
Limited* (Indirect) (indirect)
WEHEREREERARA R G ARH50000007T (B) (BR) RESEER
Shenzhen Xin Yi Heng Tong Technology the PRC RMB3,260,000 5092¢@ 5092%¢  Trading of goods
Limited* (Indirect) (indirect)
AIMERERNBEARAR G AR#32600007T (B) (Ak) EEdm
MetaSpace (Beijing) Air Dome Corp.* the PRC RMB67,750,000 51.66%¢ 51.66*  Air dome construction
(“MetaSpace”) (Indirect) (indirect)
A ROBRBRERMBABRA A G ARB67,7500007T (B) (Rk) wERE
([ ))
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Information about subsidiaries (Cont’d)

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

RAREEER (&)
EERHBARZER (&)

Place of
incorporation/
registration Issued capital/ Percentage of equity attributable
Name and business registered capital to the Company Principal activities
e BRTRE/ ARF
1 EMRERLE  EREA FEAERBANL IERH
2024 2023
Zhejiang Yuedun Zhizao Technology Limited* the PRC RMB45,000,000 51.66@ 51.66%  Processing of materials for
(“Yuedun Zhizao") (Indirect) (indirect) air dome construction
WIAERENEARL R ((HEEE]) & AR 450000007 () (H&) REREOIHINT
Jlin Xinghua Huji Nano Technology Co,, Ltd. the PRC RMBI10,000,000 30.60% 30.60"  Manufacturing and Sale of
(“Jilin Xinghua")* (Indirect) (indirect) White Pigment Powder
EHEEETMANBARLDA(EHEE]) +& AEH100000007T (B&) (M) RERERAGEMD
o For identification purpose only * ELEE 9l
- These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC ZEMBRBBREPEDEETMR
law. SNETEERE
e © ZE W B A BRIE R BOEEEM &

These subsidiaries are registered as domestic enterprises with limited liability
under PRC law.

These subsidiaries are subsidiaries of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company and, accordingly, are accounted for as subsidiaries by virtue of the

Company's control over them.

The Group holds 519% equity interest in Jilin Xinghua through its 60% owned
subsidiary and was accounted for as subsidiary by virtue of the Company’s control

over it.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion

of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a

subst

antial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of the

other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars

of the excessive length.

BREENRNERE -

# ZEMBARERARBZIELE
MEBARE - ERARBEHRERES
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NEEEBERER 0% E KB
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

2.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which includes all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosure require by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules").

They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI"), financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVPL") and bills receivable at FVOCI, which
have been measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the

nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 A By o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 2. HBEVBRRNEREEREK

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY BIBERER (&)

INFORMATION (Cont’d)

2.2 Application of amendments to HKFRSs 22 FEREBHKREERNBET
In the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for the RiRREZE2024F 12 A31B1E
year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has applied the following FEMNGEVEMER - A&
amendments to HKFRSs, for the first time, which are mandatorily EEBXRERATIEBMBER
effective for the annual periods beginning on or after | January 2024: HFERMEE - FEAEFIRN

20244 | A | Bk 2 12 FIAHRF
JE HRfE SR I A R

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
BBV R ERERFE | 6FRHIEE] BEOEFNEERE
Amendments to HKAS | Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related

amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

FR RIS I RAERT BESERARBDIIEMENAKREBZREESH(2020F)
BREERT

Amendments to HKAS | Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
BEGRTERIZE I SRAER] AEZHHIERE BIE
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
BEGTERE7HR M BBV RS LR HIEm B E 2 bk

E7HRERT
The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current MRAFERABEMBGRELE
year has had no material impact on the Group's financial positions EUESIERIEI RN SE RSP S
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the EFEREZMBRARKE R,
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements. FEENZEFREMBHRETZ

BRELEBREATE -

ERRE X EERERAT
—e—mEss O3
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR BT EE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 2.

REMBHRRNEREEREX

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY STEBRER(EF)
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
2.3 New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective 23 EEMAERRERHETEER

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,

that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

BBV EHREERIFIT BB 5 E 2R
F7HRAERT

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

BRI mEERFOW L BB B REER
ETSREER

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

N:

BEMGREERE 105E N BA G ER
F28RAVERT

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards

BBMBREERSFHERINERT

Amendments to HKAS 21

B G ERIE2 I RAERT

HKFRS 18

BBMBHRE

N

AEBIEE | 855

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2025.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2026.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2027.

PSR A R BT
AERE W ARAEZFRHHRERF
F& R LA T B AR 18 = R AE 2 Y
Ha] RAEIER] BB M I ImE L
H o

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial

Instruments?
T BEHEMAEREET

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity?
KBBERRFENENELP

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate

or Joint Venture'

REEZREBENRRAEERZAHEIIARE'

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards Volume | 13
BB REEN ST ERNFELIE-F 15

Lack of Exchangeability?

RE AR

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements*

BT RR A 251 R R

RNEFHEE B2 &M%E

HIFFE AR AE AR -

2 20254 | A I Bk 2 %A
RFEEHARAERK »

g R20265 | A I Bk %514
R FEHARIAERK ©

¢ R2027% | A1 Bk 2 %554
HIFFE AR AE AR -

Except for HKFRS 18 mentioned below, the above amendments
to HKFRS Accounting standards do not expect to have a material
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. The
Group will adopt the new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting

Standards when they become effective.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

23

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Cont’d)

HKFRS |8 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

HKFRS 18, which sets out requirements on presentation and
disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS | Presentation
of Financial Statements. Whilst many of the requirements will
remain consistent, the new standard introduces new requirements
to present specified categories and defined subtotals in the income
statement; provide disclosures on management-defined performance
measures in the notes to the financial statements and improve
aggregation and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the
primary financial statements and the notes. In addition, some HKAS
| paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor
amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS 33

Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2027, with
early application permitted, and will be applied retrospectively.
The application of the new standard is expected to affect the
presentation of the income statement and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Group is still currently assessing the impact
that HKFRS 18 will have on the Group's consolidated financial

statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.4 Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended
31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
retumns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant

activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power

over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of

the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Groups voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated

until the date that such control ceases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

24

Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling

interest having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the

Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are

eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control described in the accounting policy for

subsidiaries below.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group's equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets

of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not result in
the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and
the non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and the non-

controlling interests’ proportionate interests.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024

BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)
Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of

the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any) are
derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is
calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any investment
retained and (i) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interests. The Group’s share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to the consolidated
income statement or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the

related assets or liabilities.

Business combinations

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration test, on a
transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a simplified assessment
of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business.
The concentration test is met if substantially all of the fair value
of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable
asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The gross assets under
assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents, deferred tax assets,
and goodwill resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities.
If the concentration test is met, the set of activities and assets is
determined not to be a business and no further assessment is

needed.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

24

Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Business combinations (Cont’d)

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group
elects whether to measure non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as

incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the

separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and
any resulting gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated income

statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)
Business combinations (Cont’d)
When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in the

consolidated income statement.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial
instrument and within the scope of HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments, is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss in accordance with HKFRS 9. Other contingent consideration
that is not within the scope of HKFRS 9 is measured at fair value at
each reporting date with changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

24

Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its

intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with

specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Cont’d)
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for

this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 5%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease

terms and useful terms

Office equipment |0% to 33%
Furniture and fixtures 20% to 33%
Motor vehicles 13% to 33%
Computer equipment 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial

year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net

sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
92 ANNUAL REPORT 2024

2. #W®E

MBRRNOEREEREKX

BIBERER (HF)

2L

BERETFEEREN(H)

W - BERRELRITE (F)
FEDREME - BEKEE
HE MR R ERFHAER
BRTEAREE - BB KRR
BIA B AU E LR (E
FLULPTE AR ERF R

BF 5%
TAERE  THHIEEE
2B E

PWAEFRME 10%E33%
FAREE 20%E33%
B 13%Z233%
BHRE 20%

%% - BERREBE NS
BAKREAFHRTR - Bz
BB MR AR S REESE
EEHD  MEHHBIHE
BITE - BE - AERTHE
WE R EAR DR EEN BRF
AR TR AT W S
(wsEm) -

WE - BEAREHRE (B2
EARNFERN T EZ D)
EHERKBFNBRERSK
HE R BAE A LB SR
SRR IEHERR - EEERR ILRE
REFERPRERLEAHmE
& £ R AU et SE B AR
BAE EHE TSR F R AR
EEMERE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

24

Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Cont’d)

Construction in progress represents a building under construction,
which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the
period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when

completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset which would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use
in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated
at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to

the acquisition of the items.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of the investment properties to their residual value over their

estimated useful life.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in profit or loss in the year of the retirement

or disposal.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)
Joint ventures
A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which
exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the

unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements under the equity method, less any impairment
losses, unless it is classified as held for sale. Adjustments are made
to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.
Under the equity method, the investment is initially recorded at
cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group's share of the acquisition-
date fair values of the investee's identifiable net assets over the cost
of the investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for
the post-acquisition change in the Group's share of the investee's
net assets and any impairment loss relating to the investment. Any
acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and any impairment
losses for the year are recognised in the consolidated income
statement, whereas the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive income is

recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)
Leases
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a

period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying

assets.

(@) Right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the

estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 20 years
Land use rights 50 years
Buildings 2 to 5 years
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 B ILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Leases (Cont’'d)

Group as a lessee (Cont'd)

(b) Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under
residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include
the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain
to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or

condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g, a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a
change in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying

asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 A By o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 2. HEAHBREINEREEREK
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY SITBRER (&)
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

24 BEAEFBERERHE)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Leases (Cont'd)
Group as a lessee (Cont'd)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of buildings (that is those
leases that have a lease term of |2 months or less from the

commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis

over the lease term.

Group as a lessor
When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an

operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms and is included in revenue in profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in

which they are earned.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Leases (Cont'd)

Group as a lessor (Cont'd)

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for
as finance leases. At the commencement date, the cost of the leased
asset is capitalised at the present value of the lease payments and
related payments (including the initial direct costs), and presented as
a receivable at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease.
The finance income on the net investment in the lease is recognised
in profit or loss so as to provide a constant periodic rate of retum

over the lease terms.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at

each financial year end.

Patents and trademarks
Purchased patents and trademarks are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over

their estimated useful lives of 3.7 years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

24

Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Intangible assets (Cont’d)

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful lives of 3

to 10 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
contract assets, deferred tax assets and financial assets), the assets
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is
the higher of the assets or cash-generating unit's value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating

unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises in those expense categories consistent with the function of the

impaired asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 B ILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Cont’d)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the

period in which it arises.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as measured
subsequently at amortised cost, at FVOCI or at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial assets contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group'’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus in the case of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for Revenue

recognition below.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Investments and other financial assets (Cont’d)

Initial recognition and measurement (Cont'd)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or FVOC], it needs to give rise to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI") on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at FVPL, irrespective of the business

model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at FVOCI are held within a business model with
the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and
selling. Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned

business models are classified and measured at FVPL.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in

the marketplace.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 B ILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)
Investments and other financial assets (Cont’d)
Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their

classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is

derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

For debt investments at FVOCI, interest income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognised in
profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial assets
measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition,
the cumulative fair value change recognised in other comprehensive

income is recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at FVPL are carried in the statement of financial
position at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in

profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the Group had
not irrevocably elected to classify at FVOCI. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at FVPL are also recognised
as other income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend

can be measured reliably.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)
Investments and other financial assets (Cont’d)
Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial

position) when:

S the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has

transferred control of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Investments and other financial assets (Cont’d)

Derecognition of financial assets (Cont'd)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group's continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the

Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that

the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at FVPL. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash
flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements

that are integral to the contractual terms.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

24

Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Investments and other financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont'd)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
[2-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a

lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking

information.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.

24

Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Investments and other financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont'd)

General approach (Cont'd)

For debt investments at FVOCI, the Group applies the low credit risk
simplification. At each reporting date, the Group evaluates whether
the debt investments are considered to have low credit risk using
all reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the Group reassesses
the external credit ratings of the debt investments. In addition, the
Group considers that there has been a significant increase in credit
risk when contractual payments are past due or the rating of bonds is

decreased.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may
also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account
any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is
written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering

the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at FVOCI and financial assets at amortised cost
are subject to impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except
for trade receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified

approach as detailed below.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)
Investments and other financial assets (Cont’d)
Impairment of financial assets (Cont'd)

General approach (Cont'd)
Stage | - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition and for which the loss allowance is

measured at an amount equal to [2-month ECLs

Stage2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition but that are not credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount

equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 —  Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but
that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired) and for which

the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.

24

Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Investments and other financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont'd)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. For trade receivables and
contract assets, the Group individually assesses credit losses for those
individually significant, or with serious default indicators and credit-
impaired and uses a provision matrix to assess credit losses for the
remaining. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking

factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a significant
financing component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as
its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in calculating

ECLs with policies as described above.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

24

Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the specific identification basis and, in the case
of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated

costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on

demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which

are not restricted as to use.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.

24

Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial

liabilities at FVPL, loans and borrowings and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly

attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their

classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as

well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is

included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

24

Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities (Cont’d)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the

liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the

respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle

the liabilities simuttaneously.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)
Provisions
A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the

amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in profit

or loss.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS |5, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods
or services underlying the particular performance obligation is

transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or

services that are substantially the same.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont'd)

(@)  Provision of air dome construction services
The Group assesses a contract at contract inception, identifies
each individual performance obligation included in the contract,
and determines whether the Group satisfies the performance
obligation over time or the Group satisfies the performance
obligation at a point in time. Revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met: (1) the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs; (2) the Group's performance creates
or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or (3) the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has
an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when

the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

The construction services provided by the Group are being
considered by the management as one single performance
obligation, the equipment involved and construction services
are highly interdependent and highly interrelated, and is
satisfied over time or at the point in time as construction

services are rendered.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont'd)

(@)

Provision of air dome construction services (Cont'd)

For those revenue from provision of construction services
which is recognised over time, an input method is used
to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the
construction service. The input method recognises revenue
based on the proportion of the actual costs incurred relative
to the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the construction
services. When the Group is not able to reasonably measure
its performance progress, the Group recognises revenue only
to the extent of the recoverable amount of costs incurred until
such time that it can reasonably measure the performance

progress.

For those revenue from provision of construction services that
the performance obligation is not satisfied over time, revenue
is recognised at the point in time when the customer obtains

control of the distinct goods or services.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont'd)

(@)  Provision of air dome construction services (Cont'd)
The Group provides warranties in accordance with the
contracts in connection with the construction services during
the warranty period in accordance with the terms specified
in the relevant contracts, normally one to two years from the
date of completion of respective contracts. The warranties
provide the customers with assurance that the related
constructed air domes will function as the parties intended
because it complies with agreed-upon specifications and
does not provide extended warranties in its contracts with
customers. As such, the existing warranties are assurance-type
warranties under HKFRS |5, which the Group accounts for
under HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent

Assets.

(b) Rendering of operation and management services and other
sports and entertainment services
Revenue from the rendering of operation and management
services and other sports and entertainment services is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line basis
because the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group. Revenue from other
services, such as repairing and supportive services, is recognised

at the point in time as services are rendered.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 2. HSREHMBEHRRNFEREEREK
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY STBERER (F)
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

24 BAEFTBERER(HE)
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Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont'd) KEEFEHZBA &)
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2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the
goods and the payment is generally due within 30 to 90 days
from delivery, except for new customers, where payment in

advance is normally required.

Other income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in which

they are incurred.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying

amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the

Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

24

Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods
or services transferred to the customer. If the Group performs by
transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer
pays consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional. Contract
assets are subject to impairment assessment, details of which are

included in the accounting policies for impairment of financial assets.

The Group's certain construction contracts include payment
schedules which require stage payments over the construction
period once certain specified milestones are reached. In addition,
the Group requires certain customers to provide upfront deposits
or advance payments for construction works, this will give rise
to contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the revenue
recognised on the specific contract exceeds the amount received. A
contract asset, net of contract liability related to the same contract,
is recognised over the period in which the construction services
are performed representing the Group's right to consideration for
the services performed because the rights are conditioned on the
Group's future performance in achieving specified milestones. The
contract assets are transferred to trade debtors when the rights
become unconditional, which is typically at the time the Group
obtains the certification of the completed construction works from

the customer.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)
Contract liabilities
A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e, transfers control of the related goods or services to the

customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as

consideration for equity instruments (equity-settled transactions).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a

binomial model, further details of which are given in Note 28.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

24

Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Share-based payments (Cont’d)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as

at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to
be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an

award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided

that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)
Share-based payments (Cont’d)
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to

the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original

award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional

share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the MPF Scheme) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those eligible
Hong Kong employees. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees' basic salaries and are charged to profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group's employer contributions vest fully with the employees when

contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operates in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentages of its
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with

the rules of the central pension scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when
the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of

termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)
Government grants
Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an
expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over
the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate,

are expensed.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the

borrowing of funds.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

24

Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit

or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries

in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial

reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

S when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss
and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal

taxable and deductible temporary differences; and
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 2. HBEUBRERRNEREEREK

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY BTRREN(E)
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d) 24 BASTHRENE)
Income tax (Cont’d) Fris# (&)
o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with ¢ AN PN
investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the timing of NAINKRE R B RER
the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and RERZRMS - &L
it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in B by 22 HR 0 By ] AT DA 12
the foreseeable future. HREREEARETE

FER] R R

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary SR A NP E R ER - ARl
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any RABBEERAERARBHE
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent BIRHERIEERITR A E - HEIA
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which A A B I B ER B M AT A A
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of 25 AR R R - AR
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except: FABER e RARRABET

AIHRER - BRIE -

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible ¢ BELTAEEDRBR
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of NI HERBIERBE HHH
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business RETHNEEXRBE
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither ERAARERER
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and at the mRETR 2 HF 5t
time of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and v ) 3 BR it i ) 2k 5
deductible temporary differences; and BOEPERERSN

RELBEFHRERY M

AMBERER K&

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with ° % KM 8 ] K
investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax assets RAEIREM AR E
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the ERME  EEERE
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future A A BEAE A R AR A
and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary B ARAAZEE R
differences can be utilised. ERREE AT LR E

EERENE - FemA
FEREAE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

24

Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Income tax (Cont’d)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax

asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or

assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)
Income tax (Cont’d)
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease

liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements
to the lease liabilities, and the related assets separately. The Group
recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised and a

deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Dividends
Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends

are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because
the Company's memorandum and articles of association grant the
directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they

are proposed and declared.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

24

Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company's functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in
the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of

monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in
fair value of the item (i.e, translation difference on the item whose
fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or

profit or loss, respectively).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Foreign currencies (Cont’d)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for

each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries and associates
operating in Mainland China are currencies other than the Hong
Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
profit or loss is translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted

average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is

recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any
fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign

operation and translated at the closing rate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

24

Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Foreign currencies (Cont’d)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of subsidiaries operating in Mainland China are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong

Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its debt investments at FVOCI, financial assets
at FVPL and bills receivable at FVOCI at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the
asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,

assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)
Fair value measurement (Cont’d)
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participants ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market

participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and

minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is

significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level | - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical

assets or liabilities

Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement is observable, either

directly or indirectly

Level 3 —  based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is

significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)
Fair value measurement (Cont’d)
For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements
on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers
have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting

period.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family

and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

2. #W®E
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)
Related parties (Cont’d)
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same

group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of

the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same

third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity

related to the Group;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 A By o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 2. HBEVBRRNEREEREK

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY BIBERER (&)
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
2.4 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d) 24 EBEAREGTBXRER(E)
Related parties (Cont’d) BE7 (&)
(b)  (Contd) ) (#&)
(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person (vi) EREX(QAFTHEA
identified in (a); A 1% Hl sk R %
i
(vii() a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence (i) @@ PETERIA T
over the entity or is a member of the key management HERBEARE
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and N EZE (%K

ZERBNGRA])

M EEEEE X

1= B4
(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a (i) B - —HEKE
part, provides key management personnel services to the B ERAK B QA
Group or to the parent of the Group. (ZEBREEN
—#) ALK
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions conceming the future. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group assesses a contract at contract inception, identifies each
individual performance obligation included in the contract, and determines
whether the Group satisfies the performance obligation over time or the

Group satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time.

The construction services provided by the Group are being considered
by the management as one single performance obligation, the equipment
involved and construction services are highly interdependent and
highly interrelated, and is satisfied over time or at the point in time as

construction services are rendered.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Cont’d)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)

For those revenue from provision of construction services which is
recognised over time because the Group'’s performance does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date, an input
method is used to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the

construction service.

Significant judgements are required in determining whether the
construction services provided by the Group should be treated as
one single performance obligation and the progress towards complete

satisfaction of the performance obligation at the reporting date.

The management makes reasonable estimates on the expected total
contract revenue and total contract costs based on the budgets prepared
for construction operations to determine the performance progress and
identify onerous contracts. When it is probable that total contract costs
will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as
an expense immediately. Due to the nature of activities associated with
construction, the Group has to continuously review and revise the estimated
total contracts cost prepared for each construction operation throughout
the contract period. Revision may have effect on revenue, profit and other
items related to construction operations during the period when the

revision incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Cont’d)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and the right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are carried at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.
In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise
judgement and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (|) whether
an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value;
(2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating
the value in use including cash flow projections with appropriate discount
rate. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the assets belong. Changing the assumptions and
estimates, including the percentage change in revenue growth and gross
profit margins in the cash flow projections, could affect the recoverable
amount. As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of the property,
plant and equipment and the right-of-use assets were HK$92,346,000
and HK$28,620,000, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment
loss of HK$61,213,000 and HK$19,858,000 respectively (2023: property,
plant and equipment and the right-of-use assets were HK$92,346,000 and
HK$29,383,000, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment loss of
HK$65,712,000 and HK$22, 141,000 respectively).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Cont’d)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and the right-of-use assets
(Cont’d)

The recoverable amounts of the property, plant and equipment and
the right-of-use assets have been determined by the management of
the Group by value in use calculation of the CGU to which these assets
belong. Estimating the value-in-use requires the Group to make an estimate
of the expected future cash flows from the CGU and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows. During the year ended 31 December 2023, impairment losses
of approximately HK$ 147,000 and HK$2,768,000 had been recognised
related to property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets in the
profit or loss during the year, respectively. Further details are given in
Notes 12 and 14(a).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Cont’d)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables and contract
assets

As at 3| December 2024, the Group had trade receivables and contract

assets, net of allowance for credit loss of approximately HK$25,9 10,000
and HK$58,904,000 (2023: HK$ 1,717,000 and HK$29,704,000).

For trade receivables and contract assets which are individually significant or
credit-impaired, the Group’s management assesses credit losses individually
by estimating the contractual cash flows expected to receive, based on the
evidence of credit-impairment and forward-looking information. Except for
trade receivables and contract assets which are individually significant and
credit-impaired, the Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables and contract assets which is based on collective credit
risk characteristics. The provision rates are based on the Group's historical

loss rates, taking into consideration forward-looking information.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Cont’d)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables and contract
assets (Cont’d)

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical observed
default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e.,, gross domestic product) are expected
to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased number
of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are
adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates are

updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and
forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs on
the Group's trade receivables and contract assets is disclosed in Notes |9

and |8, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Cont’d)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses
can be utilised. Significant management estimation is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future
tax planning strategies. No deferred tax asset relating to recognised tax
losses was recognised as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. The amount of
unrecognised tax losses at 3| December 2024 was HK$ 181,798,000 (2023:
HK$235,668,000). Further details are contained in Note 20.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on the
information reviewed by the executive directors for the purposes of

allocating resources and assessing performance.

During the years ended 3| December 2024 and 2023, the Group
principally operates in one business segment, which is sports and
entertainment segment engaging in air dome construction, operation and
management and other peripheral services such as sports industry related
consultation and management services. Other businesses were considered

relatively insignificant for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(@)

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

REDWER(A)

Geographical information & &R

Revenue from external customers (a) HIEBEFUA
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Mainland China A B (A i, 132,688 62,388
Indonesia ENfE 36,965 -
169,653 62,388

(b)

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the

customers.

Non-current assets
All of the Group'’s non-current assets (excluding debt investments at
FVOC], certain financial assets at FVPL and deferred tax assets) are

located in Mainland China, in which all of its revenue was derived.

(b)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)
Information about major customers

Revenue from major customers, each of them accounting for 10% or more

of the Group’s revenue for the vear, is set out below:

REHIBER(F)
ERXEEFNER
REFEEF(SBHAEERE
KU A K 10%3k BA £ ) B9 A 5]
N

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Provision of air dome construction services R AR SRS
Customer A BEA 21,126 ¥
Customer B =B — 8,034
Customer C 2EC —* 7,428
Customer D BFED —k 6,558
* Revenue from these customers did not contribute over 10% or more of the k& ZERPRAREENKRAISSE

Group's revenue for the corresponding years.

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS AND LOSSES

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

AL BEURA 10%8K A L -

WA~ Efbi A R s Kk &R
WARHIAT

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET T

Revenue from contracts with customers REBFEAH WA 169,653 62,388
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS AND LOSSES (Cont'd) 5 WA -HUWARKREEREE
(4&)
Revenue from contracts with customers REBFEHZBA
(a)  Disaggregated revenue information (a) WAEZHFIEBH
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAET
Types of goods or services Em= R E R
Provision of air dome construction services #2 TR E & IRTE 169,205 60,836
Rendering of operation and management 128 & B AR &
services and other sports related services  EL b 52 5 FH R AR 7% 229 522
Sale of goods HEEMm 219 1,030
Total revenue from contracts with REEPERZBKA
customers 169,653 62,388
Timing of revenue recognition A PNETE
Services/goods transferred at a point in A E — A B A
time R, & 68,607 33274
Services transferred over time i B P HE RS 83 2 O AR 75 101,046 29,114
Total revenue from contracts with REBEFEHZEWA
customers 169,653 62,388
During the year, the Group recognised revenue of HK$17,549,000 FA - AEBR ARSHY]
(2023: HK$7,137,000) that was included in the contract liabilities BHEE(ERRERERRE
in respect of the provision of air dome construction services, the RTS - IR EEREERE R
rendering of operation and management services and other sports Hh 885 MR RIS AERE Y ) &Y
related services at the beginning of the reporting period. BRI A K 17,549,000 BT

(2023 £E : 7,137,000 J7T) ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS AND LOSSES (Cont’d)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)
(b)  Performance obligations
Details of the Group's performance obligation for contracts with

customers are disclosed in note 2.4.
(¢)  Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining

performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31

WA -HERARKZREIR

(#4&)

REFEFEHNZBA (&)

(b) EAIEE
AEBRELENNBOEE
FIBHR R T24

) DEEFEGBHEFHXZE
1%
RI2A3IBREEFBRENOE
FECREKKE D AREK ) I

December are as follows: SERSRAT
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT
Amounts expected to be recognised as  TEERFER AR AR SR ¢
revenue:
Within one year —FR 77,042 2,428

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations are expected to be recognised as revenue
within one year. The amounts disclosed above do not include

variable consideration which is constrained.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS AND LOSSES (Cont’d)

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

WA Bt ARBERER
(&)

Other income and gains and losses Hitg AR W R EE
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FATT
Other income Hib A
Bank interest income HRITHLEUA 1,094 1,475
Other interest income H A 2 A 3,132 2215
Investment income and retumn from: R B A T SRR E WA K B #
— Financial assets at FVPL — ARERMNIBER SR
BE 447 583
— Debt investments at FVOCI — ARERMNEM 2 E WS
ZEBIRE 1,525 1,534
Government subsidies (note) B B (BT ) 7 87
Gross rental income from investment IR E ¥ E L EHEMALS WA
properties under operating leases FEEE 2,837 2,296
Rental concessions HEeE= - 16
Others HAtb 983 386
10,025 8,592
Gains and losses Wk R B8
Gain/(loss) on foreign exchange bE N =R o Wiz (B 1) F 58
differences, net 250 (325)
Fair value gain on financial assets at ARERERIERZ EHEEL
FVPL N EWEE 1,904 548
(Loss)/gain on disposals of: HETSIEN (E18) i
— Financial assets at FVPL —ARERMRERZEHEE 58 (795)
— Debt investments at FVOCI —RAERBREMEERG 2
EBIE 563 6l
— Property, plant and equipment W% - BEEXE (6) =
(Loss)/gain on deregistrations of: LT SEN (EB), W
— Subsidiaries —MB AR ) 5,051
— An associate ——[EE R A - (488)
Gain on early termination of lease REZILEERE 3,087 =
Others HAh (20) 424
5,834 4476
15,859 13,068

Note: The amount represented subsidies on the Group's business development. There is
no specific condition attached to these subsidies.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

6. LOSS BEFORE TAX 6. BRBIATEE
The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): NEBBRBAESE SR (5T
AV THIS B
2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B &F FHET TETT
Cost of construction contracts BES KR 139,411 48,086
Cost of services provided E R ARFSAAR 26 12
Cost of sales SHEK A 167 1,173
Depreciation and amortisation of: AT SIS E R #
— Property, plant and equipment W% - BEEXE 12 5,554 7,240
— Investment properties —KREWE 13 1,218 1,079
— Right-of-use assets —EREEE [4(a) 1,872 3,350
— Other intangible assets —HmEEE 15 41 40
Research and development costs LI FIN 12,571 6,723
Lease payments not included in the WG AHERGETEZ
measurement of lease liabilities MERR 164 -
Auditor’s remuneration ZERETEN & 1,500 1,400
Employee expenses (excluding BERX(TEEESER
directors’ and chief executive's FE2ITHABFH
remuneration (note 8)): (PfF5E8)) :
— Wages and salaries —IEKkH® 24,728 19,865
— Pension scheme contributions —RIREH B 2,489 2,123
27,217 21,988
Impairment of below non-financial AT RIEETREE
assets: BIE
— Property, plant and equipment* —WE - BERRE* 12 - 147
— Right-of-use assets* —ERAEEE" |4(a) - 2,768
— Inventories* —TFE* 3,621 8,361
Direct operating expenses (including Al BRERFA € YA Z 1 E W)
repairs and maintenance) arising ENEEKERZ (8
from rental-eaming investment BRERRE)
properties 1,704 [I16
Impairment of below financial and NTEESHARANEE
contract assets: BAE
— Other receivables, net — H At FRUGRIR 2R 17 - 978
— Contract assets, net —EBHEEFHE 18 7,049 1,153
— Trade receivables, net —EFIRFE 19 2,752 5905
— Debt investments at FVOCI, net —AAERMNEA
HEN 2 EH
BB FH 194 9317
9,995 17,353
X These items are included in “Other expenses and losses” in the consolidated & ZEEAFAGEERREMEE
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Wzt =Ml BB sz M Eia | o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

FINANCE COSTS 7. BERA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BMERRZ DT :
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Interest on bank and other borrowings HR1T SR E A AE R 1,065 733
Interest on lease liabilities (note 14(b)) HEBBEME (P I14(b)) 603 996
Total interest expenses on financial liabilities ~ WIFRMMNIBR < ERIBE
not through profit or loss R4RF B X 1,668 1,729
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION 8. HEERIETHASHMN

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

NEEEERETETHAEFHH
BiE EmBRA - BERQEOE
383(1)@) * (b) * () RMIERAT(H
BEEMNEER)RIIE2BEEN
T

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET TET

Fees e 1,260 1,200
Other emoluments: HEape :

Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind e EAREYH R 989 986

Pension scheme contributions RIS ET B 90 85

1,079 1,071

2,339 2,271
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

8. DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S REMUNERATION (Cont'd) 8. EERXTETHRAEEM(E)

(@) Independent non-executive directors (@ BUKHTES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the REBENBIFNTESZ
year were as follows: BT

Equity-settled

share option

Fees expense Total
BRAEGEE 2
wEe BEBRERX Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THETT T T
2024 20244
Independent non-executive directors B IEHITES
Mr. Lok Lawrence Yuen Ming LER%E 120 - 120
Mr. Xin Luo Lin FEMELE 120 - 120
Mr. Pan Lihui B R 120 - 120
Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith AR E 120 - 120
480 - 480
2023 2023%F
Independent non-executive directors B IEHITES
Mr. Lok Lawrence Yuen Ming LLEIRRSEE 120 - 120
Mr. Xin Luo Lin FRMSEE 120 - 120
Mr. Pan Lihui B BESLE 120 - 120
Mr. Tse Man Kit, Keith AR E 120 - 120
480 = 480

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-

executive directors during the year (2023: nil).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 A By o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION (Cont’d)

(b)

Executive directors, non-executive directors and the chief

8. EBRIETHAEHME)
(b) BTES - FPTESRTE

executive TBAER
Salaries, Pension
allowances and scheme
Fees benefits in kind  contributions Total
e 2RR  BREHE
e ENEF HER @st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THET THET FTHERx
2024 20245
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Liu Xue Heng* EE L 180 449 59 688
Mr. Lam Ka Tak MEELLE 180 - - 180
Mr. Hou Gongda RIELE 180 540 30 751
540 989 90 1,619
Non-executive directors *HITES
Mr. Hu Yebi TREE LA 180 - - 180
Ms. Hu Yi Na TPz L 60 - - 60
780 989 90 1,859
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR BT EE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S REMUNERATION (Cont’d)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and the chief

8. EEBERIETHAEHME)
(b) HBTES - FPTESRTE

executive (Cont'd) THAB(#E)
Salaries, Pension
allowances and scheme
Fees benefits in kind contributions Total
e 2R BHhestd
e ENMET #Hx et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHET FAET TAT
2023 20234
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Liu Xue Heng* BB 5 4+ 180 456 59 695
Mr. Lam Ka Tak MEELE 180 - - 180
Mr. Hou Gongda RIELE 180 530 26 736
540 986 85 [611
Non-executive director FHITES
Mr. Hu Yebi TREE LA 180 - - 180
720 986 85 1,791
* Mr. Liu Xue Heng is also the chief executive officer of the Company. 2 2B EEETAERRRK

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief

executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the

year (2023: nil).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The five highest paid individuals during the year include two directors (2023:
two). Details of the remuneration for the year of the three (2023: three)
highest paid individuals who are neither a director nor chief executive of

the Company are as follows:

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

hEEEFMAS

AFEERERSTMABBIEMA
EHE(2023F - ME) - =4(2023
F:ZR)BaRTMAB(EIXIER
RRBEEMIEEBITRAB)IRA

FEZEHMFBUOT -
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Fe R REYA G 2,309 1953
Pension scheme contributions RIS ETEIMHE R 157 63
2,466 2016

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid

individuals whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

FIHNATEHE 2 FEERIFEE
THRABZREFHMABZKBAT :

Number of employees

BE2E
2024 2023
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 T % 1,000,000 7T 2 3

1,000,000/ 7T 2 1,500,000

7BIT

HK$ 1,000,000 to HK$ 1,500,000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

10.

INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2023:

16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year, except for the Company which is a qualifying entity under
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000 (2023:
HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits of the Company are taxed at 8.25%
(2023: 8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%
(2023: 16.5%).

The Group's operations in Mainland China are subject to the PRC
corporate income tax (“CIT"”). The standard PRC CIT rate is 25% (2023:
25%).

Two (2023: two) PRC subsidiaries, MetaSpace and Yuedun Zhizao were
accredited as High and New Technology Enterprise (“HNTE") and entitled
to a preferential tax rate of 15% (2023: 15%) for the years ended 3|
December 2024 and 2023. The HNTE certificate needs to be renewed

every three years so as to enable to enjoy the preferential tax rate.

Certain PRC subsidiaries were qualified as Small-scaled Minimal Profit
Enterprise, and accordingly their CIT are calculated on a deemed profit
margin. The first RMBI million of annual taxable income is eligible for 75%
reduction and the income between RMBI million and RMB3 million is
eligible for 50% reduction at the applicable CIT tax rate of 20% for both

years.
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10.

INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) (Cont’d)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Certain PRC subsidiaries are entitled to claim an additional 100% (2023:

100%) tax deductibility on eligible research and development expenses.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of

tax prevailing in the countries or jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

FrigBiigse, (BIs%) (&)

ETHEMME QRS

& R it

IS B IR ZRERIN 1 00%(20234F

100%) B FETBFIBR ©

Hip RGN 2 HIRD RAKHE
LETEBIR K ADAER A E AT

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Current — Hong Kong EH-F8

Charge for the year FAX L 26 2
Over-provision in prior year B F R R (2) =

Current — Mainland China EH — A
Charge for the year FAXH 110 42
Over-provision in prior years B F R (36) (80)
Deferred (note 20) RIE (PF7320) (926) 4,230
Total tax (credit)/charge for the year FRMIEBGER) L 4REE (828) 4,194
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) (Cont’d)

10.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before tax at the
statutory rates for the countries or jurisdictions in which the Company
and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the

effective tax rates are as follows:

0. Fri8BiESR,  (FAx) (&)
EARRRAEBRRARR] REKR
#8908 B PR T B 2R 2 R A A2
B2 EE MR E 2 BIAR S HIR
ERBERE 2 BRIER S 2 HER

T
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
58 FRE]RBE At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FTET FET
2024 20245
Loss before tax BRERIEE (1,279) (34.844) (36,123)
Tax at the statutory tax rate REEBERAE ZHIE (211) @®711) (8.922)
Effect of preferential tax rates of MEBAREBERX 2 XE
subsidiaries 102 2,024 2,126
Adjustments in respect of current tax  BtiB 7 BRI HATE IR VE L
of previous periods EOERE:S ) (36) (38)
Income not subject to tax BREBUA (278) (907) (1,185)
Additional tax reduction for eligible HEBHER 25BN
research and development expenses  TEH{HI - (752) (752)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR 3 145 148
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised &) 3 i@ 7 HARR AR FER 2
in previous periods HiIA & 18 - (348) (348)
Tax losses and deductible temporary KRR Z FRIEEE K AJ 1
difference not recognised R E 410 7,733 8,143
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year ~ FARIERS (FE)
fE 24 (852) (828)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 A By o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

10. FAEBUESR,(BAX) (&)

INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) (Cont’d)

Hong Kong  Mainland China Total
B8 B K B st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THETT THTT TATT

2023 2023
Loss before tax B A& 1R (12,969) (47,939) (60,908)
Tax at the statutory tax rate REAEHERARE ZHIE (2,140) (11,985) (14,125)
Effect of preferential tax rates of MEBAREER X &

subsidiaries 62 3,562 3,624
Adjustments in respect of current tax BT HAFEI BN EATE I8 2 S8

of previous periods - (80) (80)
Income not subject to tax HATKA (436) - (436)
Additional tax reduction for eligible B ERAERA 2 EI

research and development expenses  #it IR ] = (698) (698)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR X 1,618 93 711
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised — Eh /8 i@ 1 HAME AR FERR 2 Bt

in previous periods HEE - (427) (427)
Tax losses and deductible temporary AR B I8 E 18 K& AT 1

difference not recognised =R 898 13,727 14,625
Total tax charge for the year FANIEF > HRE 2 4,192 4,194
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

Il. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE  |I. ZAREEABESRER
COMPANY
The calculation of the basic loss per share during the years is based on the FRNEREREBTIIREAR NG
loss attributable to owners of the Company, and the weighted average BARIGEERE BTERRMNE
number of ordinary shares in issue. FIHETHE -
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TATT

Loss attributable to owners of the Company RS E SREREED
for the purpose of basic loss per share RARIEE ABIEFA
B8 22,847 49,023

Number of Number of

shares shares

RO B E i & E

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in FRLAGT EFRERNEER

issue for the purpose of basic loss per share B BT T B INE T 1,408,019,000 1,408,019,000
No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share presented for HRARITEBRELA 270K
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 in respect of a dilution as EXBREABRBETE -
the impact of the share options outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on LB E E A 2 2024 4F 2 20234F 12
the basic loss per share presented. A3 BIEFEMRESHETRERNE

BIELHAR -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

2. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 2. Y% - BRERRZE
Leasehold Furniture Office ~ Computer Motor ~ Construction
Buildings improvements  andfixtures  equipment  equipment vehicles in progress Total
BT HERE HARRE HORR  ETHRR fE  HEIE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn TER TiEn TiEn TR TR TiEn
At | anuary 204 RUMEIAIR:
Cost R 65,641 18,689 49% 5855 583 1112 - 92,34
Accumulated depreciationand ~ ZEFHERAE
impainent (I5117) (7,0%) (44) (3,097) (410) (490) - (26,634)
Net carying amount REE 50524 11593 n 2758 143 61 - 65712
At | January 2004, net of ROMEIRIR
accumulated depreciation and NBRENERAE
impainent 50524 11,593 n 2758 143 622 - 65,712
Additions HE 1,253 185 45 49 9 3% - 2411
Disposals iH& - - (1) () 4 - - 6)
Depreciation (note 6) e (Hite) (2944 (175 (40) (619) (39) (164 - (5554)
Exchange realgnment IEj{ R (1,030) (1) (1) (6)) (3) (14 - (1.350)
At 3| December 2004, netof — FNM4ENA3IA -
accumulated depreciation and NBRENERRE
impainent 47803 9814 75 2520 163 838 - 61213
At 31 December 2024 RNM4E 127318
Cost AR 65,582 18527 495 6,55 53 1479 - 92801
Accumulated depreciationand  ZEFTERA(E
impainent (17779) (8713) (420) (3,635 (400) (641) - (31,588)
Net carrying amount REFE 47803 9814 75 2520 163 838 - 61,213

EtREEXEXEEGRAR

—z-mzeg 197



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

12.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont'd) 12. % - BERSKEE)
Leasehold Fumiture Officc  Computer Motor  Construction
Buldings improvements  andfiures  equipment  equipment vehicles  in progress Total

BT RERE GARKE BORE SRR nE ERIE ot
HKSO00  HKSOD  HKSO00  HKPOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOO0  HKSOO0  HKSO0D
TAT  TRT TR TR TR TR TR T

At | January 2003; RUBEIRIA:
Cost KA 66902 1973 604 5481 738 988 3 93919
Accumulated depreciationand ~~ ZFHHTERHE

impairment (10426) (5.807) (3%9) (259%) (503) (54 - (20273)
Net caying amount BEHE 56476 13,366 205 2885 185 46 B 3446
At | January 2023, net of VR RTER

accumulated depreciation and B ZHTERAE

mpairment 56476 13,366 205 2885 135 46 B 73646
Addtions hE 69 8l - 97 3% kil 374 1047
Transfer 2 - - - 454 (47 - (407) -
Witten-off s - - - 5) - ) - (67)
Disposals of subsidiaries HENBAT = = (68) ) (42) = - (17
Depreciation (note 6) e (Hte) (4949) (1602) (%) (414) (56) (164) - (7240)
Impaiment (note ) W (KTe) - - - (147) - - - (147)
Exchange realignment ERRE (1073) (252) 9 (85) 18 9 = (1410)
At 3| December 2003, netof  R0BENA3IA

accumulated depreciation and MRZHAERAE

impaiment 50524 11593 72 2758 143 622 = 65712
At 31 Decerber 2023 R03E 124318
Cost KA 65641 18689 £9% 5855 553 112 - 9,34
Accumulated depreciationand ~~ Z5HHTERHE

impaiment (510 (0% @y e (410) (40) )
Net camying amount BEHE 50524 11,593 /! 2758 143 62 - 65,712
At 31 December 2024, the Group’s right-of-use assets (note |4(a)) M2024F 12A318 - AEEK
and buildings with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$18,793,000 and H 48 {8 7 5l & 18,793,000 % 7T &
HK$47,803,000 respectively (2023: HK$19,651,000 and HK$50,524,000, 47,803,000 78 JT &Y £ R # & &= (Y
respectively) were pledged to secure bank loans of the Group (note 26). i 14()) REF(2023F : DR

19,651,0005% 7T, }2.50,524,0007 7T ) 2
TR AR EE R TEF (T
26) ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

Impairment testing of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets

In view of recent poor financial performance of the Group, the
management carried out a review of the recoverable amounts of the
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets containing in the air
dome construction CGU (the "“Air CGU") and White Pigment Powder
Manufacturing CGU (the “WPP CGU") for 3| December 2023.

The recoverable amount of the CGUs has been determined by value-
in-use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The discount
rate applied to the cash flow projections is | 1.12% for 31 December 2023.
The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows beyond the five-year
period is 2.2 % for 31 December 2023, which is same as the expected

long-term inflation rate.

A provision for impairment loss related to property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets amounting to HK$ 147,000 and HK$2,768,000
separately recorded in “Other expenses and losses” associated with the

WPP CGU during the year ended 3| December 2023.

The value-in-use for the Air CGU was assessed by an independent qualified

external valuer, BonVision International Appraisals Limited.

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE
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ReELBU I RESEERE
FERAKRREEEMLERERSE
HeBRERKREZHERER
Bz ERABEFEMEE ° 2023F
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WEA1.12% ° 1R2023F 12431 H
IEhFHERcHeRERAZ
BRER2%  WEERABERE
iEIEI

HY%  BERZEUARFERAES
A2 R EE B 14700077
52,768,000 7T A &L £ 20235 12 A
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FEERZIHtRA REE] -

REReEAEV 2 EREEHRE

M A BRINB (G E R R R BIFR AT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

12.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

Impairment testing of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets (Cont’d)

The key assumption for the value in use calculations

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of the air dome
construction CGU and WPP CGU for 3| December 2023. The following
describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash

flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — Management determined budgeted gross margins

based on past performance and its expectations for market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are after tax and reflect specific

risks relating to the relevant unit.

Growth rates — The growth rates used to extrapolate the cash flows beyond
the financial budget periods are based on the expected long-term inflation

rate.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development of air
dome construction, discount rates and growth rates are consistent with

external information sources.
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13.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. &REWX
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TAET
Cost XA 22,654 22,598
Accumulated depreciation BETiE (7,745) (6,171)
Net carrying amount REFE 14,909 16,427
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET TATT
Net carrying amount at | January IR B ZEREFE 16,427 17,842
Depreciation (note 6) #rEe (foate) (1,218) (1,079)
Exchange realignment BEE 5, 8 B (300) (336)
Net carrying amount at 3| December RI12A31 B ZBREFE 14,909 16,427

The Group's investment properties consist of a leasehold land and building
of an air dome stadium in Mainland China under a lease terms of 20 years.
The investment properties are leased to tenants under operating lease
arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging from one to five
years and rentals payable monthly/quarterly/yearly. Majority of the lease
are fixed over the lease terms and one (2023: one) of the leases contain
variable lease payment that are based on certain percentage of revenue of
tenant's operation and minimum annual lease payment that are fixed over

the lease term.

AEENREMEEFHEL R
— BB R EENRESE -
HEIR205F - REMERELZH
EXHHETERS  HHR—=1
FiER - BeRA /T /FXUT -
REBHEERBMAREE - H+
—IH(2023%F : —IR)BEAEHE
5 REEFEERENE—7A
DHEFEABMARENKEFERE
NHETE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

13.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont’d)

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the lease
arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective functional
currencies of the subsidiary. The lease contracts do not contain residual
value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end

of lease term.

Rental income recognised by the Group during the year was HK$2,837,000
(2023: HK$2,296,000), details of which are included in Note 5.

In the opinion of the directors, the fair value of the Group’s investment
properties was approximately HK$2 1,058,000 (2023: HK$19,800,000),
assessed by an independent qualified external valuer, as at 31 December
2024.

The fair value measurements of the Group'’s investment properties are
recognised within Level 3. The valuation technique is the income approach
and the significant inputs used in the fair value measurement are the

estimated rental value, rental growth rate, vacancy rate and discount rate.

The minimum lease payments receivable on leases of investment properties

is disclosed in Note 4.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of buildings and land
used in its operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire
the leased land from the owner with a lease period of 50 years, and no
ongoing payments will be made under the term of this land lease. Leases of

buildings and land generally have lease terms of 3 to 20 years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 A By o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

I4. LEASES (Cont’d) 14. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Cont'd) AEBEREBEAE)
(@)  Right-of-use assets (o EHBEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the REEFAERAEEENRE
movements during the year are as follows: BEREEINT
Leasehold Leased
land properties Total
HE+H# HEWE #at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TATT THTT TATT
At | January 2023 72023 1 A 1R 20,497 7,458 27,955
Addition NE - 813 813
Depreciation (note 6) HrEe (foate) (467) (2,883) (3,350)
Impairment (note 6) A (Ff5Es) - (2768) (2768)
Exchange realignment bEE S FE 2 (379) (130) (509)
At 3| December 2023 and MR2023F 12H318
| January 2024 K2024F | H 1 B 19,651 2,490 22,141
Depreciation (note 6) & (fdate) (461) (1,411) (1,872)
Exchange realignment bE 54, 3 BE (397) (14) (411)
As at 3| December 2024 2024 12 A31H 18,793 1,065 19,858
At 31 December 2024, the Group's right-of-use assets and building MR2024F 12 H31 B - X&EE
(Note 12) with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$18,793,000 AR TH 48 18 9 5!l /% 18,793,000,8
and HK$47,803,000, respectively (2023: HK$19,651,000 and 7T K. 47,803,0007% 7T &9 {5 F #8
HK$50,524,000, respectively) were pledged to secure bank loans of BEREF( M2 )(2023
the Group (Note 26). F 95 A& 19,651,000 7T &

50,524,00078 7T ) E T #H17 A&
BAEBEIRITER(KIFE26) ©
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

I4. LEASES (Cont’d) 14. HEE)

The Group as a lessee (Cont'd) AEBEREBEA(E)
(b)  Lease liabilities (b) HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during FAME & BENREENE
the year are as follows: LU
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TATT
Carrying amount at | January 1A BRRREE 9,103 13,054
New leases g - 813
Accretion of interest recognised during & R B HERRH S 1R
the year 603 996
Covid- 19-related rent concessions from 2R B HIBAWFTERS
lessors EEEEER - (16)
Payments (NE (1,567) (5,355)
Early termination BRI (3,087) -
Exchange realignment BEE 5, 8 BE (129) (389)
Carrying amount at 3| December RI2A3IBHREREEE 4,923 9,103
Analysed into: Pariiv=
Current portion mENER S 888 5113
Non-current portion SERBNE D 4,035 3990

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in Note 36.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED

1 64 ANNUAL REPORT 2024

HERENIMBERSITKE

KT EE36 ©



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

LEASES (Cont'd)

The Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

(b)

(9

Lease liabilities (Cont’d)

The amount recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as

HE (&)

REBEREBEAN(HE)

(b)

HEREH)

KB R B EAERE IR

follows: LI
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THETT
Interest on lease liabilities (note 7) HEBEME(HFE7) 603 996
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {FFAEEENTER S 1,872 3,350
Expense relating to short-term leases EGHITE E R MR
(included in cost of sales and (GTASHER AR K
administrative expenses) THF) 164 -
Total amount recognised in profit or loss  F Bz i 52 B A2 KE 2,639 4,346

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in Note 31(c).

(©

HER SR AR ENHE

31(c) ©
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

4. LEASES (Cont’d)

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (Note |3) consisting of a
leasehold land and building of an air dome stadium under operating lease
arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging from one to four
years. Majority of the lease are fixed over the lease terms and one (2023:
one) of the leases contain variable lease payment that are based on
certain percentage of revenue of tenant's operation and minimum annual
lease payment that are fixed over the lease term. The terms of the leases
require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic
rent adjustments. At the end of the reporting period, the undiscounted
minimum lease payments receivable by the Group in future periods under

non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

HE (&)

AEBEREEA
AEBRBRESCERERHEERE
B (MeE13) - B —REE T
k—ERESZEAK - BHZ—=
MERER - AZHBHEEEHBANA
EE @ EP—H(Q023F : —H)E
SAEHAENER - BREHEFEEK
mHE B REBARNEE /&
REEHENKRGTE - HEKTKAE
EHPAZMERIEEWAREEST
TEHMSAE - R|EHR - £&
EHBREFEEERS 2 T K
S E R AR &K EWREERIE
N

2024 2023

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHERT FAT

Within one year —FR 1,866 1,007
After one year but within two years —FIRBRMFA 1,797 222
After two years but within three years MERER=FA 1,219 =
4,882 1,229
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OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 A By o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

I5. HihEFEE

Patents Trademarks Software Total
=H s LIgus @Et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T FH&T FH&T FHET
Cost at | January 2024, 20245 | A I B ZBAS -
net of accumulated OBk RETHEESH
amortisation - - 169 169
Additions NE 94 - 54 148
Amortisation (note 6) H 55 (Pi5E6) (15) - (26) (41)
Exchange realignment PE H AR (2) - 4) (6)
At 31 December 2024 20245 12 H31 B 77 - 193 270
At 31 December 2024 R20245F 12 H31 B
Cost B AR 39,624 1,130 301 41,055
Accumulated amortisation ~ Z2FTHEH (39,547) (1,130) (108) (40,785)
Net carrying amount BREFE 77 - 193 270
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

I5. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont’d) I5. HttEF&EEE)
Patents Trademarks Software Total
=5 FEiZ Bt FE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET TETT TFETT
Cost at | January 2023, F2023F | A I B Z A -
net of accumulated [
amortisation — |55 |55
Additions NE = - 56 56
Amortisation (note 6) H 55 (Pi5E6) = (40) (40)
Exchange realignment PE H, B = ) Q)
At 3| December 2023 7R2023F 12 H31H = 169 169
At 31 December 2023 72023F 12 H31H
Cost [p#N 39,533 1,130 254 40917
Accumulated amortisation ~ Z2FTHEH (39,533) (1,130) (85) (40,748)
Net carrying amount BREFE = 169 169
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 6. R—EEELEZES
Details of the Group's investment in a joint venture are as follows: REBR—HEELEIREFS
s
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET TBTT
Cost of unlisted investments in a joint venture —fA& & 3EIELETIRE
BN 2317 i
Share of post-acquisition loss and other EiEWERBREEHEMEE
comprehensive loss, net of dividend received ~ &518 * IBR E W% 8 (60) -
2,257 -
Details of the joint venture at the end of the reporting period as follows: REERRZEEREFBTOAT
Attributable proportion
Form of of nominal value of issued/
Name of business Place of Class of registered capital held by  Proportion of voting power
company structure incorporation shares held the Group held by the Group ~ Principal activities
AEEEENERST/
AMEAEEN REEREZ
R FREREA  ERAUBE  FEROER i 31e4] REELA IRRK
2024 2023 2024 2023
Keeta Investments Incorporated BVI Ordinary 50% - 50% — Provision for development
Limited ("Keeta”) of software
Keeta Investments ez RERNHE LRk 50% - 50% - RtBHES

Limited([ Keeta )
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR BT EE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

6. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Cont’d)

Summarised financial information of joint venture

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s joint venture

is set out below. The summarised financial information below represents

amounts shown in the joint venture'’s financial statements prepared in

accordance with HKFRSs.

Joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated

financial statements.

(a)  Keeta Investments Limited

6. R—BEELEER(E
AR LENUEEREE
AEBEZEELENVHEERRE
FHNWT - U THBHEERBEZIER
BEAMBREEFRHE S
U ERKRATYISHE -

BERRNES P HR NG AR
AN °

(a)  Keeta Investments Limited
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2024

HK$°000

THERT

Current assets MENEE 4,871
Non-current assets JERBNE E 5
Current liabilities mBEIE (13)
Non-controlling interest FEIE R (349)
2024

HK$’000

THERT

Revenue WA -
Loss for the year FANEE (120)
Other comprehensive loss for the year FREMEEEE -
Total comprehensive loss for the year FAZHEBER -




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

16. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Cont'd) 6. R—EEELEER(E)

Summarised financial information of joint venture (Cont’d) EELENMBERNEE(HF)

(a)  Keeta Investments Limited (Cont’d) (a)  Keeta Investments Limited (#&)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the LIS E R E AR S B S
carrying amount of the interest in the joint venture recognised in the WMERMERN A EEEERR
consolidated financial statements: EEMEER :

2024

HK$°000

FHET

Net assets of Keeta Investments Limited Keeta Investments Limited#) & =) FH 4,514

Proportion of Group's ownership interest in Keeta N5 Bl Keeta Investments Limited#J

Investments Limited P R L 1) 50%
Carrying amount of Group's interest in Keeta A& E A Keeta Investments Limited &z

Investments Limited Z BREE 2,257
During the year, the Group entered into a sale and purchase FA - AEEERRR—EIE
agreement with a non-executive director and shareholder of HITESRRRFILEEW
the Company to acquire interest in Keeta at a consideration of & - LAX{E2,317,0007 T ik g
HK$2,317,000. A Keeta®HE2E ©
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

7. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

BE

17. FENKE - EtRURRERE M

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET TETT
Prepayments TARTRIE 3,248 2,238
Deposits e 1,170 1,935
Loans to third parties (note a) M= RRMER(Hta) 25,584 24,584
Other receivables (note b) H b UL IE (M 5Eb) 4,152 2,702
34,154 31,459
Analysed into: DR
Current portion mENER S 33,794 31,084
Non-current portion SEMEE D 360 375
Notes: BiteE -
(@)  Loans to third parties @ M[EZFRHER
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Current mE
HK$ loan to third parties, guaranteed by their ME=FREAERRERNE
shareholders FKOABTTEHE) 10,000 21,000
HK$ loan to a third party, pledged by its second M8 = F IR A E R (LA LA
legal charge properties located in Hong Kong, B)  BURBEENEEE
pledged by its shareholders’ unlisted equity AR 3 S H AR R AR
investments, guaranteed by its shareholders HAER - BB ERE
and related companies N EER 5,000 5,000
HK$ loan to a third party, unsecured ME=FRENER(CASBT
FHE) - A 12,000 -
27,000 26,000
Allowance for credit losses EEEEEE (1,416) (1,416)
25,584 24,584
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS
(Cont’d)

Notes: (Cont'd)

@

Loans to third parties (Cont’d)

As at 31 December 2024, loans to third parties (net of expected credit losses)
of HK$25,584,000 (2023: HK$24,584,000) were due from three (2023: three
borrowers). Loans to third parties bore interest at rates ranging from 9% to 16.5%
per annum (2023: 9% to 16.5% per annum) with maturity date within one year
(2023: within one year) from the date of reporting period.

17. BARHE -

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

HA FEW IR K E At

BE(&)

W

@)

(%)

BE=FRHEER(E)

MR2024F 128318 » =ZZERA
(mni: HERAN)RBE=F1R
HOBRXR(MBRBEHEEEBR) A

255840007§7E(2023fﬁ : 24,584,000
BIL) o M= HREMERIRER
RI%ZE 16.5% (20234 : FF|RI%ZE
165%):T 5 - BIHIA AAREHE
H#E—F (20235 : —FR) o

The movements in the allowance for credit losses of loans to third parties are as ME=ZFTREEREEEERESE
follows: BT

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THIT
At beginning of year F5 1,416 627
Impairment (note 6) A (P EE6) - 789
At end of year FR 1,416 1416

The directors of the Company regularly review and assess the credit quality and
financial positions of the counterparties, and also the collateral provided. The
directors of the Group have assessed the market value of the collateral pledged of

each individual customer and considered that the collateral pledged are sufficient.

The directors of the Company considered to recognise the expected credit loss
for loans to third parties amounting to HK$ 1,416,000 (2023: HK$1,416,000) for
the year ended 3| December 2024.

To ensure the adequacy of allowance for ECL on loan receivables, the Group
engaged an independent firm of professional valuers to conduct a valuation on the

allowance for ECL on loan receivables recognised for each reporting period.

ARREEERRERFEZ Y
FHEEEE U BARIARFE
HOERRD - AEBEZEFES
ERIEFHEEMERROTISE
B YRR/ ERERRCERS -

HE204F12A31BIEEE - AR
REEEEERAE = HIEHER
mIEEAE BEE1E 1,416,000 7T (2023
F 1 141600077T) °

RERREREFNIABEEBE
EH R SRR AEBERE—K
BIYEEMER TS RERAER
RN E R TR ERE R T
1TfhME

LRBE X ELEEERAR
—ECNEER
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

7. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS 17. FERRE - - EEWRFEREA

(Cont’d)
Notes: (Cont'd)

BE(&)
BiIsE : (4F)

(b)  Other receivables (b) HttpEUWFER
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Other receivables Hoth e dRaE 4,341 2,891
Allowance for credit losses EEEEEE (189) (189)
4,152 2,702

The movements in the allowance for credit losses of other receivables are as

follows: R
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
TR THIL
At beginning of year F1 189 =
Impairment (note 6) RME (FEE6) - 189
At end of year FR 189 189
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

18. CONTRACT ASSETS 18. EXHEE

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET TAET

Contract assets BREE 91,125 54,993
Allowance for credit losses SEEERE (32,221) (25,289)
58,904 29,704

Analysed into: DR

Current portion mENE D 57,244 28,88
Non-current portion FERENRL D 1,660 823
Contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to consideration BHEETESRAKERERS
for services provided but not billed at the reporting date related to AR ERAE RN ERERE
the provision of construction services as the receipt of consideration is R B BRI RBLENETR - RE
conditional on successful completion of the construction. Included in the AU B B9 R = AT SRR
contract assets for services are retention receivables and unbilled trade & RBEANEERRBRRES
receivables. The contract assets are transferred to receivables when the RARFAZHEFIE - SR
rights become unconditional. This usually occurs when the Group issues an RABEGRNE  ANEEERER
invoice to the customer. WHRIE o b —MREREE R FFH

BB ERsA -
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

18. CONTRACT ASSETS (Cont’d)

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets as at the

BRNEEH

RBEBRB O NG EENEER

end of the reporting period is as follows: TREARFREIAT ¢
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Within one year —FR 89,465 54,169
After one year —Fi& 1,660 824
Total contract assets BREEMRE 91,125 54,993
The movements in the allowance for credit losses of contract assets are as SNEBEZEBEREEESNT -
follows:
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THET
At beginning of year F1) 25,289 39,548
Impairment (note 6) VERIERGREEHY) 7,049 1,153
Written off sk - (13,723)
Exchange realignment bE 5, S (117) (1,689)
At end of year FR 32,221 25289
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONTRACT ASSETS (Cont’d)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses as well as individually
assessed for certain customers that were with significant default indicators
and credit-impaired. The provision rates for the measurement of the
expected credit losses of the contract assets are based on those of the
trade receivables as the contract assets and the trade receivables are from
the same customer bases. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. The individually
impaired contract assets related to customers that were credit-impaired or
in default payments and no receivables are expected to be recovered. Set
out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group's

contract assets:

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

BRNEEHE)

&iE B BB AR EE TR
BESTAFTEEREEER - AR
HUEABREENTRMLREER
BENE T EPETERNE © &
EANEENTEMEEEENEE
EDEREBRKTE  RAR/RE
WEERBBFIERBR—FFE
BB o ETERIR T B ik
EEREEEARNRE BHRE
BOEBBESM - RS
RO TER B & T2 AN ] S H5
B o MRRERRESIERMATR
MEFHEBNANEECERHR
B B IEFT AU Bl B Y RIR © IA
TEHIBRAREENEERFER
B2 AR

2024 2023

Impairment of credit losses assessed by credit {5 & E\f4R & {5 A R e
risk portfolio using provision matrices HME 2 EEEERE

Expected credit loss rate TRHEEEEE 26.72% 32.30%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) FRmAE(TET) 80,386 43,876
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) BHEEEE(TET) 21,482 14,172
Impairment of credit losses assessed individually EEXE&FHh 2 15 B EIER(E
Expected credit loss rate TEHEEBEX 100% 100%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) FREAE(FHET) 10,739 117
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) BHEEEE(TET) 10,739 11,117
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

9. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 19. FEWFIEREWREE

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000

FET TETT
Trade receivables JEU R IE 68,825 53,080
Allowance for credit losses EEEERE (42,915) (41,363)
Net trade receivables — current JE W FRIBFRE — R E) 25910 11,717
Bills receivables at FVOCI| — current ANRERBREMEERES

ZIEWEE — e 4,931 4,945
30,841 [ 6,662

The revenue derived from construction services are mainly made on the
terms of the respective construction contracts. The revenue derived from
operation, management and other sports related services are mainly made

on (i) cash on delivery and (ii) credit terms of 30 to 90 days.

Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables and overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In the view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group's trade receivables relate to a
large number of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration
of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are

non-interest-bearing.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

At 31 December 2024, MetaSpace, and Yuedun Zhizao, two subsidiaries
of the Group, endorsed certain bills receivable accepted by banks in
Mainland China (the “Derecognised Bills") to certain of its suppliers in
order to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers with a carrying
amount in aggregate of RMB20,009,000 (equivalent to HK$21,818,000)
(2023: RMB280,000 (equivalent to HK$308,000)). The Derecognised
Bills had a maturity of five to seven months (2023: five to seven months)
at the end of the reporting period. In accordance with the Law of
Negotiable Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills
have a right of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks default (the
“Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of the directors, the Group has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards relating to the Derecognised
Bills. Accordingly, it has derecognised the full carrying amounts of the
Derecognised Bills and the associated trade payables. The maximum
exposure to loss from the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the
Derecognised Bills and the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these
Derecognised Bills is equal to their carrying amounts. In the opinion of
the directors, the fair values of the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the

Derecognised Bills are not significant.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not
recognise any gain or loss in relation to the transfer of the Derecognised
Bills and Continuing Involvement. The endorsement has been made evenly

throughout the year.

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Cont’d) 19. EWREREWERE(E)
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting EWRIBR | E BRBE S AE
period, based on the terms set out in the contracts and net of loss 1T R AR BB Bl 2 BR e 0 AT 10
allowance, is as follows: ™~
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Within | year | A 22,299 8,010
| to 2 years |26 2,555 2,840
2 to 3 years 2E3F 1,056 867
25910 L1717
The movements in the allowance for credit losses of trade and bills JE U ZR0E K R U 4R ) (= B RS 18
receivables are as follows: EEEI R
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
At beginning of year F4 41,363 41,590
Impairment (note 6) VERIERGREETY) 2,752 5,905
Whritten off HsH (317) (5.360)
Exchange realignment ME 54, R B (883) (/72)
At end of year FAR 42915 41,363
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Cont'd) 19. BWFRERERREE(E)
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a RE&MmE B R PEEERETTR
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses as well as individually B UErEEBEEEE I
assessed for certain customers that were with significant default indicators HEBRENDRREERENE
and credit-impaired. The provision rates are based on the ageing of TERPETEFN G - BEXLE
groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns. The REBHEUEEERENE TEFA
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of RIEBRE © & at B R BB R pniE 4
money and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the R BEEBBERNRERBEAER
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future ERBAESEIE - Bk AR KL
economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past EERGEANSGEREZCEEE
due for more than five years and are not subject to enforcement activity. Ko —fRMmE - BUIBELNE HiE
The individually impaired trade receivables related to customers that were BhERBAZBRREHNITES
credit-impaired or in default payments and no receivables are expected to Al 7 AN SE o B IREERESE
be recovered. R 3R P 4B R 2 M8 Bl 2 R E FE U
RIRTRH S E AR -
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the TREIIAKRENEYHENEE
Group's trade receivables: BB R}
As at 31 December 2024 72024512831 H
Ageing
fRik
Less than Over

|'year |to2years 2to3years 3 years Total
Category Ll §: 3NN | Z2F 283F IFENL #act
Impairment of credit losses assessed &{E ERRAR 258

by a credit risk portfolio EERE
Expected credit loss rate EEEEERX 14.80% 39.30% 66.91% 100.00% 32.39%
Gross canrying amount (HK$000)  BREAE(FET) 26,172 4209 3,191 4753 38325
Expected credit losses (HK$000) ~ TBEREEEE(FHET) 3,873 1,654 2,135 4753 12,415
Impairment of credit losses assessed {ERIFT 4 2 5 S B BIRE
individually

Expected credit loss rate REEEERX 0% 0% 0% 100% 100%
Gross canrying amount (HK$000)  BREAE(FET) - - - 30,500 30,500
Expected credit losses (HK$000) ~ BHIEEEE(TFET) - - - 30,500 30,500
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Cont'd) 19. BWREREWRE(HE)
As at 3| December 2023 72023 12 A31 8
Ageing
Bl
Less than Over
| year  [to2vears  2to3years 3 years Total
Category =il E:2VAN [EyE:s 2133F 3FE @it

Impairment of credit losses assessed &{E ERRAR T2 FE

by a credit risk portfolio EERE
Expected credit loss rate HEEEEERX |1.48% 24.13% 4761% 100% 40.53%
Gross canrying amount (HK$000)  BRE&E(TET) 9,049 3743 1,655 5,255 19,702
Fxpected credit losses (HK$000) — TEEREEEHE(FHT) 1,039 903 788 5,255 7,985

Impairment of credit losses assessed {877 2 (EEBBRE

individually
Expected credit loss rate REEEERX 0% 0% 100% 100% 100%
Gross carrying amount (HK$000)  BREAZE(THT) = = 909 32469 33378
Expected credit losses (HK$000) ~ TBEAEEBIE(THT) - - 909 32,469 33,378
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are as follows:

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

20. REFEEFIIE

EEHIREE,(ABE) 28T

2024 20245
Depreciation
allowance Deferred
in excess revenue  Impairment
of related and deferred  of financial Accrued Lease
depreciation costs assets  purchases liabilities Others Total
ik
BEfE: BEZUAR EREE
nERE BERF BE  EABE  BERR Eft )
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FiER FTER TER FiEn FiERn FiEn FiEn
At | January 2024 202451 A18 1,172 N 3,707 2,204 (376) 501 7,300
Deferred tax credited/(charged) FRRBERET A/ (k)

to profit or loss during the year 2 JERER A (IFE10)

(note 10) (n - (458) 1717 212 (474) 926
Exchange realignment 5 AR 0] - (64) (57) 4 4 (122)
Net deferred tax assets at R0M4ENA3IRZ

31 December 2024 ERHEAETE 1,100 9 3,185 3,864 (160) 3 8,104
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

20. DEFERRED TAX (Cont'd) 20. IRFEBIIE(4E)
2023 20234
Depreciation
allowance Deferred
in excess revenue  Impairment
ofrelted and deferred  of financial Accrued Lease
depreciation costs assets  purchases liabilities Others Total
B

HENE: BTRAR  SREE
TERE  BERA BE  ERE  HERE A st
HKS000  HKSOO0  HK$000  HKS000  HKSOOO  HK$O000  HKS000
Tér  ThAr  TExr  TEr  TEr  TEn TAR

At | January 2023 RNBEIAIR 281 326 8,688 1,229 = 176 1,700
Deferred tax credited/(charged) FRRMBEMATA,/ (118)

to profit or loss during the year  ZJEFERIR (FiT3E10)

(note 10) (109) (229) (4847) 1,003 (378) 330 (4230)
Exchange realignment B 5 A% - ) (134) (28) 2 0) (170)

Net deferred tax assets at R023F 1283182
31 December 2023 BRWEEEFS LI72 92 3,707 2204 (376) 501 7300
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20.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DEFERRED TAX (Cont’d)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have
been offset in the statement of financial position. The following is an
analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting

purposes:

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

20. IRFERIIE(E

HREHEE > ETELEHRBEE
RBEBEEEMBARKRPETE
o WM BHRE B EAKEIER
FETRIRAEERR DATIA T

2024 2023

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHExT T

Deferred tax assets B IAE E 8,264 7,676
Deferred tax liabilities BEHIEAG (160) (376)
8,104 7,300

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$26,961,000 (2023:
HK$21,989,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The Group
also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of HK$ 154,837,000 (2023:
HK$213,679,000) that will expire in one to five years for offsetting against

future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses
as they have arisen in subsidiaries that either have been loss-making for
some time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised, or are not expected
to generate taxable profits in the foreseeable future to utilise the tax losses

due to changes in operation.

REBEEREELENBIEES
26,961,000 7T (20234 : 21,989,000
B) IEBEANEHEELS
FEEE AR KK ERD S
F o ARE B R B R IR E & 7]
FB LA 85 2R 2R I AR Bt s Al 2 7 18
/& 18 154,837,000 7 JT (2023 4F :
213,679,00078 7T ) W A — ZE A F 5
Hj o

BN ZEFERBE - RERARE
BEEBEARRTIAREENEHA
75 T 5 18 1K S B BR A e ) 2 Y B
AEL  AARLEPMEARTES
TAT] B R 2R B A FE AR M A B
MIAEE  MARZSEERERR
FERRIREFE °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

20. DEFERRED TAX (Cont'd) 20.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following

EERLE (A
ATNIR B HEEERERIAEEL R

items: MR
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Tax losses HiIEE 1 181,798 235,668
Deductible temporary differences AR =5 58,064 25,925
239,862 261,593

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 0% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from | January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore
liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from |
January 2008.
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20.

21.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

DEFERRED TAX (Cont'd) 20. EEBLIE(E
At 31 December 2024, no deferred tax has been recognised for 20245 124318 - IERARE
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted eamings that FA AR I 7 4 B X S B B A BB A
are subject to withholding taxes of the Group's subsidiaries established TEH0FT A R B [B] 2 K| FE T B TR HI AR
in Mainland China. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, it BWRELENIE - ARRIEFERE -
is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in ZEM B R RN A RARKA KA 6
the foreseeable future. At 31 December 2024, there was no significant DIEEN o PA2024F 12 H318 - #
unrecognised deferred tax liability (2023: nil) for the aggregate amounts ERPBEAMMME A RN EEE
of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in Hi = RRAERR T A R AR HE
Mainland China. RIBELETHIBRE (20235 - &) -
There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of AABRMEARRIKERSETE 5|2
dividends by the Company to its shareholders. EAIPAEHER -
INVENTORIES 21. FE
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THTT
Raw materials FRA 7618 7,940
Work in progress & 5,452 4,905
Finished goods 2URK SR 43,764 8,595
56,834 21,440
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR BT EE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

22.

AAERRREMZEKFEZE
MEE DAERBRRERZS
MEE

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT
Debt investments at FVOC| AREREREME ER S
ZEBRE
Current ik 9,522 6,670
Non-current SEmB - 1,055
9,522 7,725
Financial assets at FVPL ARERRRIER S/
BE
Current — listed equity investments mE)— ETRAIRE 7,602 |,664
Non-current — unlisted equity investment JEME) — I EMIRAIRE 1,083 880
8,685 2,544

The debt investment at FVOCI represents listed corporate bond

investments. They were classified as financial assets at FVOCI as their

contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest on

the principal amount outstanding and they were held within a business

model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows

and selling. During the year, the investment income and return from debt

investment at FVOCI recognised in profit or loss and the fair value gain

recognised in other comprehensive income amounted to HK$1,525,000
(2023: HK$1,534,000) and HK$366,000 (2023: fair value loss of

HK$6,782,000), respectively.
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22.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Cont’d)

During the year, the investment income from financial assets at FVPL
recognised in profit or loss amounted to HK$447,000 (2023: HK$583,000).

The Group's unlisted equity investment represents an equity investment
in an investee (the “Investee”) previously traded on the National Equities
Exchange and Quotation Company (“NEEQ") in the PRC. As at 3|
December 2024 and 2023, the Group holds approximately 0.37% of
equity interest in the Investee. The unlisted equity investment was classified

as financial assets at FVPL.

In February 2020, the Investee submitted a formal application to the
Shanghai Stock Exchange for the proposed listing of its shares on the Sci-
Tech Innovation Board of Shanghai Stock Exchange (“Application”) and the
Application was preliminary accepted by Shanghai Stock Exchange and the
Investee delisted its share from NEEQ in October 2020. In October 2023,

the Investee has decided not to continue with the Application.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, a positive investment retumn

arising from the changes in fair value of the equity investment recognised in
profit or loss amounted to HK$ 1,904,000 (2023: HK$548,000).

22.

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

ARERBMREMZERKREZE
BMEE DAMRAERRRERZE
R E ()

FA - REGRERNR D ERR
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447,000 77T ( 20234 : 583,000 &
TT) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

23.

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND BANK
BALANCES

EREBTERRRESRRITE
52

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHExT FHET

Cash and bank balances He MIRITHE R 75,450 87,023
Restricted bank deposits R R FIRITER 40,528 26,523
115,978 [13,546

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the
Group denominated in Renminbi (RMB) amounted to HK$64,431,000
(2023: HK$63,485,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China's Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other

currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no

recent history of default.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s restricted bank deposits
of HK$36,819,000 (2023: HK$12,353,000) were pledged to secure the
bill payables with maturity date within one year from the date of reporting

period.
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23.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND BANK
BALANCES (Cont'd)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's restricted bank deposits of
HK$3,709,000 (2023: HK$8,674,000) were restricted for use in relation to

guarantee deposit for performing the construction contract.

As at 3| December 2023, the Group’s restricted bank deposits of
HK$4,244,000 were restricted for use in relation to a counter-claim by a
customer in Mainland China. On | August 2022, a subsidiary of the Group
initiated an arbitration against a customer for alleged default in payment
of construction service income in an aggregate amount of RMB9, 121,154
(equivalent to HK$10,035,000) which was recognised as trade receivables.
On 10 April 2023, Beijing Arbitration Commission adjudicated the
customer had obligation on the defaulted payment. On |9 June 2023, a
counter-claim was initiated by a customer to demand for (i) repairs on the
air dome; (ii) installation of air-conditioners; and (iii) the economic loss due
to the poor quality of work performed by the subsidiary. On 30 November
2023, the Court adjudicated the subsidiary was obligated to carry out
repairs and installation of air-conditioners but dismissed the other claims on
the air dome. The cases were settled and the deposit was released during

2024.

As at 3| December 2023, the Group’s restricted bank deposits of
HK$231,000 were restricted for use in relation to outstanding litigations
commenced by a supplier in Mainland China against a subsidiary of the
Group for alleged default in payment of outstanding sub-contracting fees in
an aggregate amount of RMB207,577 (equivalent to HK$229,000) and all
related interests and expenses. The cases were settled and the deposit was

released during 2024.

23.

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

FREBRTERRAERRTE
tR(4E)

R2024F 128318 » ZAEERZR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

23. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND BANK
BALANCES (Cont'd)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's restricted bank deposits of
HK$ 1,021,000 were restricted for use in relation to outstanding litigation
commenced by a departed employee in Mainland China against a
subsidiary of the Group for an appeal of an arbitration decision in relation
to labour dispute amounting to RMB928,000 (equivalent to HK$ 1,02 1,000)
and related expenses. The cases were settled in 2023 and the deposit was

released during 2024.

24. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

23.

24.

FRHEBRTERERERBTE
B (&)

M2023F 128318 * ZAEERZR
881777 3% 1,021,0007% 7T 4% PR il 5
Bt BEEREER—FEHEA
A — & R B A R B R B iR R
RRFD - A/ ARKE28000
7T (FBE 7 1,021,00058 7T ) BI85 & 4l
MR EEORRBEERRLE L5 -
RHER03FERR - HeEen
20245 fERR o

BYREARENRE

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET THETT

Trade payables FE{FRIE 88,475 33,019
Bills payables under supplier finance HEERE ZHE TH

arrangements JEN IR 37,831 11,305

126,306 44,324
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 A By o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

24. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (Cont'd) 24, BEREBEREMNREE)
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end of the RBER - RIEBZAHLET
reporting period, based on the invoice date or issue date, is as follows: B B M) BB TR R B SRR
BREC DTN -

2024 2023

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET TET

Within | month NEVSIPND 44,036 8272

| to 2 months | 2218 A 16,259 5361

2 to 3 months 22318 A 23,149 2,082

Over 3 months 3E A E 42,862 28,609

126,306 44,324
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and normally settled on terms FERT I AR « —RRILE|

of 30 to 90 days upon receipts of suppliers invoices. FER B ZE 18302908 NAT -

TREEXEEXEBBERAR
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BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

25. PROVISIONS, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 25. #BR - EtEARERETER
2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
L FERT FAET
Contract liabilities BHERE (a) 50,188 33,663
Other payables H e RRIA (b) 17,855 17,443
Accruals fEst & 18,140 15,732
Total FEE 86,183 66,838
Provision — Current Rt — BNER (0) 2,028 ,100
Notes: BitsE -
(@) Movements in contract liabilities are as follows: @) BHBEZEBNT ¢
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
At beginning of year F1) 33,663 7,137
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of At AFYIE LB B2 FRER
recognising revenue during the year that was WAEHE B R
included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year (17,549) (7,137)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of AWM EERERTEHENE
advanced consideration received from B3N
customers 34,074 33,663
At end of year FR 50,188 33,663
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver goods and EnaEeERRNERREHRER
render air dome construction. IR IS AR A ULER BY G B A K ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 A By o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

PROVISIONS, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Cont’d)  25. & - HttENRELREHEH

(4&)
Notes: (Cont'd) B : (88)
(b)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of one year. (b) HMEMNFIBNTE @ FHHRA
iﬁz ®
(©) The components of provisions are as follows: © BEOEKBAIIT
Warranty
Litigation (i) provision (ii) Total
HitN()] BRASTAE (i) “st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEIT TR THIL
At | January 2024 202451 A1 8 1,100 = 1,100
Additional provision in the year FNFEINERE - 948 948
Exchange realignment M 3 AR (20) - (20)
31 December 2024 20245F 12 H31 8 1,080 948 2,028
0] On 14 January 2024, a customer has commenced an action against a @) R2024F 1 A 148+ —BE
subsidiary of the Group in respect of the Group's air dome construction FERAEEMNREREZER
services to demand for the economic loss in an amount of RMB 1,000,000 BHASEN —HHE ARG
(equivalent to HK$1,080,000) (2023: RMB 1,000,000 (equivalent to ?m.‘jjuﬁ A BREER E%Ffﬁ
HK$1,100,000)) due to the poor quality of work performed by the RAEIFTAITO TEEER
subsidiary. On |8 February 2024, a counter-claim was initiated by %ﬁﬁﬁi&ﬁﬁ%%ﬁa% k=l
a subsidiary of the Group to demand repairs and maintenance cost B AR 10000007t (HE
RMB278,000 (equivalent to HK$300,000) incurred due to improper use 7 1,080,0007% 7T ) (2023 4 :
of air dome by the customer. Based on the advice of the Group's legal A R # 1,000,000 7T (8 & R
representative, the directors considered the subsidiary might require to 1,100,000 7T ) ) © 72024 4F
pay the compensation if there was an adverse decision related to the 2R 188 AR B A — M
lawsuit and recognised the provision for the year ended 3| December BARRERF - BRI
2023. As of 31 December 2024, there has been no change in the amounts BEFETERAREMEE
recognised as there has been no change in outcomes on assumptions used WEERREERARK
to develop the estimate. 278,000 7T ( 48 & B4 300,000 7
) e REANEEEZRRK
E’Ji‘i E=RAR/ZMBA
AT BE 7 B S B SR A AR
E’JTﬂ#\ REFE(E - WEE
REE2023F12A3IB1LF
EREE - BE2024F 127
318 - EERH SR EE
%b B 7= AR HIE 5 e R
RAYEERI B
(i) The warranty provision represents management’s best estimate of the iy REBBRREBEYARE
Group’s liability under assurance-type warranty granted on air dome ] AR 18 ot SRR 2R 4 AR A 4
construction services, based on prior experience and historical repair and HRFEREN B ENRE
maintenance rate information. fhEt ERNBESBRRES
HEMREREH -
EtREEXEXEEGRAR

RO EER
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 26. FRBITRHEMER
2024 2023
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate  Maturity HK$'000 rate  Maturity HK$000
BRAZE 34 FEx  ERAX 3H TR
% %
% %
Current Il
Bank loans — secured (note a)  $R{TE A — B EM(Fizka) LPR+0.05 2025 2,754 LPR+045 2024 8,180
EXER BRER
FE+0.05 ME+045
Bank loans — unsecured (note b) $R{TE N — B (Kizkh) LPR-0.1 - 2025 45302 LPR-065- 2024 15953
LPR+0.1 LPR+0.70
EMER EAR
Fl=-0.1- M%-0.65-
EXER EHER
FE+0.] ME+070
48,056 29,133
Non-current FEN
Other borrowing — unsecured  EL A& — B (i) N/A 2026 2,160 - - -
(note c) TER
50216 24133
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26.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Cont’d)

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

R REMERE)

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTET TATT
Analysed into: DR
Bank loans repayable: JEEBIRITE
Within one year —FN 48,056 24,133
Other borrowings repayable: JEMEIR E M A -
Over one year —F P+ 2,160 =
50,216 24,133

Notes:

@

(®)

©)

The Group's secured bank loans at the end of the reporting period were secured
by mortgages over the Group’s right-of-use assets (Note 14(a)) and buildings
(Note 12) with an aggregate carrying amount at the end of the reporting period
of approximately HK$18,793,000 and HK$47,803,000, respectively (2023:
HK$19,651,000 and HK$50,524,000, respectively). The bank loans bore interest
rate with reference to the loan prime rate (“LPR") promulgated by the National
Interbank Funding Center under the authority of the People's Bank of China.

As at 3| December 2024 and 2023, the Group'’s bank loans were guaranteed by
a director of a subsidiary.

The bank loans at the end of the reporting period bore interest rate with
reference to the LPR promulgated by the National Interbank Funding Center
under the authority of the People's Bank of China.

The balance advanced from a non-executive director and shareholder of the
Company is unsecured, interest free and due upon its expiry of 2 years from the

date of drawdown.

All of the Group's borrowings are denominated in RMB.

GEE

()

®)

©)

AEBMPHRE PR GRBEIT
EXBAAEEAFERREE (M
14@a)) RAEF (MI5E12) (REREHIR
Z BRE4RE S Bl A4 18,793,000 7T
47,803,000/ 70 (20234 : S 34
19,651,000 7t }.50,524,0007 7T ) 3%
BRI - RITERHFER2EH
ARRITNEMN2RIRITHER
ERLBEMHERERFE([ER
ERERIE]) -

R2024F X2023F 12 A318 * A&
EZRITEREH—HHBARE
EHER -

RB|ERRZRITEROFESE
FEARBRITTENZERTHER
FREHOEMHERERR X -

RRAFEHITEERRRBN
BAEER  TEE - LRRIA
ME2FfEM R -

REBEFRBEFTIAAREE -

LRBE X EEEMERAR
—ECNEER
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PR AR BT EE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. BR
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Authorised: JETE
4,000,000,000 (2023: 4,000,000,000) ordinary ~ 4,000,000,0008% (20234F :
shares of HK$0.005 each 4,000,000,0004% ) & I
{B0.005/8 T L 3@ % 20,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITREEHRE -
1,408,019,000 (2023: 1,408,019,000) ordinary  1,408,019,0008% (20234 :
shares of HK$0.005 each 1,408,019,0000% ) &A% H
{B0.00578 TRy E A% 7,040 7,040
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28.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the ““Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who

contribute to the success of the Group's operations.

The share option scheme (*Old Scheme”) became effective on 3
December 201 | and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain
in force for 10 years from that date. Pursuant to the ordinary resolutions
passed at an extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
I8 June 2021, the Company approved the termination of Old Scheme
and adoption of new share option scheme (“New Scheme”). The New
Scheme will be expired on |7 June 2031 if not be terminated by any

general meeting earlier.

Eligible participants of the Scheme include the Company's directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees of the
Group, suppliers of goods or services to the Group, customers of the
Group, the Company’s shareholders, and any non-controlling shareholder

in the Company'’s subsidiaries.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted to
be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise,
to 30% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. The maximum
number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible participant
in the Scheme within any |2-month period is limited to % of the shares
of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in

excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company's
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any |2-month
period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general

meeting.

28.

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

BRESE

ARRR BT EI(T5H8]) -
BRI T AR E S
ERBFL BRI A BER2EE -

REARMESTEI([ &5T81 1) 201 1 12
A3BEREN - BRIESBEEUERE
i BRI BEZARIOFRBR -
RIER2021F6 A 18 HE1THIAR A A
BRRFIASHEBH L RRER
AARRERIEEFTEI KA
ARmERTEI(TFTET &) o IRIBATR
IR RS ERIE - FET 8RN
2031F6 A 178 @M °

AEMAER2EERBEAATN
EX(BRBIMFATES) - A%
BEMES « NEEEmIRHBH
BE - AKEEF - ARFBRRR
AR AT A RHEAT IR R -

BIEFT BRI R 2 RITEER
EzEaBERTEREESERN
ARABRIMEBREZETRNOZ
30% o FAMEAT 1218 A B3R - RRET
EIRTEEERBHE ZERE
FTERITZEEROEE ARAE R
EARHEE BTG Z 1% AR < &
B 38 1L R 1 2 A {A] EL 4th BE AR A 25
U E N N e A

RTYARRES TBTBAB
TERRIBEEMBERALZE
BEBAEBIYIFRITESTE LM
JE o BEAN - PMES 1218 A EIRE - fe
BRYARE T ERRSIBLIFRIT
EFRSFEABBRA LT ZEMNE
PERBE A R R R EAIRRE BT
B 2 0.1% AR H B EIA R
AR ERAEZAEBBEEL
7T BIEEBRRNBRAE ER5E
HUEE ©

EtREEXEXEEGRAR
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

28.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21 days from
the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$ ! in
total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the directors, and commences after a vesting period of
one to three years and ends on a date which is not later than five years
from the date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the

Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors, but
may not be less than the higher of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of
the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the share options; and (ii) the
average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five

trading days immediately preceding the date of offer.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote

at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme during

28.

BRESTE(E)
BRHBREZZQRNEZLBEME
ARNBAAREAZNEZERES
KBTI T LA - PTIREBAE
ZITEHIIRESFEE IR —F
=FEBHERAL M TERE
PHER L B BERT AF XS Em
BHE(AREERE) -

BREZITEERESEE - T
BERATZEEE : (VA2 EIR
DI AE E 4 B BERERE R P 2 IR
ME: RARBBROREEZY
HEIRT AER 5 AR ATz F15
Wi fE o

PR T T A A MBI E B
REERASRR 2R -

N REAREE &R ARTTRZE

the year: RakE
2023
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price options  exercise price options
IR 33 AT
TfEE BRESA TEE  BREHE
HK$ HK$
per share ’000 per share ‘000
BRET FB BT T
At | January RIAIH 0.764 35,142 0.764 35,142
Lapsed during the year FABKXM 0.764 (22,268) 0.764 -
At 31 December RI12A318 0.764 12,874 0.764 35,142
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d) 28. HEMRAEGTEI(E)
The exercise price and exercise period of the share options outstanding as REmERR - WARTTEBREZTT
at the end of the reporting period are as follows: BEERITEENT -
At 31 December 2024 20245 12A31H
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BRERE ITEE: TEH
’000 HK$ per share
T, BRET
12,874 0.764  Until 7 April 2026
HE2026F4H7H
At 3| December 2023 2023FE 12831 H
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
R A 1TfE(E* 1TEH]
'000 HK$ per share
T SHBT
35,142 0.764  Until 7 April 2026
BHE2026F4A7H
g The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of * BERR e 2 TR B s e A AR s 31T
rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital. AR BN A B AR AN 2 H A B L B &

ERRE X EERERAT
T Zemeen 201



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR BT EE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

29. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for the

current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement of

changes in equity.

(2)

(b)

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents (i) the differences between the
considerations of equity transactions and the corresponding carrying
amounts of non-controlling interests; and (ii) the differences between
the nominal amount of share capital issued by the Company and the
nominal amount of share capital of the then subsidiaries transferred
to the Company pursuant to the reorganisation of the Group that

took place in 201 1.

Foreign currency translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises the exchange differences arising

on the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.

Statutory and legal reserves

Under the relevant PRC laws and regulations, PRC companies are
required to allocate 0% of their net profit to the fund until such
fund reaches 50% of their registered capital. The statutory reserve
fund can be utilised, upon approval by the relevant authorities, to
offset against accumulated losses or to increase registered capital of
the companies, provided that such fund is maintained at a minimum

of 25% of the companies registered capital.

Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments in Note
2.4. The amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related options are exercised or transferred to

accumulated losses should the related options expire.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

29. RESERVES (Cont'd) 29. fetE ()
(e) Fair value reserve () ARERE
The fair value reserve comprises: NAEREEE
= the cumulative net changes in the fair value of bill receivables - ARERMREMEE
at FVOCl; and Wz BREREZ QR

BRFFEE &

= the cumulative net changes in fair values of debt investments - ARERMREMEE
at FVOCI until the assets are derecognised or impaired. This Wz BBIREEER
amount is reduced by the amount of loss allowance. 2 4% 1 W SR SRk 1B B Y

ARERIHERE -

30. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON- 30. BEEAFEREZNEIES
CONTROLLING INTERESTS i B A T
Details of the Group's subsidiaries that has material non-controlling REEWE AR HER BRI
@ BEFBEINT

interests are set out below:

2024 2023
Percentage of equity interests held by non- VAR M s DA TR B R P %
controlling interests (%) at the end of the IRHEE 5 b (%)
reporting period
— Zhong Hu Sports and its subsidiaries —FRERBEREWNBAR
(note a) (Mtsta) 48.34% 48.34%
Loss for the year allocated to non-controlling 7 Bt &= JEIE I #E 2 Y FF A
interests (HK$'000) EE(FErT)
— Zhong Hu Sports and its subsidiaries —HPEEERENEAG (13,803) (19,980)
Accumulated balances of non-controlling FEIE R T PO R HARAY
interests at the end of the reporting period E5taEs(FEIT)
(HK$'000)
— Zhong Hu Sports and its subsidiaries —FEEERENEAA 42,880 57,607

ERRE X EERERAT
T e tneeg 203
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR BT EE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

30. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON-

CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Cont’d)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of

above companies and its subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed are before

any inter-company eliminations:

30 BAEARFERESNIBTHER
B8 A =] (4F)
TRIR a2 5 R EM B QR
MBEERR - IRBESRARE
TTE AR EE HAT R

Zhong Hu Sports and its subsidiaries FERERAEMEB AR
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Revenue WA 172,385 60,709
Total cost and expenses AR KRR (200,938) (102,041)
Loss for the year FAEE (28,553) (41,332)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FAEZHEIBERE (30,465) (41,332)
Current assets MENEE 256,053 155,129
Non-current assets EmBEE 92,476 91,546
Current liabilities MEEE (249,096) (115,656)
Non-current liabilities EREBEE (160) (1,281)
Net cash flows used in operating activities KR EBTAR S RE T (20,080) (3,685)
Net cash flows used in investing activities REZSFAAREREFHE (1,398) (856)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities B E /EBIFTIS,(FTH)ERE
ME 23,705 (1,636)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash Re KRLEEWILM
equivalents O )58 2,227 (6,177)
Note: BT -

(@) Swift Knight Limited is an investment holding company which indirectly holds,

through Zhong Hu Sports, a 51.66% equity interest in MetaSpace which, together

with its subsidiaries, is principally engaged in the air dome-related business and

sports stadium operation.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED

204 ANNUAL REPORT 2024

(a)  Swift Knight Limited £ — [ 1% & % i%
RAE - FERTEBERERGLOE
51.66% 0 HE - T #9982 R BB~
AlFENEREMEEBREER
B8 o



3. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS

(@)

(b)

Major non-cash transactions

During the year ended 3| December 2024, the Group had no
non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (2023:
HK$813,000 and HK$813,000), respectively, in respect of lease

arrangements for properties.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

31

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

FERERBRMEE

(@ EXIRERS
HZE204F 12A3IBILFE -
REEWEBBIETHELRHE
WERAEEEREEAE I
REARE (20234 : 813,000/8
JE 813,000/ 7T) °

b) BMEFHELENAEBED

Interest-bearing

bank and other

borrowings Lease liabilities

FTERITR
HbfE HEAE
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FHET
At | January 2023 R20235 1 A 1B 26,739 13,054
Recognition of lease liabilities mREEAE = 813
Changes from financing cash flows MEREREL (2,897) (5,355)
Foreign exchange movement HNEEE) (442) (405)
Interest expense FEMAX 733 996
At 31 December 2023 F2023% 12 A31 8 24,133 9,103
At | January 2024 202451 A1 8B 24,133 9,103
Early termination of lease RELKILEE - 3,087
Changes from financing cash flows MEREREL 25,700 (1,567)
Foreign exchange movement 4NGEE £ (682) (129)
Interest expense FEAX 1,065 603
At 3| December 2024 R2024% 12431 H 50,216 4,923
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

3. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 31

FLOWS (Cont'd)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated

RERSREBRMET(H)

(0 BERLRHLRE
HABARSRERNAER

statement of cash flows is as follows: MEHARERAT -
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TATT
Within operating activities R RE) 164 -
Within financing activities BEEBH 1,567 5,355
1,731 5,355

32. COMMITMENTS 32. i

There were no capital commitments contracted as at 31 December 2024

and 3| December 2023.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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33.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in note |6 and 26(c), the

Group had the following transactions with related parties:

33.

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024

BBLRZ

BRI 5E 16 5226(c)

HE2024F 12831 BILFE

BB Fratat 2

Hf
RSN NEE R TETAT

R5

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: REBFZ2EEAESHM
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THETT
Short-term employee benefits R HE SR 2,249 2,186
Post-employment benefits 1 B BEBtE A 90 86
2,339 2272

Further details of the directors’ and the chief executive’'s emoluments are

included in Note 8.

EREENTETHRAEME £

—FFIBRERN

BoEEs o
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 34. SET AR
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as EHp e TARREHRZEE
at the end of the reporting period are as follows: BER -
Financial assets by category REFESNERNEE
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THETT
At fair value through profit or loss AREBERBRNIER
Financial assets at FVPL ARERMRIER S/
BiE 8,685 2,544
At fair value through other comprehensive D AERBRAE M2 RS
income
Debt investments at FVOCI AAERBERE M ER S
ZIEBERE 9,522 7725
Bills receivable at FVOCI ARERBREMZE RS
ZEWERE 4,931 4,945
14,453 12,670
At amortised cost REHB AT E
Trade receivables JEWFRIA 25,910 1,717
Prepayments, other receivables and other BN FRIR - AR
assets excluding non-financial assets NEAMEE (TR
IFE@MEE) 30,906 29,221
Restricted bank deposits R EIRITIFER 40,528 26,523
Cash and bank balances e MIRITAEER 75,450 87,023
172,794 154,484
195,932 169,698
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34.

35.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Cont’d)

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

34 ST AERI(E)

Financial liabilities by category RERESHNERMEE
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
At amortised cost RESEHATTE
Trade and bills payables JEAH TR IE N B R AR 126,306 44,324
Financial liabilities included in other payables &t AE M fEAHZRIE K&
and accruals EErERNeRAE 17,855 18,543
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings T RERTT R E A G 50,216 24,133
Lease liabilities HERE 4,923 9,103
199,300 96,103

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and bank balances,
restricted bank deposits, trade and bills receivables, financial assets included
in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, trade and bills payables
and financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals approximate
to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these

instruments.

The Group's chief financial officer is responsible for determining the policies
and procedures for the fair value measurement of financial instruments. At

each reporting date, the valuation is approved by the chief financial officer.

35, SMIBCZAARBERAAERER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

35.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the

fair values:

The fair value of bills receivables has been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments

with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

The fair values of listed debt investments are based on quoted bid prices

provided by broker/financial institutions in the over-the-counter markets.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted market.

The fair value of unlisted equity investment as at 31 December 2024
and 2023 has been estimated using a market approach by a number of
significant unobservable inputs including the market value of invested price
to sales (P/S) multiple and adjustment for a lack of marketability associated
with the investment. The Group had engaged an external valuation
expert on 31 December 2024 and 2023 with the recognised professional

qualifications and recent experience to perform valuation.

The directors believe that the estimated fair value resulting from the
valuation technique, which is recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position, and the related change in fair values, which is recorded in
profit or loss, are reasonable, and that it was the most appropriate value at

the end of the reporting period.
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35.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 35.

INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

Fair value hierarchy

The fair value of unlisted equity investment as at 3| December 2024

and 2023 was determined by the management based on the valuation

performed by an independent professional qualified valuer.

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the valuation of

financial quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

ERMIAZARBERAREER
(#)

DRERBR

R2024%F 2023 124318 - EE
MRAREN AR EHERBRE
B EXRARBMEEMETHHESR

—
iE °

2024 2023 12 A31 8 © &/l
EEMREDMHENERT I
R ABEBEBRENT

Valuation Significant Value of significant  Sensitivity of
technique unobservable inputs unobservable inputs fair value to the inputs
EARTHE EARTHEE
fRE M WA RS BABEEE RAEHBARBHERE
Equity investment Valuation Average P/S multiple of ~ 9.50 (2023: 10.14) 5% increase/decrease in multiple
multiples would result in increase/decrease
in fair value by HK$63,000 (2023:
HK$49,000)
BARE HEEE EESSSINER 9.50(2023%F : fEBUL 0,8 A 59%HS E B
10.14) RAEE, 630007 7T
(20235 : 49,000 7T)
Discount for lack of 15.60% 196 increase/decrease in discount

R B TR

(2023: 15.70%)

15.60%

(20234 : 15.70%)

The discount for lack of liquidity represents the amounts of premiums and

discounts determined by the Group that market participants would take

into account when pricing the investment.

would result in decrease/increase
in fair value by HK$ 10,000 (2023:
HK$30,000)

FBIEI, B 1% B E
RAERD,HEH10,0007# 7T
(20234 : 30,000787T)

R RBETREAREEETS
SEENETRECERKEEWN
(B R ITREER
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211



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

Fair value hierarchy (Cont’d)
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the

Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value

As at 3| December 2024

3. EMIAZARBERAAERER

(4&)

DREBRE)
TRIITAEESMTIAZARE
STEREAR

BARETNEZEE

20245128318

Fair value measurement using

ERANTSEETANENE

Quoted prices

in active Significant Significant
markets for observable  unobservable
identical assets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
KE&EE
RER  EATEE EXFH
TmENRE BABE BES\RE
(B118) (%8218) (%838) At
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
Debt investments at FVOC| DAERBPNEM 2 E R
ZEHEE - 9,522 - 9,522
Financial assets at FVPL ARERMNER SR/
BE 7,602 - 1,083 8,685
Bills receivable at FVOCI AAERBREDZE RS
a3 - 4931 - 4931
7,602 14,453 1,083 23,138

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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35.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

Fair value hierarchy (Cont’d)
Assets measured at fair value (Cont’d)

As at 3|1 December 2023

35.

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

SRMIAZARBERAAEER
(&)

RRAEBRE)
BAREGBZEE (&)
72023128318

Fair value measurement using

ERATSBETAREHE

Quoted prices

in active Significant Significant
markets for observable unobservable
identical assets inputs inputs
(Level I) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
HEREE
WEE  EAAER BASA
M5 R{E BARE BEHARE
(E1[E) (%2/E) (F3E) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT TRT TR TR
Debt investments at FVOC| DAERBPNEM 2 E R
ZEHEE - 7,725 - 7,725
Financial assets at FVPL ARERBRNER SR
BE | 664 - 880 2544
Bills receivable at FVOC ARERBREM2E RS
a3 - 4,945 - 4945
1,664 12,670 880 15214
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 35.

INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

Fair value hierarchy (Cont’d)
Assets measured at fair value (Cont’d)
The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 during the year

are as follows:

DREBRE)
BARESNEZEE(H)
FAFREANEAENESHIT -

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT

Unlisted equity investment at FVPL: AAERMNIBRZIELT

BRI E -

At | January RIATH 880 468
Amount recognised in profit or loss RIERER &R 221 548
Exchange realignment BEE 5, 8 BE (18) (136)
At 31 December RI2A31H 1,083 880

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value as at
31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level | and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for

both financial assets and financial liabilities (2023: nil).

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 36.

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and bank
balances, debt investments and financial assets at FVPL. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group's operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade
and bills receivables and trade and bills payables, which arise directly from

its operations.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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36.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont’d)

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are interest
rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and

they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group'’s borrowings with floating interest rates.
The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix of fixed and

variable rate borrowings.

At 31 December 2024, if interest rates had been |00 basis points (2023:
100 basis points) higher/lower and all other variables held constant, the
Group's loss before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings)
for the year ended 3| December 2024 would increase/decrease by
HK$502,000 (2023: HK$241,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the
change in interest rates had occurred at the end of the reporting period
and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for financial
instruments in existence at that date. The 100 basis point increase or
decrease represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible
change in interest rates over the period until the end of the next annual

reporting period. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2023.

36.

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

MEEREE B ERBIR(E)

AEEERMIT A T 2RER A E
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Foreign currency risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or
recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not
the group entities’ functional currency. The Group's exposure to foreign
exchange risks also related to bank balances denominated in and debt
investments denominated in United States Dollars (USD). The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy as management
considers its exposure is not significant. It manages its foreign currency risk

by closely monitoring the movements in the foreign currency rates.

The Group operates mainly in the PRC with most of the transactions
settled in RMB, management considers that the business is not exposed to
any significant foreign exchange risk as there are no significant financial assets
or liabilities of the Group are denominated in the currencies other than the

respective functional currencies of the Group’s entities.

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign exchange risk between
US$ and HK$ as they are linked between each other under the Linked
Exchange Rate System.

Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is presented.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It
is the Group's policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms
are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances

are monitored on an ongoing basis.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 A By o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  36. HiiEREIEBERBUER(E)

(Cont’d)
Credit risk (Cont’d) EERK(E)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging RAREEHOR FXER
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to TRINEN2AI ARERASEEE
credit risk based on the Group'’s credit policy, which is mainly based on BER(FEERNBEBAER - BRIFFE
past due information unless other information is available without undue PHEEBERANE HENAIEFH
cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 December. For Hi&EHR - BltERR) EENEEEZ
debt investments, the Group also monitors them by using external ratings. Z R HAEE RO LA K FRE
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets. BB - BEBREMS @ X&E
TMERSNERRT AETT B - 251 %
BRTREENAREE -
As at 31 December 2024 72024512831 H
[2-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A B4
FEEBR FRENENEESE
Simplified
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
BRI R B2 BER3  fieEE Act
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000
FRET TR TR TR TR
Debt investments at FVOCI ARERBREMZE
W2 B E 5,690 - 3,832 - 9,522
Contract assets* BREE - - - 91,125 91,125
Trade receivables* FE R IE - - - 68,825 68,825
Bills receivables e 4,931 - - - 4931
Financial assets included in STAENFUE - EfREl
prepayments, other receivables TEREMEENER
and other assets BE 4,035 28,287 189 - 32,511
Restricted bank deposits and cash ~ XBRHIRTFERARF €
and bank balances ST
— Not vet past due o NIk 115,978 - - - 115,978
130,634 28,287 4,021 159,950 322,892
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(Cont’d)
Credit risk (Cont’d)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Cont’d)

As at 3|1 December 2023

36. BIEAREEBERBIKRA)

EERB (&)
RAE RO R FRELER(E)
20234 12A31H

| 2-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A 7
EEEE FEPRNEESE
Simplified
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
PEER PEER2 R3O st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR TET TET TR
Debt investments at FVOCI ARERMNEMEE
Wzt B RE 3770 - 3955 - 7,725
Contract assets* BREE* = - - 54,993 54993
Trade receivables* FEMRIR* - - - 53,080 53,080
Bills receivable VeSS 4,945 - - - 4945
Financial assets included in FTATBAFUR - EfER
prepayments, other receivables FEREMEENER
and other assets BE 4448 24584 189 - 29,221
Restricted bank deposits and cash ~ X R HIRTFRARF &
and bank balances RRITHEER
— Not vet past due —REH 113,546 = = = 113,546
126,709 24,584 4,144 108,073 263510
¢ For contract assets and trade receivables to which the Group applies the £ AEEERGCRERENEL

simplified approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is

disclosed in Notes 18 and 19.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure to credit risk

arising from contract assets and trade receivables are disclosed in Notes |8

and 19.
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36.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  36. HiHEMREIEBERBUER(E)
(Cont’d)
Liquidity risk REBELRER
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring AEERABRRES TS TAE
liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its financial RESRERER  ZTARZERH
instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade and bills receivables) and eI AKeREEBIEKFIAR
projected cash flows from operations. EWER)NBERE - thEREEE
AMEFTRERE -
The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of AEEMBBRFHEBRITREME
funding and flexibility through bank and other borrowings and a loan from A K A 5 B AREF R B A5
a related party. B TR M AT -
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the REE SR B ERHREHREARST
reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is as RE) & RN AT VER B BREARR 5 47
follows: Ul
2024
On demand Over
or within | year | year Total
BERR
R—FR —FoE )
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FRET FERT
Trade and bills payables &S SRIE I BN R AR 126,306 - 126,306
Financial liabilities included in other &+ A LA & 3XTH K & T
payables and accruals BERNEmBE 17,855 - 17,855
Interest-bearing bank and other T RERIT R EABERK
borrowings 48,946 2,160 51,106
Lease liabilities HERE 897 8,969 9,866
194,004 11,129 205,133
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  36. HiEMREEBERBUER(E)
(Cont’d)
Liquidity risk (Cont’d) RENE SRR (E)
2023
On demand Over
or within | year | year Total
RERK
R—%FA —FAE #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THTT THETT TATT
Trade and bills payables ANE NS AN 44,324 = 44,324
Financial liabilities included in other &t AELftb FEATFRIE K &=+
payables and accruals ERAMEREE 18,543 - 18,543
Interest-bearing bank and other FTRIRITREAMER
borrowings 24,866 — 24,866
Lease liabilities HERE 5427 10,053 15,480
93,160 10,053 103,213
Price risk Bk

The Group’s financial assets at FVOCI and FVPL (Note 22) are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Therefore, the Group is
exposed to equity and debt price risk. The directors manage this exposure

by maintaining a portfolio of investments with difference risk profiles.

At 31 December 2024, if the prices of the debt investments increase/
decrease by 0%, the fair value gain/loss of approximately HK$795,000
(2023: HK$645,000) would be recognised in other comprehensive income

or loss.

At 3| December 2024, if the prices of the equity investments increase/
decrease by 0%, the fair value gain/loss of approximately HK$651,000
(2023: HK$191,000) would be recognised in profit or loss.

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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36.

37.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MYEE

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  36. HiHEMREIEBERBUER(E)
(Cont’d)
Capital management EXER
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard AEFBEAER 2 EE B2 AR
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy REEFELE REFREEARL
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders RHEe ] MAHERRESHR
value. RIRREREANEE °
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it REEERHEERER W& E
in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics BAKEREENR RS EE
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the AR o ZN SR F] B 5 B (R AR SRR
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital BZRE  MREREERNET
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any IR - AR SRR E R -
externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the AEBHBEETEMINEERR
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years TE o REIE20245 12 431 B %2023
ended 3| December 2024 and 31 December 2023. FRAJNBLEFETEAERER
HER  BRIBEELES -
The Group monitors capital using the ratio of total liabilities to total assets. AEBERABERUEEEZL
The ratios of total liabilities to total assets as at the end of the reporting KREEER o RIEHR BEE
periods were as follows: BRABEEZLEWT :
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET THETT
Total liabilities mafE 269,845 145,89
Total assets mEE 421,689 335,205
Ratio g 64% 44%
COMPARATIVE FIGURES 37. ARLBET
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to current ETAELBRAFEEMOM - M
NERFENZR

year's presentation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 55 S B o

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 38. AT ZMBRRE
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at RARIRMERAR T BIRAKRE
the end of the reporting period is as follows: BT
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
Non-current assets FEREEE
Investments in subsidiaries RETB AR ZRE 23,813 21,652
Debt investments at FVOCI NICERBRREMEER
mZ BEBIRE - 1,055
Total non-current assets EREEEHEE 23,813 22,707
Current assets RBEE
Due from subsidiaries FE LS B B~ RI5RIE 121,695 143,537
Prepayments, other receivables and other TARTRIE - Efb Y RIE
assets MEAE E 307 291
Debt investments at FVOCI NICERBRRE 2 ER
m Z EFIRE 9,522 6,670
Financial assets at FVPL NRERMRER SR
BiE 5,743 12
Cash and bank balances Be MIRITAERR 9,261 23,778
Total current assets REEEAEE 146,528 174,288

BEIJING SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT INDUSTRY GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 1231 HIEFE

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 38. AT ZMBEMRREE)

(Cont’d)
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Current liabilities REBEE
Due to subsidiaries JEASHFY B8 A RIFUR 13,576 13,576
Other payables and accruals Hin BN FIBRETER 1,119 1510
Total current liabilities REBEEARE 14,695 15,086
Net current assets REBEEFE 131,833 159,202
Total assets less current liabilities HEERARBERS 155,646 181,909
Net assets EEFE 155,646 181,909
Equity s
Share capital (note 27) AR (B 7E27) 7,040 7,040
Reserves (note) e (PEE) 148,606 174,869
Total equity B 155,646 181,909
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For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12A31HIEFE

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 38. AT ZMBERREE)

(Cont’d)
Note: s -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RATEEBZNAT
Share-based
Share payment Fair value  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
DYip=]
EHiEm
BRAD R 1E ARFEE DAERE RitER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Balance at | January 2023 P2023% | A | B B4 RS 692,676 16,686 (2,395) (472,551) 234416
Loss for the year FAEE = = = (62,021) (62,021)
Other comprehensive income FAEMEEKE
for the year = = 2474 = 2474
Balance at 3| December 2023 and R2023F12A31B %
| January 2024 20244 | A1 B 692,676 16,686 79 (534,572) 174,869
Loss for the year FABE - - - (26,590) (26,590)
Other comprehensive income FAREMEER
for the year - - 327 - 327
Balance at 31 December 2024 720244 12431 B )8R 692,676 16,686 406 (561,162) 148,606
39. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 39. #HUEMBEHR
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the WIS MRMN20255F3A 2B RESS
board of directors on 25 March 2025. BB RARHRETIZE o
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